0001136893 false 2023 FY P1Y P3Y P3Y P1Y P1M http://fasb.org/us-gaap/2023#OtherAssetsNoncurrent http://fasb.org/us-gaap/2023#OtherAssetsNoncurrent http://fasb.org/us-gaap/2023#AccountsPayableAndAccruedLiabilitiesCurrent http://fasb.org/us-gaap/2023#AccountsPayableAndAccruedLiabilitiesCurrent http://fasb.org/us-gaap/2023#OtherLiabilitiesNoncurrent http://fasb.org/us-gaap/2023#OtherLiabilitiesNoncurrent P1Y 442 0001136893 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 exch:XNYS fis:CommonStockParValue001PerShareMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 exch:XNYS fis:OnePointOneZeroZeroPercentSeniorNotesDueTwoThousandTwentyFourMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 exch:XNYS fis:ZeroPointSixTwoFivePercentSeniorNotesDueTwoThousandTwentyFiveMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 exch:XNYS fis:OnePointFiveZeroZeroPercentSeniorNotesDueTwoThousandTwentySevenMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 exch:XNYS fis:OnePointZeroZeroZeroPercentSeniorNotesDueTwoThousandTwentyEightMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 exch:XNYS fis:TwoPointTwoFiveZeroPercentSeniorNotesDueTwoThousandTwentyNineMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 exch:XNYS fis:TwoPointZeroZeroZeroPercentSeniorNotesDueTwoThousandThirtyMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:ThreePointThreeSixZeroPercentSeniorNotesDueTwoThousandThirtyOneMember exch:XNYS 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 exch:XNYS fis:TwoPointNineFiveZeroPercentSeniorNotesDueTwoThousandThirtyNineMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 2023-06-30 iso4217:USD 0001136893 2024-02-22 xbrli:shares 0001136893 2023-12-31 0001136893 2022-12-31 iso4217:USD xbrli:shares 0001136893 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2020-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2020-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2020-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2020-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeMember 2020-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:NoncontrollingInterestMember 2020-12-31 0001136893 2020-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:NoncontrollingInterestMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeMember 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:NoncontrollingInterestMember 2021-12-31 0001136893 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:NoncontrollingInterestMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:NoncontrollingInterestMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:NoncontrollingInterestMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CommonStockMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TreasuryStockCommonMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AdditionalPaidInCapitalMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RetainedEarningsMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:NoncontrollingInterestMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SegmentDiscontinuedOperationsMember fis:GTCRLLCMember fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember us-gaap:SubsequentEventMember 2024-01-31 xbrli:pure 0001136893 fis:GTCRLLCMember fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember us-gaap:SubsequentEventMember fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember 2024-01-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CustomerRelationshipsMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TrademarksMember srt:MaximumMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:ComputerSoftwareIntangibleAssetMember srt:MinimumMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 srt:MaximumMember us-gaap:ComputerSoftwareIntangibleAssetMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:DevelopedTechnologyRightsMember srt:MinimumMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 srt:MaximumMember us-gaap:DevelopedTechnologyRightsMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:BuildingMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:FurnitureAndFixturesMember srt:MinimumMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:FurnitureAndFixturesMember srt:MaximumMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 srt:MinimumMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 srt:MaximumMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:EmployeeStockOptionMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:EmployeeStockOptionMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:EmployeeStockOptionMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SubsequentEventMember 2024-01-31 0001136893 fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember us-gaap:DiscontinuedOperationsHeldforsaleMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember us-gaap:DiscontinuedOperationsHeldforsaleMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember us-gaap:DiscontinuedOperationsHeldforsaleMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember us-gaap:DiscontinuedOperationsHeldforsaleMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember us-gaap:DiscontinuedOperationsHeldforsaleMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 2023-04-01 2023-06-30 0001136893 2022-10-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:VirtusAcquisitionMember 2020-01-02 0001136893 fis:VirtusPartnersMember fis:VirtusAcquisitionMember 2020-01-02 0001136893 fis:VirtusAcquisitionMember 2020-01-02 2020-01-02 0001136893 fis:VirtusPartnersMember fis:VirtusAcquisitionMember 2023-01-01 2023-01-31 0001136893 fis:VirtusPartnersMember fis:VirtusAcquisitionMember 2023-01-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember srt:NorthAmericaMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember srt:NorthAmericaMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember srt:NorthAmericaMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 srt:NorthAmericaMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:NonNorthAmericaMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:NonNorthAmericaMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:NonNorthAmericaMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:NonNorthAmericaMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:TransactionProcessingandServiceMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember fis:TransactionProcessingandServiceMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember fis:TransactionProcessingandServiceMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:TransactionProcessingandServiceMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember fis:SoftwareMaintenanceMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:SoftwareMaintenanceMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:SoftwareMaintenanceMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:SoftwareMaintenanceMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:RecurringOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:RecurringOtherMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:RecurringOtherMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:RecurringOtherMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwareLicensingMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwareLicensingMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwareLicensingMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwareLicensingMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember fis:ProfessionalServicesMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:ProfessionalServicesMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:ProfessionalServicesMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:ProfessionalServicesMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember srt:NorthAmericaMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember srt:NorthAmericaMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember srt:NorthAmericaMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 srt:NorthAmericaMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:NonNorthAmericaMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:NonNorthAmericaMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:NonNorthAmericaMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:NonNorthAmericaMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:TransactionProcessingandServiceMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember fis:TransactionProcessingandServiceMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember fis:TransactionProcessingandServiceMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:TransactionProcessingandServiceMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember fis:SoftwareMaintenanceMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:SoftwareMaintenanceMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:SoftwareMaintenanceMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:SoftwareMaintenanceMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:RecurringOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:RecurringOtherMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:RecurringOtherMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:RecurringOtherMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwareLicensingMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwareLicensingMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwareLicensingMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwareLicensingMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember fis:ProfessionalServicesMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:ProfessionalServicesMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:ProfessionalServicesMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:ProfessionalServicesMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember srt:NorthAmericaMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember srt:NorthAmericaMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember srt:NorthAmericaMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 srt:NorthAmericaMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:NonNorthAmericaMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:NonNorthAmericaMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:NonNorthAmericaMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:NonNorthAmericaMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:TransactionProcessingandServiceMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember fis:TransactionProcessingandServiceMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember fis:TransactionProcessingandServiceMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:TransactionProcessingandServiceMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember fis:SoftwareMaintenanceMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:SoftwareMaintenanceMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:SoftwareMaintenanceMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:SoftwareMaintenanceMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:RecurringOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:RecurringOtherMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:RecurringOtherMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:RecurringOtherMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:TransferredOverTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwareLicensingMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwareLicensingMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwareLicensingMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwareLicensingMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember fis:ProfessionalServicesMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:ProfessionalServicesMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:ProfessionalServicesMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:ProfessionalServicesMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember fis:BankingSolutionsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember us-gaap:TransferredAtPointInTimeMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:OtherNonrecurringMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 2024-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 2025-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 2025-01-01 srt:MinimumMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 srt:MaximumMember 2025-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:LandMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:LandMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:BuildingMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:LeaseholdImprovementsMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:LeaseholdImprovementsMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:ComputerEquipmentMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:ComputerEquipmentMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:FurnitureFixtureandOtherEquipmentMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:FurnitureFixtureandOtherEquipmentMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:PropertyPlantandEquipmentandAssetsHeldunderCapitalLeasesMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:PropertyPlantandEquipmentandAssetsHeldunderCapitalLeasesMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:PropertyPlantandEquipmentandAssetsHeldunderCapitalLeasesMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CorporateAndOtherMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:TrademarksAndOtherMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CustomerRelationshipsMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:TrademarksAndOtherMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwarefromAcquisitionMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:SoftwarefromAcquisitionMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalizedSoftwareDevelopmentCostsMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalizedSoftwareDevelopmentCostsMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:PurchasedSoftwareMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:PurchasedSoftwareMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:ComputerSoftwareIntangibleAssetMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:ComputerSoftwareIntangibleAssetMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:ComputerSoftwareIntangibleAssetMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:InstallationsAndConversionsInProgressMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:InstallationsAndConversionsInProgressMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:IncrementalContractOriginationCostsCompletedMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:IncrementalContractOriginationCostsCompletedMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:CostsToFulfillAContractMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:CostsToFulfillAContractMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:PlatformModernizationMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:PlatformModernizationMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:PlatformModernizationMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OtherNoncurrentAssetsMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OtherNoncurrentAssetsMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OtherNonoperatingIncomeExpenseMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OtherNonoperatingIncomeExpenseMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OtherNonoperatingIncomeExpenseMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorUSDNotesMember srt:MinimumMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember srt:MaximumMember fis:FixedRateSeniorUSDNotesMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorUSDNotesMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorUSDNotesMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorEuroNotesMember srt:MinimumMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember srt:MaximumMember fis:FixedRateSeniorEuroNotesMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorEuroNotesMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorEuroNotesMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorGBPNotesMember srt:MinimumMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember srt:MaximumMember fis:FixedRateSeniorGBPNotesMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorGBPNotesMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorGBPNotesMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RevolvingCreditFacilityMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RevolvingCreditFacilityMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:IncrementalRevolvingCreditFacilityMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:IncrementalRevolvingCreditFacilityMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 srt:MaximumMember us-gaap:RevolvingCreditFacilityMember fis:SecuredOvernightFinancingRateSOFRMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 srt:MaximumMember us-gaap:RevolvingCreditFacilityMember fis:LondonInterbankOfferedRateLIBOR1Member 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RevolvingCreditFacilityMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:IncrementalRevolvingCreditFacilityMember srt:MaximumMember fis:SecuredOvernightFinancingRateSOFRMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:IncrementalRevolvingCreditFacilityMember srt:MaximumMember us-gaap:BaseRateMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:IncrementalRevolvingCreditFacilityMember srt:MaximumMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:IncrementalRevolvingCreditFacilityMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:FidelityNationalInformationServicesInc.CreditAgreementsMember us-gaap:CommercialPaperMember fis:EuroCommercialPaperProgramMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:FidelityNationalInformationServicesInc.CreditAgreementsMember us-gaap:CommercialPaperMember fis:EuroCommercialPaperProgramMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:FidelityNationalInformationServicesInc.CreditAgreementsMember us-gaap:CommercialPaperMember fis:EuroCommercialPaperProgramMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:CommercialPaperProgramMember fis:FidelityNationalInformationServicesInc.CreditAgreementsMember us-gaap:CommercialPaperMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:CommercialPaperProgramMember fis:FidelityNationalInformationServicesInc.CreditAgreementsMember us-gaap:CommercialPaperMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:CommercialPaperProgramMember fis:FidelityNationalInformationServicesInc.CreditAgreementsMember us-gaap:CommercialPaperMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:FidelityNationalInformationServicesInc.CreditAgreementsMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RevolvingCreditFacilityMember us-gaap:LineOfCreditMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember srt:MinimumMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember srt:MaximumMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:SeniorEuroFloatingRatesNotesMember 2023-05-21 iso4217:EUR 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:SeniorEuroFloatingRatesNotesMember 2023-03-01 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:SeniorEuroFloatingRatesNotesMember 2022-12-03 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember 2022-07-13 2022-07-13 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember srt:MinimumMember 2022-07-13 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember srt:MaximumMember 2022-07-13 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember 2021-03-01 2021-03-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorUSDNotesMember 2021-03-01 2021-03-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorEuroNotesMember 2021-03-01 2021-03-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorGBPNotesMember 2021-03-01 2021-03-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:SeniorEuroFloatingRatesNotesMember 2021-03-01 2021-03-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:SeniorEuroFloatingRatesNotesMember srt:MinimumMember 2021-03-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember srt:MaximumMember fis:SeniorEuroFloatingRatesNotesMember 2021-03-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorUSDNotesMember 2021-03-02 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember fis:FixedRateSeniorUSDNotesMember srt:MinimumMember 2021-03-02 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember srt:MaximumMember fis:FixedRateSeniorUSDNotesMember 2021-03-02 0001136893 fis:USCommercialPaperProgramMember fis:FidelityNationalInformationServicesInc.CreditAgreementsMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:IncrementalRevolvingCreditFacilityMember 2023-02-28 0001136893 us-gaap:InterestRateSwapMember us-gaap:FairValueHedgingMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:InterestRateSwapMember us-gaap:FairValueHedgingMember 2023-12-31 iso4217:GBP 0001136893 us-gaap:InterestRateSwapMember us-gaap:FairValueHedgingMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:InterestRateSwapMember fis:NewOffsettingVariableToFixedInterestRateSwapsMember us-gaap:FairValueHedgingMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CurrencySwapMember us-gaap:FairValueHedgingMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:CurrencySwapMember us-gaap:FairValueHedgingMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:DesignatedAsHedgingInstrumentMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember us-gaap:ForeignExchangeContractMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:DesignatedAsHedgingInstrumentMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember us-gaap:ForeignExchangeContractMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:DesignatedAsHedgingInstrumentMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember us-gaap:ForeignExchangeContractMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:DesignatedAsHedgingInstrumentMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember us-gaap:CrossCurrencyInterestRateContractMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:DesignatedAsHedgingInstrumentMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember us-gaap:CrossCurrencyInterestRateContractMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:DesignatedAsHedgingInstrumentMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember us-gaap:CrossCurrencyInterestRateContractMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:DesignatedAsHedgingInstrumentMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:DesignatedAsHedgingInstrumentMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:DesignatedAsHedgingInstrumentMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember fis:SeniorEuroNotesMaturingTwoThousandTwentyTwoToTwoThousandThirtyNineAndECPNotesMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember fis:SeniorEuroNotesMaturingTwoThousandTwentyTwoToTwoThousandThirtyNineAndECPNotesMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember fis:SterlingSeniorNotesDueTwoThousandTwentyTwoToTwoThousandThirtyOneMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SeniorNotesMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember us-gaap:CurrencySwapMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember us-gaap:CurrencySwapMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:InterestRateSwapMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:InterestRateSwapMember us-gaap:NetInvestmentHedgingMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:InternalRevenueServiceIRSandStateandLocalJurisdictionMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:InternalRevenueServiceIRSandStateandLocalJurisdictionMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:StateAndLocalJurisdictionMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:StateAndLocalJurisdictionMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:ForeignCountryMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:ForeignCountryMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:GTCRLLCMember fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember 2023-09-30 0001136893 fis:GTCRLLCMember fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:PendingLitigationMember us-gaap:SecretariatOfTheFederalRevenueBureauOfBrazilMember fis:PotentialTaxLiabilityMember 2023-12-31 fis:claim 0001136893 us-gaap:PendingLitigationMember us-gaap:SecretariatOfTheFederalRevenueBureauOfBrazilMember fis:PotentialTaxLiabilityMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 srt:MaximumMember us-gaap:PendingLitigationMember us-gaap:SecretariatOfTheFederalRevenueBureauOfBrazilMember fis:PotentialTaxLiabilityMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:ComputerDataProcessingOperationsandRelatedFunctionsMember srt:MinimumMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 srt:MaximumMember fis:ComputerDataProcessingOperationsandRelatedFunctionsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:ComputerDataProcessingOperationsandRelatedFunctionsMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:EmployeeStockOptionMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:EmployeeStockOptionMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:EmployeeStockOptionMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:EmployeeStockOptionMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:FISPlanAmendedAndRestatedMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:QualifiedRetirementEquityProgramMember 2021-01-01 2021-01-01 0001136893 us-gaap:EmployeeStockOptionMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RestrictedStockMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RestrictedStockMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RestrictedStockMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:PerformanceSharesMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:PerformanceSharesMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:PerformanceSharesMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RestrictedStockMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:PerformanceSharesMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:RestrictedStockMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:PerformanceSharesMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SellingGeneralAndAdministrativeExpensesMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SellingGeneralAndAdministrativeExpensesMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:SellingGeneralAndAdministrativeExpensesMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:QualifiedRetirementEquityProgramMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:DiscontinuedOperationsDisposedOfBySaleMember fis:CardinalHoldingsMember 2021-04-29 2021-04-29 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedGainLossNetCashFlowHedgeParentMember 2020-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedTranslationAdjustmentMember 2020-12-31 0001136893 fis:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeOtherMember 2020-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedGainLossNetCashFlowHedgeParentMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedTranslationAdjustmentMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeOtherMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedGainLossNetCashFlowHedgeParentMember 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedTranslationAdjustmentMember 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeOtherMember 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedGainLossNetCashFlowHedgeParentMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedTranslationAdjustmentMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeOtherMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedGainLossNetCashFlowHedgeParentMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedTranslationAdjustmentMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeOtherMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedGainLossNetCashFlowHedgeParentMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedTranslationAdjustmentMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeOtherMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedGainLossNetCashFlowHedgeParentMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:AccumulatedTranslationAdjustmentMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:AccumulatedOtherComprehensiveIncomeOtherMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:PlatformModernizationMember fis:FutureForwardMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:PlatformModernizationMember fis:FutureForwardMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:PlatformModernizationMember fis:FutureForwardMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:PlatformInitiativesMember fis:EnterpriseCostControlInitiativesAndChangesInSeniorManagementMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:PlatformInitiativesMember fis:EnterpriseCostControlInitiativesAndChangesInSeniorManagementMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:PlatformInitiativesMember fis:EnterpriseCostControlInitiativesAndChangesInSeniorManagementMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:OneTimePerformanceRelatedAwardsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:OneTimePerformanceRelatedAwardsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:OneTimePerformanceRelatedAwardsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:EnterpriseCostsControlAndOtherInitiativesMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:EnterpriseCostsControlAndOtherInitiativesMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 fis:EnterpriseCostsControlAndOtherInitiativesMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:MaterialReconcilingItemsMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:MaterialReconcilingItemsMember 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:OperatingSegmentsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:MaterialReconcilingItemsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:BankingSolutionsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 fis:CapitalMarketSolutionsMember 2021-01-01 2021-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:GeographicDistributionForeignMember 2023-12-31 0001136893 us-gaap:GeographicDistributionForeignMember 2022-12-31 0001136893 2023-01-01 2023-03-31 0001136893 2023-07-01 2023-09-30 0001136893 2023-10-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 2022-01-01 2022-03-31 0001136893 2022-04-01 2022-06-30 0001136893 2022-07-01 2022-09-30 0001136893 us-gaap:DisposalGroupNotDiscontinuedOperationsMember fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember us-gaap:SubsequentEventMember 2024-01-31 2024-01-31 0001136893 us-gaap:DisposalGroupNotDiscontinuedOperationsMember fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember us-gaap:SubsequentEventMember 2024-01-31 0001136893 fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember us-gaap:SubsequentEventMember 2024-01-31 2024-01-31 0001136893 fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember us-gaap:SubsequentEventMember fis:UnitedStatesChinaColombiaAndSouthKoreaMember 2024-01-31 2024-01-31 0001136893 fis:WorldpayMerchantSolutionsMember country:NL us-gaap:SubsequentEventMember 2024-01-31 2024-01-31 0001136893 fis:Mr.JeffreyGoldsteinMember 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:Mr.JeffreyGoldsteinMember 2023-10-01 2023-12-31 0001136893 fis:Mr.JeffreyGoldsteinMember 2023-12-31
Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
________________________________________________________
Form 10-K
________________________________________________________

☒ |  | ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023
Or

☐ | TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from |  | to |

Commission File No. 001-16427
________________________________________________________
Fidelity National Information Services, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Georgia 37-1490331
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
347 Riverside Avenue
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
(904) 438-6000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
|  | Trading |  | Name of each exchange
Title of each class |  | Symbol(s) |  | on which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share |  | FIS |  | New York Stock Exchange
1.100% Senior Notes due 2024 |  | FIS24A |  | New York Stock Exchange
0.625% Senior Notes due 2025 |  | FIS25B |  | New York Stock Exchange
1.500% Senior Notes due 2027 |  | FIS27 |  | New York Stock Exchange
1.000% Senior Notes due 2028 |  | FIS28 |  | New York Stock Exchange
2.250% Senior Notes due 2029 |  | FIS29 |  | New York Stock Exchange
2.000% Senior Notes due 2030 |  | FIS30 |  | New York Stock Exchange
3.360% Senior Notes due 2031 |  | FIS31 |  | New York Stock Exchange
2.950% Senior Notes due 2039 |  | FIS39 |  | New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
(Title of Class)
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes ☐ No ☒
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in

Table of Contents
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer | ☒ | Accelerated filer | ☐ | Non-accelerated filer ☐ | Smaller reporting company | ☐ | Emerging growth company | ☐ |

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management's assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. ☒
If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant
included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based
compensation received by any of the registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act) Yes ☐ No ☒
As of June 30, 2023, the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter, the aggregate market value of the registrant's common stock held by nonaffiliates was $32,389,069,008 based on the closing sale price of $54.70 on that date as reported by the New York Stock Exchange. For the purposes of the foregoing sentence only, all directors and executive officers of the registrant were assumed to be affiliates. The number of shares outstanding of the registrant's common stock, $0.01 par value per share, was 576,465,736 as of February 22, 2024.
The information in Part III hereof is incorporated herein by reference to the registrant’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, to be filed within 120 days after the close of the fiscal year that is the subject of this Report.

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
2023 FORM 10-K ANNUAL REPORT
TABLE OF CONTENTS

|  | Page
PART I
Item 1. | Business | 2
Item 1A. | Risk Factors | 12
Item 1B. | Unresolved Staff Comments | 27
Item 1 C. | Cybersecurity | 27
Item 2. | Properties | 28
Item 3. | Legal Proceedings | 28
Item 4. | Mine Safety Disclosures | 28
PART II
Item 5. | Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities | 28
Item 6. | Reserved | 30
Item 7. | Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations | 30
Item 7A. | Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk | 41
Item 8. | Financial Statements and Supplementary Data | 43
Item 9. | Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure | 93
Item 9A. | Controls and Procedures | 93
Item 9B. | Other Information | 93
Item 9C. | Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections | 93
PART III
Item 10. | Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant | 93
Item 11. | Executive Compensation | 93
Item 12. | Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters | 93
Item 13. | Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence | 93
Item 14. | Principal Accounting Fees and Services | 93
PART IV
Item 15. | Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules | 93
Item 16. | Form 10-K Summary | 102
Signatures | 103

1

Table of Contents
Unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, all references to "FIS," "we," "our," "us," the "Company" or the "registrant" are to Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., a Georgia corporation, and its subsidiaries. Also, amounts in tables may not sum or calculate due to rounding.
PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview
FIS is a leading global provider of financial services technology solutions for financial institutions, businesses and developers. We improve the digital transformation of our financial economy, advancing the way the world pays, banks and invests. We provide the confidence made possible when reliability meets innovation, helping our clients run, grow and protect their business. Headquartered in Jacksonville, Florida, FIS is a member of the Fortune 500® and the Standard & Poor's 500® Index. FIS is incorporated under the laws of the State of Georgia as Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., and our stock is traded under the trading symbol "FIS" on the New York Stock Exchange.
Our growth has been driven by a number of factors, including growth of our customers' businesses, our internal development of new solutions that enhance our client offerings, and our sales and marketing efforts to expand our customer base and addressable markets. Acquisitions have also contributed additional solutions that complement or enhance our offerings, diversify our client base, expand our geographic coverage, and provide entry into new and attractive adjacent markets that align with our strategic objectives. We continue to strategically allocate resources to both internal and external growth initiatives to enhance the long-term value of our business.
On January 31, 2024, the Company completed the previously announced sale (the "Worldpay Sale") of a 55% equity interest in its Worldpay Merchant Solutions business to private equity funds managed by GTCR (such funds, the "Buyer"). As of the closing, we retained a non-controlling 45% ownership interest in a new standalone joint venture (the "Joint Venture" or "Worldpay"), which will continue to provide merchant acquiring and related services to businesses of all size and across any industry globally, enabling them to accept, authorize and settle electronic payment transactions. In connection with the Worldpay Sale, FIS and Worldpay have entered into commercial agreements, preserving a key value proposition for clients of both businesses and reducing potential dis-synergies. FIS and Worldpay also entered into additional agreements as described in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
Competitive Strengths
We believe our competitive strengths include the following:
•Brand. FIS is a highly respected brand known globally for innovation and thought leadership in the financial services sector.
•Extensive Domain Expertise and Portfolio Breadth. FIS' significant expertise in the markets and domains we serve has enabled us to bring to market a broad range of innovative software applications and service offerings. This broad portfolio of solutions includes a wide range of flexible service arrangements, from managed processing arrangements, either at the client site or hosted at an FIS location, including data centers or our private cloud, to traditional license and maintenance approaches. This broad solution set allows us to bundle tailored or integrated services to compete effectively.
•Excellent and Long-term Relationships with Clients. A significant percentage of our business with our clients relates to solutions provided under multi-year, recurring contracts. The nature of these relationships allows us to develop close partnerships with our clients, resulting in high client retention rates. As the breadth of FIS' service offerings has expanded, we have found that our deep and broad access within our clients' organizations presents greater opportunities for cross-selling and up-selling solutions to our clients.
•Modern and Cloud-based Technologies. FIS leverages the modern architectures of our software applications and our ability to integrate many of our solutions with the solutions of others to provide customized solutions that respond to individualized client needs. We have made significant investment in modernizing our platforms and solutions and in moving our server compute into our private cloud located in our strategic data centers, supplemented by public clouds in certain regions, to increase speed of delivery to clients and increase solution availability to industry-best levels.
2

Table of Contents
•Global Distribution and Scale. We are a global leader in many of the markets we serve, supported by a large, knowledgeable talent pool of employees around the world. Our worldwide presence and global scale enable us to leverage our array of solution offerings, client relationships, and modern infrastructure to drive revenue growth and operating efficiency.
Strategy
Our mission is to deliver superior solutions to our clients and to expand our client base to generate sustained revenue and earnings growth for our shareholders. Our strategy to achieve this goal is built on the following pillars:
•Build, Buy, or Partner to Add Solutions to Win New Clients and Cross-sell to Existing Clients. We continue to invest in our solution portfolio through internal software development as well as through acquisitions and equity investments that complement and extend our existing solutions and capabilities, providing us with additional solutions to cross-sell to existing clients and to capture the interest of new clients. We also partner from time to time with other entities to provide comprehensive offerings to our clients and prospects. By investing in solution innovation, we continue to expand our value proposition to our clients and prospects.
•Support Our Clients Through Innovation. Changing market dynamics, particularly in the areas of digital delivery, information security and regulation, are transforming the way our clients operate, which is driving incremental demand for our integrated solutions built around our intellectual property. As clients and prospects evaluate technology, business process changes and vendor risks, our depth of service capabilities enable us to become involved earlier in their planning and design process and assist them as they manage these changes.
•Drive Efficiency and Scalability. We strive to improve the efficiency of our operations through investments in new technologies, processes and infrastructure modernization. We also leverage a one-to-many operating model to drive high incremental margins on revenue growth, while also providing cost-effective solutions for our clients.
•Expand Distribution. Through our global sales force and strategic commercial partnerships, we drive growth through client additions and through the expansion of existing client relationships in support of our clients' growth ambitions. Our clients across our strategic global markets reach across the size spectrum from large banks, financial institutions and other enterprises, including global or multi-national clients, to small community or regional financial institutions and other businesses.
•Allocate Our Capital and Resources Strategically. As we make decisions with respect to building, buying or partnering to drive innovation in support of our clients, we prioritize the allocation of capital and other resources to the opportunities providing the highest client benefit and growth potential. We also continually review our portfolio of assets and businesses to assess their fit with our strategy and will from time to time decide to wind down or divest businesses or assets to redeploy capital to our areas of strategic focus. We believe that keeping our team and our capital strategically focused benefits our existing clients and our ability to win new clients.
Segment Information
FIS reports its financial performance based on the following segments: Banking Solutions ("Banking"), Capital Market Solutions ("Capital Markets") and Corporate and Other.
The Worldpay Merchant Solutions business included the former Merchant Solutions segment in addition to a business previously included in the Corporate and Other segment. As a result of the Worldpay Sale, the results of the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business have been recast as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Accordingly, the Company no longer reports the Merchant Solutions segment. The assets and liabilities of the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business disposal group are presented separately on the consolidated balance sheets, and the operating results have been reflected as discontinued operations, for all periods presented. As such, the related results have been excluded from continuing operations and segment results. The consolidated statement of cash flows continues to include cash flows from both continuing and discontinued operations. Cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for discontinued operations are presented in Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements included herein. See Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements for further information regarding the Worldpay Merchant Solutions disposal group and its discontinued operations. In future reports, FIS' share of the net income of the Joint Venture will be reported as equity method investment earnings (loss).
3

Table of Contents
As a result of our ongoing portfolio assessments, the Company reclassified certain businesses from Capital Markets to Banking and to Corporate and Other during the quarter ended March 31, 2023, and reclassified certain non-strategic operations from Banking to Corporate and Other during the quarter ended December 31, 2023. The Company recast all prior-period segment information presented to reflect these reclassifications. See "Segment Information" below for additional discussion of our solutions and customers. See also Notes 5 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information about our segment revenue.
Our consolidated results generally do not reflect pronounced seasonality. However, quarterly revenue and margins for each segment may vary based on the timing of recognition of certain non-recurring revenue, including software licenses and termination fees.
For information about current trends in market demand, see "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Business Trends and Conditions."
Revenue by Segment
The table below summarizes our revenue by reporting segment (in millions):

| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Banking Solutions | $ | 6,733 |  |  | $ | 6,624 |  |  | $ | 6,361 |
Capital Market Solutions | 2,766 |  |  | 2,631 |  |  | 2,495 |
Corporate and Other | 322 |  |  | 464 |  |  | 483 |
Total Consolidated Revenue | $ | 9,821 |  |  | $ | 9,719 |  |  | $ | 9,339 |

Banking Solutions ("Banking")
The Banking segment is focused on serving financial institutions of all sizes with core processing software, transaction processing software and complementary applications and services, many of which interact directly with core processing software. We sell these solutions on either a bundled or stand-alone basis. Clients in this segment include global financial institutions, U.S. regional and community banks, credit unions and commercial lenders, as well as government institutions and other commercial organizations. We provide our clients integrated solutions characterized by multi-year processing contracts that generate recurring revenue. The predictable nature of cash flows generated from the Banking segment provides opportunities for further investments in innovation, integration, information and security, and compliance in a cost-effective manner.
Our solutions in this segment include the following:
•Core Processing and Ancillary Applications. Our core processing software applications, including deposit and lending, customer management and other central management systems, are designed to run banking processes for our financial institution clients. Clients use these applications to maintain the primary records of their customer accounts. Our diverse selection of market-focused core processing software applications enables FIS to compete effectively in a wide range of markets. We continue to invest in our core modernization efforts to further differentiate our offerings for the long term. We also offer a number of solutions that are ancillary to the primary applications listed above, including branch automation, back-office support systems and compliance support.
•Digital, including Mobile and Online. Our comprehensive suite of retail and commercial applications enables financial institutions to streamline and integrate customer-facing operations with back-office processes, thereby improving customer experience across channels (e.g., branch, internet, mobile, ATM, and call centers). FIS' focus on real-time consumer access has driven significant market innovation in multi-channel, API-enabled embedded and multi-hosted solutions, underpinned by a strategy that provides tight integration and a seamless customer experience. Our innovative digital banking capabilities are now available to financial institutions of all sizes with continually expanding functionality. Our digital offerings are integrated with core banking platforms offered by FIS and are also offered to customers of non-FIS core systems.
•Fraud, Risk Management and Compliance. Our decision solutions offer a spectrum of options that cover the account lifecycle from helping to identify qualified account applicants to managing existing customer accounts and fraud. Our applications enable Know Your Customer, new account decisioning and opening, account and transaction management, fraud management and collections. Our risk management solutions use our proprietary risk management
4

Table of Contents
models and data sources to assist in detecting fraud and assessing the risk of opening a new account. Our systems use a combination of advanced authentication procedures, predictive analytics, artificial intelligence modeling and proprietary and shared databases to assess and detect fraud risk for deposit, card and other transactions for financial institutions.
•Card and Retail Payments. Our card and retail payment technology solutions allow clients to issue VISA®, MasterCard® or other payment network-branded credit and debit cards or other electronic payment cards for use by both consumer and business accounts. Card-based volumes continue to increase, driven by both the number of transactions per month and the value of those transactions. We offer EMV (Europay, MasterCard and Visa) integrated circuit cards, often referred to as chip cards, as well as a variety of stored-value card types and loyalty programs, including our Premium Payback service that allows our financial institutions' customers to use loyalty points at a variety of merchant point-of-sale systems. Our integrated solutions range from card production and activation to processing to an extensive range of fraud management solutions and value-added loyalty programs designed to increase card usage and fee-based revenue for financial institutions and merchants. The majority of our programs are full service, including most of the operations and support necessary for an issuer to operate a credit card program. We do not make credit decisions for our card issuing clients. We are also a leading provider of prepaid card solutions, which include digital cards, gift cards and reloadable cards, with end-to-end solutions for development, processing and administration of stored-value programs, including government benefit programs. Our closed-loop gift card solutions and loyalty programs provide merchants compelling solutions to drive consumer loyalty.
•Electronic Funds Transfer and Network. Our electronic funds transfer and debit card processing businesses offer settlement and card management solutions for financial institution card issuers. We provide traditional ATM-based debit network access through NYCE, other branded networks, and emerging real-time payment alternatives. Our networks connect millions of cards and point-of-sale locations nationwide, providing consumers with secure, real-time access to their money. Also through our networks, clients such as financial institutions, retailers and independent ATM operators can capitalize on the efficiency, consumer convenience and security of electronic real-time payments, real-time account-to-account transfers, and strategic alliances such as surcharge-free ATM network arrangements.
•Wealth and Retirement. We provide wealth and retirement solutions that help banks, trust companies, brokerage firms, insurance firms, retirement plan professionals, benefit administrators and independent advisors acquire, service and grow their client relationships. We provide solutions for client acquisition, transaction management, trust accounting and recordkeeping that can be deployed stand-alone, as part of an integrated wealth or retirement platform, or on an outsourced basis.
•Item Processing and Output Solutions. Our item processing solutions furnish financial institutions with the technology needed to capture data from checks, transaction tickets and other items; image and sort items; process exceptions through keying; and perform balancing, archiving and the production of statements. Our item processing services are performed at one of our multiple item processing centers located throughout the U.S. or on-site at client locations. Our extensive solutions include distributed (i.e., non-centralized) data capture, mobile deposit capture, check and remittance processing, fraud detection, and document and report management. Clients encompass banks and corporations of all sizes, from de novo banks to the largest financial institutions and corporations. We offer a number of output solutions that are ancillary to the primary solutions we provide, including print and mail capabilities, document composition software and solutions, and card personalization fulfillment solutions. Our print and mail solutions offer complete computer output solutions for the creation, management and delivery of print and fulfillment needs. We provide our card personalization fulfillment solutions for branded credit cards and branded and non-branded debit and prepaid cards.
Capital Market Solutions ("Capital Markets")
The Capital Markets segment is focused on serving global financial services clients and corporations with a broad array of buy-and sell-side, treasury, risk management and lending solutions. Clients in this segment include asset managers, sell-side securities brokerage and trading firms, insurers, private equity firms, asset and auto financiers and other commercial organizations. Our solutions include a variety of mission-critical buy- and sell-side applications for recordkeeping, data and analytics, trading and financing as well as corporate treasury and risk management applications. Capital Markets clients purchase our solutions in various ways including licensing and managing technology "in-house," using consulting and third-party service providers, as well as procuring fully outsourced end-to-end solutions. Our long-established relationships with many of these financial and commercial institutions generate significant recurring revenue. We have made, and continue to
5

Table of Contents
make, investments in modern platforms, advanced technologies, open APIs, machine learning and artificial intelligence, and regulatory technology to support our Capital Markets clients.
Our solutions in this segment include the following:
•Trading and Asset Services. We offer solutions that support our customers across the buy side and sell side of the capital markets industry, assisting them to control their front, middle and back office operations through integrated ecosystems. Our solutions support institutional investors, managers, broker-dealers, asset servicers and transfer agents across all asset classes including private equity, hedge, credit, and traditional. Our trading applications focus on advanced trade life-cycle management, including market making and risk management, cleared derivatives processing, securities processing and securities finance, tax processing, and regulatory compliance, including anti-money laundering (AML) and trade surveillance. Our Asset Servicing solutions support every stage of the investment process, from research and portfolio management to order and position management, valuation, risk management, corporate actions, reconciliation, investment accounting, investor accounting, transfer agency and client reporting. Our solutions improve both investment decision making and operational efficiency, while managing risk and increasing transparency across the industry.
•Lending. Our lending solutions offer full life-cycle commercial lending functionality from loan origination, commercial credit assessment and customer risk rating to loan servicing and data analytics. We also offer the leveraged and syndicated loan markets solutions that manage amendments, secondary market trading, deal management and bookrunning. In the asset finance space, we offer a single, end-to-end leasing platform that helps auto and equipment finance companies manage the entire financing process, supporting origination and pricing, credit decisioning, contract management, servicing and collections.
•Treasury and Risk. Our treasury solutions help chief financial officers and treasurers manage working capital by reducing risk and improving communication and response time between a company's buyers, suppliers, banks, and other stakeholders. Our end-to-end financial management framework helps bring together receivables, treasury, and payments for a single view of cash and risk, which helps our clients optimize business processes for enhanced liquidity management. Our risk portfolio of solutions manages market and credit risk and regulatory compliance for banks and actuarial risk for insurance firms.
Corporate and Other
The Corporate and Other segment consists of corporate overhead expense, certain leveraged functions and miscellaneous expenses that are not included in the operating segments, as well as certain non-strategic businesses that we plan to wind down or sell. The overhead and leveraged costs relate to corporate marketing, finance, accounting, human resources, legal, compliance and internal audit functions as well as other costs, such as acquisition, integration and transformation-related expenses and amortization of acquisition-related intangibles, that are not considered when management evaluates revenue-generating segment performance.
Sales and Marketing
Our sales personnel have expertise in particular solutions, geographic markets and industry verticals as well as across our various client segments. We believe that focusing our expertise on clients in specific markets and tailoring integrated solution sets to participants in those markets enables us to better serve our clients and makes our offerings more attractive to prospects. We target the majority of our prospects via direct and/or indirect field sales, as well as inbound and outbound lead generation, telesales and virtual sales efforts.
Our global marketing team develops and leads the execution of global, industry-specific and geographic-based strategic marketing plans in support of the segments' reputation and relationship building goals in addition to their revenue and profitability goals. Key components of our strategic plans include brand amplification and digital enablement; market and competitive research; voice of the customer and client engagement; thought leadership; integrated go-to-market programs; internal communications and readiness; journalists and social media engagement, industry analyst relations; client events; trade shows; high-touch client programs; demand generation campaigns; account- and deal-based marketing programs; collateral development and management across digital and online channels; and the launch of new products to market.
6

Table of Contents
Patents, Copyrights, Trademarks and Other Intellectual Property
In general, we own the intellectual property and proprietary rights that are necessary to conduct our business and are important to our future success, including trademarks, trade names, trade secrets, copyrights and patents. We license certain items from third parties under arms-length agreements for varying terms, including some "open source" licenses.
We rely on a combination of contractual restrictions, internal security practices, patents, trade secrets, copyrights and applicable law to establish and protect our software, technology and expertise worldwide. We rely on trademark law to protect our rights in our brands. We intend to continue taking commercially reasonable measures to protect our intellectual property rights, including by legal action when necessary and appropriate.
Competition
The markets for our solutions are intensely competitive. Depending on the business line, our primary competitors include, but are not limited to, internal technology or software development departments within financial institutions or other large companies, global and regional companies providing payment services, third-party payment processors, payment facilitators, embedded payment solution providers, securities exchanges, asset managers, card associations, clearing networks or associations, trust companies, independent computer services firms, companies that develop and deploy software applications, companies owned by global banks selling competitive solutions, companies that provide customized development, implementation and support services, emerging technology innovators, and business process outsourcing companies. Many of these companies compete with us across multiple solutions, markets and geographies. Some of these competitors possess greater financial, sales and marketing resources than we do. Competitive factors impacting the success of our solutions include the quality of the technology-based application or service, application features and functions, ease of delivery and integration, the ability to maintain, enhance and support the applications or solutions, price and overall relationship management. We believe that we compete vigorously in each of these categories. In addition, we believe our domain expertise, combined with our ability to offer multiple applications, services and integrated solutions, enhances our competitiveness against companies with more limited offerings. Our ability to innovate and scale digital payments and solutions has been a competitive advantage as well.
Research and Development
Our research and development activities primarily relate to the modernization of our proprietary core processing software applications and the design and development of next generation digital solutions, processing systems, software applications and risk management platforms. We expect to continue our practice of investing an appropriate level of resources to maintain, enhance and extend the functionality of our proprietary systems and software applications, to develop new and innovative software applications and systems to address emerging technology trends in response to the needs of our clients and to enhance the capabilities of our outsourcing infrastructure. In addition, we intend to offer solutions compatible with new and emerging delivery channels.
As part of our research and development process, we evaluate current and emerging technology for compatibility with our existing and future software platforms. To this end, we engage with various hardware and software vendors in the evaluation of various new and existing technologies. Where appropriate, we use third-party technology components in the development of our software applications and service offerings. We typically utilize enterprise license agreements or strive to ensure that either alternative suppliers or transfer rights exist in order to ensure the continuity of supply of third-party technology components used in the development of our software applications and service offerings. As a result, we are not materially dependent upon any third-party technology components. Third-party software may be used for highly specialized business functions depending on our ability to develop the functionality internally within time and budget constraints. Additionally, third-party software may be used for routine, commonplace functions within a technology platform environment. We work with our clients to determine the appropriate timing and approach to introduce technology or infrastructure changes to our solutions.
Government Regulation
Our solutions are subject to a broad range of complex federal, state, and international regulations and requirements, as well as requirements under the rules of self-regulatory organizations including, without limitation, federal truth-in-lending and truth-in-savings rules, federal, state and international money transmission laws, state cybersecurity protection laws, data protection and privacy laws, usury laws, laws governing state trust charters, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Electronic Funds Transfer Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Bank Service Company Act, the Bank Secrecy Act, the USA Patriot Act, the U.K. Money Laundering Regulations, the U.K. Proceeds of Crime Act, the U.K.
7

Table of Contents
Criminal Finances Act, the EU 6th Anti-Money Laundering Directive ("EU 6th AMLD"), the Internal Revenue Code, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, the Community Reinvestment Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act"), the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 (the "1940 Act"), anti-corruption laws including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (the "FCPA") and the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 (the "U.K. Bribery Act"), the rules and regulations of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA"), the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council ("FFIEC"), the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB"), the Financial Conduct Authority in the U.K. ("FCA"), the Central Bank of Ireland in the Republic of Ireland ("CBI"), the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier in Luxembourg ("CSSF"), the Jersey Financial Services Commission in Jersey, Channel Islands ("JFSC") and state financial services regulators (including enforcement of state cybersecurity laws). The compliance of our solutions with these and other applicable laws and regulations depends on a variety of factors, including the manner in which our clients use them. In some cases, we are directly subject to regulatory oversight and examination. In other cases, our clients are contractually responsible for determining what is required of them under applicable laws and regulations and utilize our solutions to achieve compliance with those laws and regulations. In either case, the failure of our solutions to comply with applicable laws and regulations may result in suspension or revocation of permission-based regulatory licenses, restrictions on our ability to provide those solutions, the imposition of civil fines and/or criminal penalties, and/or reputational damage. Further, regulatory authorities have the power to, among other things, enjoin "unsafe or unsound" practices, require affirmative actions to correct any violation or practice, issue administrative orders that can be judicially enforced and direct the sale of subsidiaries or other assets. We may be adversely affected by increased regulatory scrutiny or related negative publicity.
The principal areas of regulation impacting our business are the following:
•Oversight by Banking Regulators. As a provider of electronic data processing and back-office services to financial institutions, FIS is subject to regulatory oversight and examination by the FFIEC, an interagency body of federal banking regulators including the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC"), the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC"), the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System ("FRB"), the National Credit Union Administration ("NCUA") (collectively, the Federal Banking Agencies or "FBA") and the CFPB, including as part of the Multi-Regional Data Processing Servicer ("MDPS") program. The MDPS program includes technology suppliers that provide mission-critical applications for a large number of financial institutions that are regulated by multiple regulatory agencies. Periodic information technology examination assessments are performed using FFIEC Interagency guidelines to identify potential risks that could adversely affect serviced financial institutions, determine compliance with applicable laws and regulations that affect the services provided to financial institutions, and ensure the solutions we provide to financial institutions do not create systemic risk to the banking system or impact the safe and sound operation of the financial institutions for which we process. In addition, independent auditors annually review several of our operations to provide reports on internal controls for our clients. We are also subject to review and examination by state and international regulatory authorities under state and foreign laws and rules that regulate many of the same activities that are described above, including electronic data processing, payments and back-office services for financial institutions and the use of consumer information.
Our U.S.-based wealth and retirement business holds a charter in the state of Georgia which makes us subject to the regulatory compliance requirements of the Georgia Department of Banking and Finance. As a result, we are also authorized to provide trust services in various additional states subject to additional applicable state regulations.
•Payment Services Oversight. Our payment services businesses provide technology services to U.S. financial institutions and are, therefore, subject to oversight and examination by the FFIEC. Our payment services businesses are also subject to regulation, supervision, and enforcement authority of numerous governmental and regulatory bodies in the jurisdictions in which they operate, which include the CFPB and U.S. state regulators. These various regulatory regimes require compliance in respect of many aspects of our payment services businesses including without limitation corporate governance and oversight functions, capital requirements, liquidity, safeguarding, fee regulation adherence, technology and cyber resilience, anti-money laundering and sanctions.
•Anti-Money Laundering. The Company is subject to, both directly and indirectly, various anti-money laundering laws and regulations such as the Bank Secrecy Act in the United States and the Money Laundering Regulations and Proceeds of Crime Act in the U.K. These laws, among other requirements, impose obligations to develop and implement risk-based anti-money laundering programs, file regulatory reports on large cash transactions and suspicious activity and collect and maintain certain records related to customers and transactions. Many U.S. states have similar laws that overlap with, and in some cases diverge from, U.S. federal and international laws. While these
8

Table of Contents
federal, state and international laws are broadly consistent, there may be circumstances where the requirements of a particular jurisdiction conflict with those of other jurisdictions. As these laws continue to develop and expand, our investment in compliance with these laws continues to grow as does the cost of ongoing compliance.
•Sanctions. The Company is subject to certain U.S. federal, state and international economic and trade sanctions programs such as those that are administered by the U.S. Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control (referred to as "OFAC"), which prohibit or restrict transactions to or from, or dealings with, specified countries and regions, their governments, and in certain circumstances, their nationals, and with individuals and entities that are specially-designated nationals, narcotics traffickers, and terrorists or terrorist organizations. Similar programs exist in a number of other jurisdictions, most notably the Office of Financial Sanctions Implementation (OFSI) in the U.K., European Union Sanctions, and United Nations Sanctions. We have implemented policies, procedures, and internal controls that are designed to comply with economic sanctions programs. Those policies and procedures require the screening of third parties with which the Company does business, including clients and vendors and transactions where appropriate.
•Anti-Corruption. The Company is subject to applicable anti-corruption laws, including the FCPA and the U.K. Bribery Act, in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Anti-corruption laws generally prohibit offering, promising, giving, or authorizing others to give anything of value, either directly or indirectly, to a government official or private party in order to influence official action or otherwise to gain an unfair business advantage, such as to obtain or retain business. The Company has implemented policies, procedures, training and internal controls that are designed to comply with such laws, rules and regulations.
•Privacy and Data Protection. The Company is subject to an increasing number of privacy and data protection laws, regulations and directives globally, including the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in the European Union ("EU"); the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA) as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act (CPRA), the Virginia Consumer Data Protection Act (VCDPA), the Colorado Privacy Act (CPA), the Connecticut Personal Data Privacy and Online Monitoring Act (CTDPA), the Utah Consumer Privacy Act, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (GLBA), the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) in the United States; the United Kingdom’s General Data Protection Regulation (U.K. GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018; the General Personal Data Protection Act (LGPD) in Brazil; the China Personal Information Protection Law (PIPL); and the Japanese Act on the Protection of Personal Information (APPI) (referred to collectively as "Privacy Laws"). Many of these Privacy Laws place restrictions on the Company's ability to efficiently transfer, access and use personal data across its business. The legislative and regulatory landscape for privacy and data protection continues to evolve.
Our financial institution clients operating in the U.S. are required to comply with privacy regulations imposed under the GLBA and numerous similar state laws. GLBA and those state laws place restrictions on the use of non-public personal information. All financial institutions must disclose detailed privacy policies to their customers and offer them the opportunity to direct the financial institution not to share information with third parties. The regulations under GLBA, however, permit financial institutions to share information with non-affiliated parties who perform services for the financial institutions. As a provider of solutions to financial institutions, we are required to comply with the Privacy Laws and are bound by the same limitations on disclosure of the information received from our clients as apply to the financial institutions themselves. A determination that there have been violations of Privacy Laws could expose us to significant damage awards, fines and other penalties that could, individually or in the aggregate, materially harm our business and reputation. Certain operations of the Company are also subject to the newer, comprehensive, U.S. state-level Privacy Laws that provide consumers with additional data protection rights, including the right to be informed about the personal information collected by third parties and the use of that personal information, and which also impose obligations on companies in connection with the use of personal information.
The Company is subject to the E.U.’s GDPR, which applies to all organizations processing the personal data of individuals in the E.U., regardless of where such organization is based. The GDPR has heightened our privacy and data protection compliance obligations, impacted our businesses' collection, processing and retention of personal data and imposed stricter standards for reporting data breaches.
•Oversight by Securities Regulators. Our subsidiary that conducts our broker-dealer business in the U.S. is registered as a broker-dealer with the SEC, is a member of FINRA, and is registered as a broker-dealer in numerous states. Our broker-dealer is subject to regulation and oversight by the SEC. In addition, FINRA, a self-regulatory organization that is subject to oversight by the SEC, adopts and enforces rules governing the conduct, and examines the activities, of its member firms, including our broker-dealer. State securities regulators and various exchanges, including the New York
9

Table of Contents
Stock Exchange, also have regulatory or oversight authority over our broker-dealer. Broker-dealers are subject to regulations that cover all aspects of the securities business, including sales methods, trade practices among broker-dealers, public and private securities offerings, use and safekeeping of customers' funds and securities, capital structure, record keeping, the financing of customers' purchases and the conduct and qualifications of directors, officers and employees. In particular, as a registered broker-dealer and member of a self-regulatory organization, we are subject to the SEC's uniform net capital rule, Rule 15c3-1. Rule 15c3-1 specifies the minimum level of net capital a broker-dealer must maintain and also requires that a significant part of a broker-dealer's assets be kept in relatively liquid form. The SEC and various self-regulatory organizations impose rules that require notification when net capital falls below certain predefined criteria, limit the ratio of subordinated debt to equity in the regulatory capital composition of a broker-dealer and constrain the ability of a broker-dealer to expand its business under certain circumstances. Additionally, the SEC's uniform net capital rule imposes certain requirements that may have the effect of prohibiting a broker-dealer from distributing or withdrawing capital and requiring prior notice to the SEC for certain withdrawals of capital.
Our subsidiaries also include an SEC-registered transfer agent. Our registered transfer agent is subject to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. These laws and regulations generally grant the SEC and other supervisory bodies broad administrative powers to address non-compliance with regulatory requirements. Sanctions that may be imposed for non-compliance with these requirements include the suspension of individual employees, limitations on engaging in certain activities for specified periods of time or for specified types of clients, the revocation of registrations, other censures and significant fines.
Subsidiaries engaged in activities outside the U.S. are regulated by various government agencies in the particular jurisdiction where they are chartered, incorporated and/or conduct their business activity. For example, pursuant to the U.K. Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA"), certain of our subsidiaries are subject to regulations promulgated and administered by the FCA. The FSMA and rules promulgated thereunder govern all aspects of the U.K. investment business, including sales, research and trading practices, provision of investment advice, use and safekeeping of client funds and securities, regulatory capital, recordkeeping, margin practices and procedures, approval standards for individuals, anti-money laundering, periodic reporting and settlement procedures.
•Money Transfer. Elements of our cash access and money transmission businesses are registered as a Money Services Business and are subject to various federal, state and international laws governing money transmission, including but not limited to the USA PATRIOT Act and reporting requirements of the Bank Secrecy Act, as well as various U.S. federal, state and international sanctions requirements. These businesses may also be subject to certain state and local licensing requirements. The Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, state attorneys general, and other agencies have enforcement responsibility over laws relating to money laundering, currency transmission, and licensing. In applicable states, we have obtained money transmitter licenses. However, changes to state money transmission laws and regulations, including changing interpretations and the implementation of new or varying regulatory requirements, may result in the need for additional or expanded money transmitter licenses, additional capital allocations or changes in the way in which we deliver certain solutions.
•Consumer Reporting and Protection. Our decision solutions subsidiary, ChexSystems, maintains a database of consumer information used to provide various account ope ning services including credit scoring analysis and is subject to the Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act ("FCRA") and similar state laws. The FCRA regulates consumer reporting agencies ("CRAs"), including ChexSystems, and governs the accuracy, fairness, and privacy of information in the files of CRAs that engage in the practice of assembling or evaluating certain information relating to consumers for certain specified purposes. CRAs are required to follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy of information concerning the individual about whom the report relates and, if a consumer disputes the accuracy of any information in the consumer's file, to conduct a reasonable investigation within statutory timelines. The FCRA imposes many other requirements on CRAs and users of consumer report information. Regulatory enforcement of the FCRA is under the purview of the United States Federal Trade Commission, the CFPB, and state attorneys general, acting alone or in concert with one another. CRAs are also regulated by a number of states, including New York, with consumer reporting laws that are not pre-empted by the FCRA. In furtherance of our objectives of data accuracy, fair treatment of consumers, protection of consumers' personal information, and compliance with these laws, we have made considerable investment to maintain a high level of security for our computer systems in which consumer data resides, and we maintain consumer relations call centers to facilitate accurate and timely handling of consumer requests for information and handling disputes. We also are focused on ensuring our operating environments safeguard and protect consumer's personal information in compliance with these laws.
10

Table of Contents
Our consumer reporting and consumer-facing businesses are subject to CFPB Bulletin 2013-7 (a successor to the former Regulation AA - Unfair Deceptive Acts or Practices), which defines Unfair, Deceptive or Abusive Acts or Practices ("UDAAP"). This specific bulletin states that UDAAPs can cause significant financial injury to consumers, erode consumer confidence, and undermine fair competition in the financial marketplace. Original creditors and other covered persons and service providers under the Dodd-Frank Act involved in collecting debt related to any consumer financial product or service are subject to the prohibition against UDAAPs in the Dodd-Frank Act.
•Debt Collection. Our collection services are subject to the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and various state collection laws and licensing requirements. The Federal Trade Commission, as well as state attorneys general and other agencies, have enforcement responsibility over the collection laws, as well as the various credit reporting laws.
The foregoing list of laws and regulations to which our Company is subject is not exhaustive, and the regulatory framework governing our operations changes continuously. Enactment of new laws and regulations may increasingly affect the operations of our business, directly and indirectly, which could result in substantial regulatory compliance costs, litigation expense, adverse publicity, and/or loss of revenue.
Human Capital Management
Employee Population
As of December 31, 2023, we had more than 60,000 employees, including over 38,000 employees principally employed outside of the U.S. None of our U.S. workforce currently is unionized. Approximately 10,000 of our employees, primarily in Brazil and Europe, are represented by labor unions or works councils as of December 31, 2023. As of February 1, 2024, following the completion of the Worldpay Sale, we had approximately 52,000 employees, including over 33,000 employees principally employed outside of the U.S. and approximately 7,000 employees represented by labor unions or works councils. This total excludes a number of employees in certain jurisdictions who are providing services exclusively for Worldpay, pursuant to an employee leasing agreement entered into between FIS and Worldpay as part of the transition services arrangements executed at the closing of the Worldpay Sale, for up to five months after the closing, after which they are expected to transfer to Worldpay.
In addition to our employees, we also benefit from the services of independent contractors and consultants.
Health and Safety
The health and safety of our employees is a key priority. We have implemented a comprehensive wellness program focused on all aspects of employee wellness – physical, mental, social, and financial. Initiatives under this program are designed to promote healthy lifestyle habits. In 2023, we began offering mental health training to all managers and are expanding the training opportunity to all employees. We continue to operate FIS Cares, a global colleague-funded giving program designed to help our employees in times of need. We remain committed to providing a safe working environment that minimizes health risks and prioritizes physical safety above any other needs of the organization.
Corporate Culture / Inclusion and Diversity
Our culture stems from embracing our corporate values as we work together to win as one team, lead with integrity and strive to 'be the change' for our colleagues, clients and communities. The Company believes that inclusion and diversity are at the core of our corporate values. The diversity of our workforce helps us use our collective strengths to innovate and deliver the best solutions for our clients. Our Board of Directors and senior leaders are united in championing inclusion and diversity within our workforce. Oversight of the FIS Inclusion & Diversity strategy is led by the Chief Inclusion and Diversity Officer and championed by an Enterprise Inclusion and Diversity Council chaired by the Chief People Officer and includes participation and leadership of senior executives of the Company. Further, the Company sponsors Inclusion Networks, which are led by employees who share common backgrounds and experiences. These groups support their members while promoting the Company's overall goal of fostering an inclusive work environment. Current FIS Inclusion Networks include Women, Asian and Pacific Islander, Black, Hispanic and Latinx, Disability, LGBTQ+, Rising Professionals, Veterans, and Working Families. The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief People Officer regularly update the Company's Board of Directors on human capital management and inclusion and diversity initiatives.
11

Table of Contents
Talent Management
Along with our clients and communities, our people are primary stakeholders in our organization, and so we place a strategic priority on developing our talent and fostering a culture aligned with our corporate values and in which colleagues receive the support needed to grow their careers.
Our talent development program provides an enterprise-wide, systematic foundation for career development tied to learning paths that enable skills acquisition. Our talent practices are based on a future-focused development approach to equip FIS colleagues and leaders with the skills required to enable business growth and exceed the needs of our clients. Our employees have a learning roadmap to ‘Build our Leaders of Tomorrow’ which is supported by access to an extensive selection of online self-paced learning resources, virtual instructor-led and face-to-face development offerings, and targeted development programs for high-potential and senior management employees. We engage in executive-level succession planning and provide extensive opportunities to apply for open roles within the Company. Our talent development practices are underpinned by a comprehensive performance feedback culture that includes robust performance reviews. We have also invested in our hiring program for recent college graduates, who are critical to building our pipeline of future leaders, and have implemented a program to help eligible participants pay down their college tuition debt.
Available Information
Our website address is www.fisglobal.com. We make our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports, available, free of charge, on that website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file or furnish them to the SEC. Our Corporate Governance Policy and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are also available on our website and are available in print, free of charge, to any shareholder who mails a request to the Corporate Secretary, Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., 347 Riverside Avenue, Jacksonville, FL 32202 USA. Other corporate governance-related documents can be found at our website as well. However, the information found on our website is not a part of this or any other report.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
In addition to the normal risks of business, we are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including those listed below and others described elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Any of the risks described herein could result in a significant adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Risks Related to Our Business and Operations
Security breaches, privacy breaches, cyberattacks, unintentional disclosures of confidential information, third-party breaches, or a failure to comply with information security laws or regulations, contractual provisions or industry security requirements by FIS, or our vendors, or technology partners, could harm our business by disrupting delivery of services, damaging our reputation and resulting in a breach of one or more client contracts or regulatory investigations, enforcement actions or fines.
Cybersecurity is fundamental to FIS' complex, global business. FIS and its vendors and technology partners electronically receive, process, store and transmit sensitive and confidential information of FIS' clients, such clients' customers and business partners. FIS collects consumer personal data, such as names and addresses, Social Security Numbers, driver’s license numbers, financial account numbers, transactional history, cardholder data and payment history records. Such information is necessary to support our clients' transaction processing and to conduct our check authorization and collection businesses. Our information systems are dependent upon hardware, software, and other technological components that are both developed by FIS and provided by third parties. These components sometimes require patches, updates, or remediation of known or potential vulnerabilities. Implementation challenges in timely completing these tasks can lead to security vulnerabilities that expose FIS, its systems and data to potential compromise or interruption. The uninterrupted operation of information systems operated by FIS and others, as well as the confidentiality of the customer/consumer information that resides on such systems, is critical to the successful operation of FIS. For that reason, security or privacy breaches are some of the principal operational risks FIS faces as a provider of services to financial institutions and businesses, and, like other such providers, FIS is a regular target of third-party attempts to identify and exploit system vulnerabilities and/or penetrate or bypass our security measures in order to gain unauthorized access to our networks and systems. If FIS fails to maintain an adequate security infrastructure, adapt to emerging security threats (such as the use of artificial intelligence by threat actors in furtherance of cyber attacks), identify security vulnerabilities, prevent unauthorized access, identity theft or other cybersecurity risks (e.g., distributed denial of service, ransomware, and other cyber attacks), manage vendor or supply chain cybersecurity risks, or implement sufficient security standards and technology to protect against security or privacy breaches, the confidentiality of the information FIS
12

Table of Contents
secures could be compromised. Unauthorized access to or abuse of authorized access to the computer systems or databases of FIS or our vendors could result in the theft or publication of confidential information and personal data, the deletion or modification of records, disruption of service delivery, installation of malware, and the potential need to pay ransom, or otherwise cause interruptions in FIS’ operations. These issues in turn could give rise to legal actions from clients and/or such clients' customers, regulatory investigation or enforcement activity, losses and expenses associated with such events, and damage to FIS' reputation. Because FIS serves a diverse client base with different technology and service needs, we must continue to work to enhance our ability to manage the risks from the resulting diversity in potential security attacks.
As a provider of services to financial institutions and businesses, FIS is bound by many of the same limitations on disclosure of the information FIS receives from clients as apply to the clients themselves. If FIS fails to comply with these regulations and industry security requirements, including those imposed by the payment card industry through its digital security standards and other rules, it could be exposed to damages from legal actions from clients and/or their customers, governmental proceedings, governmental notice requirements, and the imposition of significant fines or prohibitions on providing services. FIS is a highly regulated entity and is subject to a myriad of complex, evolving regulations and standards, including cybersecurity and privacy laws, regulations and industry standards. In addition, if more restrictive privacy laws, data protection rules or industry security requirements are adopted in the future on the federal or state level, or by a non-U.S. jurisdiction in or from which we serve clients, or by a specific industry body, those changes could have an adverse impact on FIS through increased costs or by imposing changes or inefficiencies on business processes.
A material privacy or security incident may trigger SEC disclosure obligations, other applicable disclosure requirements, or be disclosed publicly even if there is no legally required disclosure. Incident disclosure may increase the risks of lawsuits or government enforcement action related to incidents, increase attention to malicious actors, and lead to greater regulatory scrutiny more generally. The occurrence of any such incidents, and the related responses (if any) by regulators or third parties, may result in adverse publicity and reputational harm to us.
If FIS is unable, or appears to be unable, to prevent cybersecurity or privacy breaches, we risk reputational damage. Our existing clients could lose confidence in FIS' systems and thus choose to terminate their agreements with FIS. Such reputational harm could also inhibit FIS' ability to attract new clients; potentially increase government, regulatory, or media scrutiny; or give rise to new regulatory requirements that adversely affect FIS' ability to do business in one or more parts of the world.
If we fail to innovate or adapt our solutions to changes in technology or in the marketplace, or if our ongoing efforts to upgrade or implement our technology are not successful, we could lose clients, or our clients could lose customers, and we could have difficulty attracting new clients for our solutions.
The markets for our solutions are characterized by constant technological changes, frequent introductions of new solutions and evolving industry standards. Our future success will be significantly affected by our ability to enhance our current solutions and develop and introduce new solutions and services that address the increasingly sophisticated needs of our clients and their customers. In addition, as more of our revenue and market demand shifts to software as a service ("SaaS"), business process as a service ("BPaaS"), cloud, and new emerging technologies, the need to keep pace with rapid technology changes becomes more acute. These initiatives carry the risks associated with any new solution development effort, including cost overruns, delays in delivery and implementation, and performance issues. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in developing, marketing and selling new solutions or enhancements that meet these changing demands. If we are not successful in these efforts, we could lose clients, or our clients could lose customers, and we could have difficulty attracting new clients for our solutions. Any of these developments could have an adverse impact on our future revenue and/or business prospects.
We operate in a competitive business environment; if we are unable to compete effectively, our business, financial condition or results of operations may be adversely affected.
The market for our solutions is intensely competitive. Our competitors in Banking and Capital Markets vary in size and in the scope and breadth of the solutions and services they offer. Some of our competitors have substantial resources. We face direct competition from third parties, and because many of our larger potential clients have historically developed their key applications in-house and therefore view their system requirements from a make-versus-buy perspective, we also often compete against our potential clients' in-house capacities. In addition, the markets in which we compete have recently attracted increasing competition from smaller start-ups with emerging technologies which are receiving increasing investments as well as global banks (and businesses controlled by combinations of global banks) and global internet companies that are introducing competitive solutions and services into the marketplace, particularly in the payments area. Emerging technologies and increased competition may also have the effect of unbundling bank solutions and result in displacing solutions we are currently providing from our legacy systems. International competitors are also now targeting and entering the U.S. market with greater force. There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors or that the
13

Table of Contents
competitive pressures we face in the markets in which we operate will not materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations.
Global economic, political and other conditions, including business cycles and consumer confidence, as well as geopolitical conflicts, may adversely affect our clients or trends in consumer spending, which may adversely impact the demand for our services and our revenue and profitability.
A significant portion of our revenue is derived from transaction processing fees. The global transaction processing industries depend heavily upon the overall level of consumer, business and government spending. Any change in economic factors, including a sustained deterioration in general economic conditions or consumer confidence, particularly in the U.S., or inflation and increases in interest rates in key countries in which we operate may adversely affect consumer spending, consumer debt levels and credit and debit card usage, and as a result, adversely affect our financial performance by reducing the number or average purchase amount of transactions that we service. In addition, the direct and indirect effects of geopolitical conflicts, such as the Russia-Ukraine war and the conflict between Israel and Hamas, have adversely affected, and worsening or future conflicts could materially adversely affect, global economic activity and transaction processing volumes.
When there is a slowdown or downturn in the economy, a drop in stock market levels or trading volumes, or an event that disrupts the financial markets, our business and financial results may suffer for a number of reasons. Customers may react to worsening conditions by reducing or delaying their capital expenditures in general or by specifically reducing or delaying their information technology spending. In addition, customers may seek to curtail trading operations or to lower their costs by renegotiating vendor contracts. Moreover, competitors may respond to market conditions by lowering prices and attempting to lure away our customers to lower-cost solutions. Any further protective trade policies or actions taken by the U.S. may also result in other countries reducing, or making more expensive, services permitted to be provided by U.S.-based companies. Lengthening sales cycles observed in 2022, particularly for large Banking transactions with a total contract value in excess of $50 million, persisted during most of 2023, which we believe resulted from economic uncertainty, and have had, and may continue to have, an adverse effect on our results of operations. If any of these circumstances remain in effect for an extended period of time, there could be a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Entity mergers or consolidations and business failures in the banking and financial services industry could adversely affect our business by eliminating some of our existing and potential clients and making us more dependent on a more limited number of clients.
There has been and may continue to be substantial consolidation activity in the banking and financial services industry. In addition, certain financial institutions that experienced negative operating results, including some of our clients, have failed, leading to further consolidation. These consolidations, including those spurred by failures, reduce our number of potential clients and may reduce our number of existing clients, which could adversely affect our revenue, even if the events do not reduce the aggregate activities of the consolidated entities. Further, if our clients or our partners across any of our businesses fail and/or merge with or are acquired by other entities that are not our clients or our partners, or that use fewer of our services, they may discontinue or reduce use of our services. It is also possible that larger financial institutions resulting from consolidations would have greater leverage in negotiating terms or could decide to perform in-house some or all of the services we currently provide or could provide. Any of these developments could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Failure to obtain new clients or renew client contracts on favorable terms could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
We may face pricing pressure in obtaining and retaining our clients. Larger clients in particular may use their negotiating leverage to seek price reductions from us when they renew a contract, when a contract is extended, or when the client's business has significant volume changes. Larger clients may also reduce services if they decide to move services in-house. Further, our smaller and mid-size clients may also exert pricing pressure, particularly upon renewal, due to competition or other economic needs or pressures being experienced by the client. On some occasions, this pricing pressure results in lower revenue from a client than we had anticipated based on our previous agreement with that client. This reduction in revenue could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
14

Table of Contents
Our business, financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected if we experience business interruptions, errors or failure in connection with our or third-party information technology and communication systems and other software and hardware used in connection with our business, if we experience defects or design errors in the software solutions we offer, or more generally, if the third-party vendors we rely upon are unwilling or unable to provide the services we need to operate our business effectively.
Many of our services are based on sophisticated software and computing systems, and we may encounter delays when developing new technology solutions and services. Further, the technology solutions underlying our services have occasionally contained, and may in the future contain, undetected errors or defects when first introduced or when new versions are released. In addition, we may experience difficulties in installing or integrating our technologies on platforms used by our clients, or our clients may cancel a project after we have expended significant effort and resources to complete an installation. Finally, our systems and operations could be exposed to damage or interruption from fire, floods, hurricanes, earthquakes, tornadoes, typhoons, drought, high-winds, severe weather events, other natural disasters, power loss, telecommunications failure, unauthorized entry and computer viruses. Defects in our technology solutions, errors or delays in the processing of electronic transactions, or other difficulties could result in (i) interruption of business operations; (ii) delay in market acceptance; (iii) additional development and remediation costs; (iv) diversion of technical and other resources; (v) loss of clients; (vi) negative publicity; or (vii) exposure to liability claims. Any one or more of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Although we attempt to limit our potential liability through controls, including system redundancies, security controls, application development and testing controls, and disclaimers and limitation-of-liability provisions in our license and client agreements, we cannot be certain that these measures will always be successful in preventing disruption or limiting our liability.
Further, most of the solutions we offer are very complex software systems that are regularly updated. No matter how careful the design and development, complex software often contains errors and defects when first introduced and when major new updates or enhancements are released. If errors or defects are discovered in current or future solutions, then we may not be able to correct them in a timely manner, if at all. In our development of updates and enhancements to our software solutions, we may make a major design error that makes the solution operate incorrectly or less efficiently. The failure of software to properly perform could result in the Company and its clients being subjected to losses or liability, including censures, fines, or other sanctions by the applicable regulatory authorities, and we could be liable to parties who are financially harmed by those errors. In addition, such errors could cause the Company to lose revenue, lose clients or damage its reputation.
In addition, we generally depend on a number of third parties, both in the United States and internationally, to supply elements of our systems, computers, research and market data, connectivity, communication network infrastructure, other equipment and related support and maintenance. We cannot be certain that any of these third parties will be able to continue providing these services to meet our evolving needs effectively. If our vendors, or in certain cases vendors of our customers, fail to meet their obligations, provide poor or untimely service, or we are unable to make alternative arrangements for the provision of these services, then we may in turn fail to provide our services or to meet our obligations to our customers, and our business, financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected.
Bank failures or sustained financial market disruptions could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We regularly maintain domestic cash deposits in banks that are not subject to insurance protection against loss or exceed the deposit limits. We also maintain cash deposits in foreign banks where we operate, some of which are not insured or are only partially insured. The failure of a bank, or events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse conditions in the financial or credit markets impacting financial institutions at which we maintain balances, or concerns or rumors about such events, may lead to disruptions in access to our bank deposits or otherwise adversely impact our liquidity and financial performance. There can be no assurance that our deposits in excess of the insurance limits will be backstopped by the U.S. or applicable foreign government, or that any bank or financial institution with which we do business will be able to obtain needed liquidity from other banks, government institutions or otherwise in the event of a failure or liquidity crisis.
Our clients, including those of our clients that are banks, may be similarly adversely affected by any bank failure or other event affecting financial institutions. Any resulting adverse effects to our clients' liquidity or financial performance could reduce the demand for our services or affect our allowance for credit losses and collectability of trade receivables. A significant change in the liquidity or financial position of our clients could cause unfavorable trends in receivable collections and cash flows and additional allowances for anticipated losses may be required. These additional allowances could materially adversely affect our future financial results.
15

Table of Contents
In addition, instability, liquidity constraints or other distress in the financial markets, including the effects of bank failures, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, could impair the ability of one or more of the banks participating in our current or any future credit facilities to honor their commitments. This could have an adverse effect on our business if we were not able to replace those commitments or to locate other sources of liquidity on acceptable terms.
The Company is subject to regulation, supervision, and enforcement authority of numerous governmental and regulatory bodies in the jurisdictions in which it operates.
Because the Company is a technology service provider to U.S. financial institutions, it is subject to regular oversight and examination by the FBA, each agency of which is a member of the FFIEC, an interagency body of federal banking regulators. The FBA have broad discretion in the implementation, interpretation and enforcement of banking and consumer protection laws and use the FFIEC's uniform principles, standards and report forms in their review of bank service providers like FIS. A failure to comply with these laws, or a failure to meet the supervisory expectations of the banking regulators, could result in adverse action against the Company. The regulators have the power to, among other things, enjoin "unsafe or unsound" practices; require affirmative actions to correct any violation or practice; issue administrative orders that can be judicially enforced; direct the sale of subsidiaries or other assets; and assess civil money penalties.
The Company is also subject to ongoing supervision by regulatory and governmental bodies across the world, including economic and conduct regulators, such as OFAC, BIS, FinCEN in the U.S., the FCA and OFSI in the U.K., and regulatory and governmental bodies responsible for issuing anti-money laundering, anti-bribery, and global economic sanctions and export control regulations. These various regulatory regimes require compliance across many aspects of our activities. Among other things, such regulatory and financial crime compliance obligations require certain capital requirements, safeguarding, training, authorization and supervision of personnel, systems, processes and documentation and reporting to government entities. As we continue to grow our global business around the world, we will become subject to additional countries' regulations governing critical third-party service providers, financial crime and other regulatory areas. The failure of FIS to comply with any of these requirements could result in the suspension or revocation of a license, loss of consumer confidence, and/or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.
We also have business operations that store, process or transmit consumer information or have direct relationships with consumers that are obligated to comply with regulations, including, but not limited to, the FCRA, the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and applicable privacy requirements and are subject to examination and oversight by the CFPB. In addition, our wealth and retirement business holds a charter in the state of Georgia, which exposes us to further regulatory compliance requirements of the Georgia Department of Banking and Finance. The U.S. wealth and retirement business is required to hold certain levels of regulatory capital as defined by the state banking regulator in Georgia. In the U.K., our Platform Securities and broker-dealer businesses are regulated by the FCA and are also subject to further regulatory capital requirements.
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB") continues to establish rules and regulations for regulating financial and non-financial institutions and providers to those institutions to ensure adequate protection of consumer privacy and to ensure consumers are not impacted by deceptive business practices, as well as provide examination and supervisory authority over consumer reporting agencies, including ChexSystems. These rules and regulations govern our clients or potential clients and also govern certain of our businesses. These regulations have resulted, and may further result, in the need for FIS to make capital investments to modify our solutions to facilitate our clients' and potential clients' compliance, as well as to deploy additional processes or reporting to comply with these regulations. In the future, we may be subject to additional expense to ensure continued compliance with applicable laws and regulations and to investigate, defend and/or remedy actual or alleged violations. Further, requirements of these regulations have resulted, and could further result, in changes in our business practices, our clients' business practices and those of other marketplace participants that may alter the delivery of services to consumers, which have impacted, and could further impact, the demand for our solutions and services as well as alter the types or volume of transactions that we process on behalf of our clients. As a result, these requirements, or proposed or future requirements, could have an adverse impact on our financial condition, revenue, results of operations, prospects for future growth and overall business.
The New York Department of Financial Services has enacted rules that require covered financial institutions to establish and maintain cybersecurity programs. These rules subject FIS to additional regulation and require us to adopt additional business practices that could also require additional capital expenditures or impact our operating results. Changes to state money transmission laws and regulations, including changing interpretations and the implementation of new or varying
16

Table of Contents
regulatory requirements, may result in the need for additional money transmitter licenses. These changes could result in increased costs of compliance, as well as fines or penalties.
One of our subsidiaries is an SEC-registered broker-dealer in the U.S. and is subject to the financial and operational rules of FINRA, and others are authorized by the FCA to conduct certain regulated business in the U.K. Our transfer agent business is also regulated by the SEC and other regulators around the world. Domestic and foreign regulatory and self-regulatory organizations, such as the SEC, FINRA, and the FCA, can, among other things, fine, censure, issue cease-and-desist orders against, and suspend or expel a broker-dealer or its officers or employees for failure to comply with the many laws and regulations that govern brokerage activities. Regulations affecting the brokerage industry may change, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
We are exposed to certain risks relating to the execution services provided by our brokerage operations to our customers and counterparties, which include other broker-dealers, active traders, hedge funds, asset managers, and other institutional and non-institutional clients. These risks include, but are not limited to, customers or counterparties failing to pay for or deliver securities, trading errors, the inability or failure to settle trades, and trade execution system failures. As trading in the U.S. securities markets has become more automated, the potential impact of a trading error or a rapid series of errors caused by a computer or human error or a malicious act has become greater. In our other businesses, we generally can disclaim liability for trading losses that may be caused by our software, but in our brokerage operations, we may not be able to limit our liability for trading losses or failed trades even when we are not at fault. As a result, we may suffer losses that are disproportionately large compared to the relatively modest profit contributions of our brokerage operations.
Moreover, the legislative and regulatory landscape continues to evolve, and we expect that it may cover alternative payment types, including digital/crypto currency. Any failure to comply with such laws and regulations could expose us to liability, regulatory scrutiny and/or reputational damage. Financial crimes laws may be interpreted and applied inconsistently from country to country and impose inconsistent or conflicting requirements. Complying with varying jurisdictional requirements could increase the costs and complexity of compliance and associated recordkeeping costs or require us to change our business practices in a manner adverse to our business.
Further, our business may be constrained by current and future laws and regulations governing the development, use and deployment of artificial intelligence (including machine learning) (“AI”) technologies. These laws and regulations are continuously and rapidly evolving, and there is no single global regulatory framework for AI, creating further uncertainties regarding compliance with such laws and regulations. As a result, our ability to leverage AI could be restricted by burdensome and costly legal requirements.
If we fail to comply with relevant laws or regulations, then we risk reputational damage, potential civil and criminal sanctions, fines or other action imposed by regulatory or governmental authorities, including the potential suspension or revocation of the permission-based regulatory licenses which authorize the Company to provide core services to customers. Regulatory authorities subject our businesses, from time to time, to regulatory investigations, reviews and proceedings (both formal and informal), certain of which may result in adverse settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. This could result in an adverse effect on FIS' business, reputation and customer relationships, which in turn could adversely affect its financial position and performance.
Many of our clients are subject to a regulatory environment and to industry standards that may change in a manner that reduces the types or volume of solutions or services we provide or may reduce the type or number of transactions in which our clients engage, and therefore reduce our revenue.
Our clients are subject to many, varied and evolving government regulations and industry standards with which our solutions must comply. Our clients must ensure that our solutions and related services work within the extensive and evolving regulatory and industry requirements applicable to them. Federal, state, foreign or industry authorities could adopt laws, rules or regulations affecting our clients' businesses that could lead to increased operating costs and could reduce the convenience and functionality of our solutions, possibly resulting in reduced market acceptance. In addition, action by regulatory authorities relating to credit availability, data usage, privacy, or other related regulatory developments could have an adverse effect on our clients and, therefore, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, revenue, results of operations, prospects for future growth and overall business. Elimination of regulatory requirements could also adversely affect the sales of our solutions designed to help clients comply with complex regulatory environments.
17

Table of Contents
Constantly evolving global privacy, data protection and cybersecurity laws require the Company to adopt new business practices, update contractual provisions in existing and new contracts, and constantly update our global Privacy and Data Protection Program and our global Information Security Program, which may require transitional and incremental expenses and may impact our future operating results.
The Company is subject to numerous global privacy, data protection and cybersecurity laws, which are continuing to change in ways that impose increasingly complex and costly compliance obligations on FIS and that have had, and are expected to continue to have, a significant impact on FIS' operations. Failure to comply with new and evolving laws in these areas could result in significant penalties, damage to our brand, and loss of business. FIS has incurred, and will continue to incur, costs to comply with these new laws. There are also several additional laws being considered by state legislatures, the U.S. Congress, and governments around the world. As a result, a more substantial compliance effort with varying regimes in different jurisdictions is expected to continue in the future, which has the potential to further increase the costs and complexities of FIS' business. Moreover, privacy, data protection and cybersecurity laws may be interpreted and applied inconsistently from country to country and impose inconsistent or conflicting requirements. Complying with varying jurisdictional requirements could increase the costs and complexity of compliance and associated recordkeeping costs or require us to change our business practices in a manner adverse to our business and to incur additional costs. Data localization requirements in evolving privacy, data protection and cybersecurity laws could also increase the cost and alter the approach to housing data around the world. In addition, our businesses are increasingly subject to laws and regulations relating to digital transformation, surveillance, cyber resilience, encryption, and data onshoring in the jurisdictions in which we operate. In particular, U.K. and European regulators are increasingly seeking to mitigate cyber threats and enhance digital resilience within the financial system through new regulations targeting the provision of critical third-party technology services. Compliance with these laws and regulations may require us to change our technology for information security, operational infrastructure, policies, and procedures, which could be time-consuming and costly and may result in additional regulatory burdens for the Company. Furthermore, compliance with these laws and regulations may indirectly impact the Company in circumstances where it acts as a third-party service provider to clients, who are themselves subject to these laws and regulations, and will expect the Company to take appropriate steps to support them in achieving compliance.
High profile digital banking security breaches could impact consumer payment behavior patterns in the future and reduce our transaction volumes.
We are unable to predict whether or when high profile digital banking security breaches will occur and if they occur, whether consumers will reduce their digital banking service. If consumers reduce digital banking services, and we are not able to adapt to offer our clients alternative technologies, then our revenue and related earnings could be adversely affected.
Misappropriation of our intellectual property and proprietary rights or a finding that our patents are invalid could impair our competitive position.
Our ability to compete depends in some part upon our proprietary solutions and technology. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our solutions or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary or challenge the validity of our patents with governmental authorities. Policing unauthorized use of our proprietary rights is difficult. We cannot make any assurances that the steps we have taken will prevent misappropriation of technology or that the agreements entered into for that purpose will be enforceable. Effective patent, trademark, service mark, copyright, and trade secret protection may not be available in every country in which our applications and services are made available online. Misappropriation of our intellectual property or potential litigation concerning such matters could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. As we increase our international business, we are subject to further risks of misappropriation of our intellectual property in countries which have laws which are less protective of intellectual property or are enforced in a less protective manner.
If our applications or services are found to infringe the proprietary rights of others, then we may be required to change our business practices and may also become subject to significant costs and monetary penalties.
As our information technology applications and services develop, we are increasingly subject to infringement claims. Any claims, whether with or without merit, could (i) be expensive and time-consuming to defend; (ii) result in an injunction or other equitable relief which could cause us to cease making, licensing or using applications that incorporate the challenged intellectual property; (iii) require us to redesign our applications, if feasible; (iv) divert management's attention and resources; and (v) require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the right to use necessary technologies or pay damages resulting from any infringing use.
18

Table of Contents
Some of our solutions contain "open source" software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of these open source licenses could adversely affect our business.
We use a limited amount of software licensed by its authors or other third parties under so-called "open source" licenses and may continue to use such software in the future. Some of these licenses contain requirements that we make available source code for modifications or derivative works we create based upon the open source software and that we license such modifications or derivative works under the terms of a particular open source license or other license granting third parties certain rights of further use. By the terms of certain open source licenses, we could be required to release the source code of our proprietary software if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner. Additionally, the terms of many open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. or other courts, and there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a manner that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our solutions. In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on origin of the software. We have established processes to help alleviate these risks, including a review process for screening requests from our development organizations for the use of open source, but we cannot be sure that all open source is submitted for approval prior to use in our solutions. In addition, many of the risks associated with usage of open source cannot be eliminated, and could, if not properly addressed, adversely affect our business.
Using and/or incorporating AI technologies into our business poses additional risks and uncertainties that could have the potential to harm our reputation and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
While we believe AI has the potential to increase the value of the solutions and services we deliver to our clients, we recognize that incorporating AI technologies into our business generates a variety of risks and uncertainties. In particular, AI algorithms may generate inaccurate, unintended, unfair or discriminatory outcomes, which may not be easily detectable or explainable, and may inadvertently breach intellectual property, privacy or other rights, as well as confidential information. These outcomes, or the risk of these outcomes, may damage our reputation or have other unintended consequences if we are not successful in mitigating these emerging risks.
Further, if we are unsuccessful in identifying opportunities to expand our portfolio with artificial intelligence capabilities to strengthen or maintain our market position or enhance our customers’ experiences, we may have a competitive disadvantage in developing new products and operating our business and our customers may prefer different solutions.
These and other AI-related risks may emerge or change on a rapid timeframe that may make it difficult for us to predict or to respond to such risks.
Lack of system integrity, fraudulent payments, credit quality, and undetected errors related to funds settlement or the availability of clearing services could result in a financial loss.
We settle funds on behalf of financial institutions, other businesses and consumers and receive funds from clients, card issuers, payment networks and consumers on a daily basis for a variety of transaction types. Transactions facilitated by us include debit card, credit card, electronic bill payment transactions, banking payments and check clearing that supports consumers, financial institutions and other businesses. These payment activities rely upon the technology infrastructure that facilitates the verification of activity with counterparties, the facilitation of the payment as well as the detection or prevention of fraudulent payments. A compromise of our continuity of operations, integrity of processing, or ability to detect or prevent fraudulent payments could result in a financial loss to us. In addition, we rely on various financial institutions to provide Automated Clearing House ("ACH") services in support of funds settlement for certain of our solutions. An inability to obtain such ACH services in the future could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, we may issue credit to consumers, financial institutions or other businesses as part of the funds settlement. A default on this credit by a counterparty could result in a financial loss to us. Furthermore, if one of our clients for which we facilitate settlement suffers a fraudulent event due to a deficiency in their controls, then we may suffer a financial loss if the client does not have sufficient capital to cover the loss.
Our business is subject to the risks of international operations, including movements in foreign currency exchange rates.
The international operations of FIS represented approximately 22% of our total 2023 revenue and are largely conducted in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar, including the British Pound Sterling, Euro, Brazilian Real, Swedish Krona, Australian
19

Table of Contents
Dollar and Indian Rupee. FIS continues to expand its international presence. Our business, financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected due to a variety of factors, including the following:
•changes in a specific country or region's political and cultural climate or economic condition, including change in governmental regime;
•unexpected or unfavorable changes in foreign laws, regulatory requirements and related interpretations;
•difficulty of effective enforcement of contractual provisions in local jurisdictions;
•inadequate intellectual property protection in foreign countries;
•trade-protection measures, import or export licensing requirements such as Export Administration Regulations promulgated by the U.S. Department of Commerce and fines, penalties or suspension or revocation of export privileges;
•trade sanctions imposed by the U.S. or other governments with jurisdictional authority over our business operations;
•the effects of applicable and potentially adverse foreign tax law changes;
•significant adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates;
•lesser enforcement of intellectual property laws and protections internationally;
•longer accounts receivable cycles;
•managing a geographically dispersed workforce;
•trade treaties, tariffs or agreements that could adversely affect our ability to do business in affected countries; and
•compliance with the FCPA and OFAC regulations, particularly in emerging markets.
As we expand our international operations, more of our clients may pay us in foreign currencies. Conducting business in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar subjects us to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations that can negatively impact our results, period to period, including relative to analyst estimates or guidance. Our primary exposure to movements in foreign currency exchange rates relates to the British Pound Sterling, Euro, Brazilian Real, Swedish Krona, Australian Dollar and Indian Rupee. The U.S. Dollar value of our net investments in foreign operations, the periodic conversion of foreign-denominated earnings to the U.S. Dollar (our reporting currency), and our results of operations and, in some cases, cash flows, could be adversely affected in a material manner by movements in foreign currency exchange rates. These risks could cause an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. For more information on our exposure to foreign currency risk, see "Foreign Currency Risk" in "Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk."
Failure to comply with anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences.
We are subject to the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act, and other anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws in various countries around the world. The FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act and similar applicable laws generally prohibit companies, as well as their officers, directors, employees and third-party intermediaries, business partners and agents, from making improper payments or providing other improper things of value to government officials or other persons for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business abroad or otherwise obtaining favorable treatment. The FCPA also requires that U.S. public companies maintain books and records that fairly and accurately reflect transactions and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls.
We conduct business in many foreign countries, including a number of countries with developing economies, and many of our employees, third-party intermediaries and agents in such countries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies, state-owned or affiliated entities and other third parties where we may be held liable if they take actions in violation of these laws, even if we do not explicitly authorize them. Although our policies and procedures require compliance with these laws and are designed to facilitate compliance with these laws, we do business in many countries all over the world and cannot assure that our employees, contractors or agents somewhere in the world will not take actions in violation of applicable laws or our policies, for which we may be ultimately held responsible.
In the event that we believe or have reason to believe that our employees, contractors or agents have or may have violated such laws, we may be required to investigate or to have outside counsel investigate the relevant facts and circumstances. Detecting, investigating and resolving actual or alleged violations can be an extensive process and require a significant diversion of time, resources and attention from senior management. Further, we cannot assure that any such investigation will successfully uncover all relevant facts and circumstances. Any violation of the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act or other applicable anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws could result in whistleblower complaints, adverse media coverage, investigations, loss of export privileges, and criminal or civil sanctions, penalties and fines, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
20

Table of Contents
We have businesses in emerging markets that may experience significant economic volatility.
We have operations in emerging markets, primarily in Latin America, India, Southeast Asia, the Middle East and Africa. These emerging market economies tend to be more volatile than the more established markets we serve in North America and Europe, which could add volatility to our future revenue and earnings.
Acts of war or terrorism, international conflicts, political instability, natural disasters, or widespread outbreak of an illness could negatively affect various aspects of our business, including our workforce and our business partners, make it more difficult and expensive to meet our obligations to our customers, and result in reduced revenue from our customers.
Our global operations are susceptible to global events, including threats or acts of war, such as the Russia-Ukraine war and the Israel-Hamas conflict, threats or acts of terrorism, international conflicts, political instability and natural disasters. We are also susceptible to a widespread outbreak of an illness or other health issue, such as the COVID-19 pandemic. These events can spread to different locations across the globe and can have an adverse effect on the global economy, reducing consumer and corporate spending upon which our revenue depends. Individual employees can become ill, quarantined, or otherwise unable to work and/or travel due to health reasons or governmental restrictions. Some of our operations are in countries where the effects of a widespread illness could be magnified due to health care systems that are less well-developed than in the U.S. The occurrence of any of these events could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
The direct and indirect effects of climate change, including increased legal and regulatory scrutiny, could adversely affect our business.
We may be subject to increased costs, regulations, reporting requirements, standards or expectations regarding climate change-driven impacts on our business. While we seek to mitigate our business risks associated with climate change as part of our sustainability, environmental, social and governance (ESG) strategy, some of these risks may persist. Changing market dynamics, global policy developments, heightened focus from governmental, media, community, industry and investor stakeholders, and increasing frequency and impact of extreme weather events all have the potential to disrupt our business or the businesses of our customers, vendors and technology partners. Any of these developments could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Failure to attract and retain talent, including senior management and highly skilled technology personnel, could harm our ability to grow.
Our future success depends upon our ability to attract and retain talent in a competitive market, including senior management personnel and highly-skilled technology personnel. The competitive nature of this market is also affected by wage inflation, which generally increases the cost of talent. Because the development of our solutions and services requires knowledge, skills and abilities to create, develop and implement our software solutions in new areas on a continuing basis, we are competing for talented people with such knowledge, skills and abilities in new and developing technologies. Competition for such technical personnel is intense, as is the competition for senior management to lead these efforts, and our failure to hire and retain talented personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Our future growth will also require sales and marketing, financial, legal and administrative personnel to develop and support new solutions and services, to enhance and support current solutions and services and to expand operational and financial systems. There can be no assurance that we will be able to attract and retain the necessary personnel to accomplish our growth strategies, and we may experience constraints that could adversely affect our ability to satisfy client demand in a timely fashion.
Our ability to maintain compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations and to manage and monitor the risks facing our business relies upon the ability to maintain skilled compliance, legal, security, risk and audit professionals. Competition for such skill sets is intense, and our failure to hire and retain talented personnel could have an adverse effect on our internal control environment and impact our operating results.
Our senior management team has significant experience in the financial services industry, and the loss of this leadership could have an adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. Further, the loss of this leadership may have an adverse impact on senior management's ability to provide effective oversight and strategic direction for all key functions within the Company, which could impact our future business, financial condition or results of operations.
21

Table of Contents
We are the subject of various legal proceedings that could have an adverse effect on us.
We are involved in various litigation matters in the ordinary course of business, including in some instances class-action cases and patent infringement litigation. If we are unsuccessful in our defense of litigation matters, we may be forced to pay damages and/or change our business practices, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Unfavorable resolution of tax contingencies or unfavorable future tax law changes could adversely affect our tax expense.
Our tax returns and positions are subject to review and audit by federal, state, local and international taxing authorities. An unfavorable outcome to a tax audit could result in higher tax expense and could negatively impact our effective tax rate, financial position, results of operations and cash flows in the current and/or future periods. On December 15, 2022, the European Union ("EU") Member States formally adopted the EU’s Pillar Two Directive, which generally provides for a minimum effective tax rate of 15%, as established by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development Pillar Two Framework that was supported by over 130 countries worldwide. The EU effective dates are January 1, 2024, and January 1, 2025, for different aspects of the directive. A significant number of countries are also implementing similar legislation. We are monitoring developments, including countries that have enacted legislation, and do not currently expect a material adverse impact to the financial statements. We will continue to evaluate Pillar Two legislation and other future tax law changes that could result in negative impacts. In addition, tax-law amendments in the U.S. and other jurisdictions could significantly impact how U.S. multinational corporations are taxed. Although we cannot predict whether or in what form such legislation will pass, if enacted it could have an adverse effect on our business and financial results.
A material weakness in our internal controls could have a material adverse effect on us.
Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reasonable assurance with respect to our financial reports and to adequately mitigate risk of fraud. If we cannot provide reasonable assurance with respect to our financial reports and adequately mitigate risk of fraud, our reputation and operating results could be harmed. Internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements because of its inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error, the circumvention or overriding of controls, or fraud. Therefore, even effective internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. A material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting could adversely impact our ability to provide timely and accurate financial information. If we are unable to report financial information timely and accurately or to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected.
We may not be able to achieve the cost savings target of our Future Forward program.
One of the goals of our ongoing Future Forward initiative is to achieve significant cost savings across the enterprise. We have reiterated a cash savings target of $1 billion, of which over 75 percent represents run-rate cash savings, on a continuing operations basis exiting 2024. We may not be able to achieve this cost savings target on our desired timeframe, or at all, for many reasons, including contractual constraints, potential operational disruptions to our business, or unanticipated business costs or inefficiencies. If we are unable to achieve the financial goals set by Future Forward, or if our efforts as part of Future Forward result in unintended disruptions to our business, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected.
Risks Related to Business Combinations and Ventures
We may not achieve the anticipated benefits of our recently completed Worldpay Sale, and we may also be exposed to new risks following the sale.
On January 31, 2024, we completed the Worldpay Sale. We may not realize the anticipated strategic, financial, operational or other benefits from the sale within the expected timeframe, in full or at all, and there can be no assurance that the costs or revenue or expense dis-synergies of the sale will not ultimately exceed anticipated amounts. The anticipated benefits to us from the sale, including our retention of a 45% equity interest in the Joint Venture that owns the assets and liabilities of the Worldpay
22

Table of Contents
Merchant Solutions business, are based on a number of assumptions, some of which may prove incorrect. While we have certain governance rights in the form of board representation and veto rights over certain significant actions that enable us to exercise some influence, we no longer control the management or policies of the Worldpay business. To the extent of our investment in Worldpay, we are exposed to all of the business risks applicable to its results of operations and financial condition, many of which are similar to the risks to which our wholly-owned operations are subject, such as risks arising from economic conditions and reductions in consumer spending, as well as to other risks which apply specifically to the merchant acquiring business.
As a result of the sale, our operational and financial profiles have changed. While the sale has enabled us to focus on our Banking Solutions and Capital Markets Solutions business, it has also made our revenue sources less diversified, and our results of operations, cash flows, working capital and financing requirements will be more exposed to developments affecting financial institutions as a result of the increased concentration of our business on serving such customers. Additionally, the shares of our common stock now represent an investment in a smaller company than existed prior to the completion of the sale, and our proportionate exposure to the risks inherent in our remaining businesses has increased. Further, we have incurred and will incur various one-time or ongoing costs in connection with, or as a result of, the sale. Those costs may exceed our estimates or could negate some of the benefits we expected to realize from the sale.
We plan to use the net proceeds from the sale t o retire debt and to return additional capital to shareholders through our existing share repurchase authorization, as well as for general corporate purposes, while maintaining an investment grade credit rating. These uses of the net proceeds of the sale may not improve our results of operations or cash flows or may not be achieved in the amounts or on the timelines anticipated. We are also potentially subject to unforeseen costs and expenses following the sale, including additional general and administrative costs, costs of dis-synergies, restructuring costs and other unanticipated costs and expenses. In addition, we have continuing operational and financial obligations to Worldpay pursuant to the commercial agreements and transition services agreements that were entered into between FIS and Worldpay at closing. These ongoing arrangements will require significant management and operational resources, will require us to incur costs to provide the transition services and other support we will provide to Worldpay in the near term and may reduce our ability to fully realize cost savings and efficiency initiatives that we would otherwise have been able to implement following the closing of the sale. There can be no assurance that the commercial arrangements with Worldpay, including those relating to client referrals, will result in revenue to us in anticipated amounts.
Strategic transactions, including acquisitions and divestitures, involve significant risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Strategic acquisitions and divestitures we have made in the past, and may make in the future, present significant risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. These risks include the following:
•difficulty in evaluating potential acquisitions, including the risk that our due diligence does not identify or fully assess valuation issues, potential liabilities or other acquisition risks;
•difficulty and expense in integrating newly acquired businesses and operations, including combining solution and service offerings, and in entering into new markets in which we are not experienced, in an efficient and cost-effective manner while maintaining adequate standards, controls and procedures, and the risk that we encounter significant unanticipated costs or other problems associated with integration;
•difficulty and expense in consolidating and rationalizing IT infrastructure and integrating acquired software;
•challenges in achieving strategic objectives, cost savings and other benefits expected from acquisitions;
•risk that our markets do not evolve as anticipated and that the strategic acquisitions and divestitures do not prove to be those needed to be successful in those markets;
•risk that acquired systems expose us to cybersecurity and other data security risks;
•costs to reach appropriate standards to protect against cybersecurity and other data security risks or timeline to achieve such standards may exceed those estimated in diligence;
•risk that acquired companies are subject to new regulatory regimes or oversight where we have limited experience that may result in additional compliance costs and potential regulatory penalties;
•risk that we assume or retain, or that companies we have acquired have assumed or retained or otherwise become subject to, significant liabilities that exceed the limitations of any applicable indemnification provisions or the financial resources of any indemnifying parties;
•risk that indemnification related to businesses divested or spun-off that we may be required to provide or otherwise bear may be significant and could negatively impact our business;
•risk of exposure to potential liabilities arising out of applicable state and federal fraudulent conveyance laws and legal distribution requirements from spin-offs in which we or companies we have acquired were involved;
23

Table of Contents
•risk that we may be responsible for U.S. federal income tax liabilities related to acquisitions or divestitures;
•risk that we are not able to complete strategic divestitures on satisfactory terms and conditions, including non-competition arrangements applicable to certain of our business lines, or within expected time frames;
•potential loss of key employees or customers of the businesses acquired or to be divested; and
•risk of diverting the attention of senior management from our existing operations.
We have substantial goodwill and other intangible assets recorded as a result of acquisitions, and a severe or extended economic downturn could cause these assets to become impaired, requiring write-downs that would reduce our operating income.
As of December 31, 2023, goodwill aggregated to $17.0 billion, or 31% of total assets, and intangible assets aggregated to $1.8 billion, or 3% of total assets. Current accounting rules require goodwill to be assessed for impairment at least annually or whenever changes in circumstances indicate potential impairment and require intangible assets with finite useful lives to be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Factors that may be considered a change in circumstance include significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results, a significant decline in our stock price and market capitalization, and negative industry or economic trends. If worldwide or U.S. economic conditions decline significantly with prolonged negative impacts to bank spending and consumer behavior, or if other business or market changes significantly impact our outlook, then the remaining carrying amount of our goodwill and other intangible assets may no longer be recoverable, and we may be required to record an impairment charge, which would have a negative impact on our results of operations. We will continue to monitor the fair value of our reporting units and other intangible assets as well as our market capitalization and the impact of any prolonged economic downturn on our business to determine the likelihood of impairment.
Risks Related to Our Indebtedness
Our existing debt levels and future levels under existing facilities and debt service requirements may adversely affect FIS, including our financial condition or business flexibility, and prevent us from fulfilling our obligations under our outstanding indebtedness.
As of December 31, 2023, we had total debt of approximately $19.1 billion. On January 31, 2024, we completed the Worldpay Sale. We intend to the use a portion of the proceeds from the sale to repay or otherwise retire approximately $9.0 billion of debt during 2024. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to complete any such repayment transactions on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Our level of debt or any increase in our debt level could adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results and operational flexibility, including the following: (i) the debt level may cause us to have difficulty borrowing money in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other purposes; (ii) our debt level may limit operational flexibility and our ability to pursue business opportunities and implement certain business strategies; (iii) some of our debt has a variable rate of interest, which exposes us to the risk of increased interest rates; (iv) we have a higher level of debt than some of our competitors or potential competitors, which may cause a competitive disadvantage and may reduce flexibility in responding to changing business and economic conditions, including increased competition and vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions; (v) there are significant maturities on our debt that we may not be able to repay at maturity or that may be refinanced at higher rates; and (vi) if we fail to satisfy our obligations under our outstanding debt or fail to comply with the financial or other restrictive covenants contained in the indenture governing our senior notes, or our credit facility, an event of default could result that could cause all of our debt to become due and payable.
Our Euro- and GBP-denominated indebtedness has increased in recent years; accordingly, we have increased exposure to fluctuations in the Euro-USD and GBP-USD exchange rates, which could negatively affect our cost to service or refinance our Euro- and GBP-denominated debt securities.
In recent years, our indebtedness denominated in Euro or GBP has significantly increased as a result of our issuance of senior notes of varying maturities and our issuance of Euro-denominated commercial paper. At December 31, 2023, the Company had outstanding approximately €4.5 billion aggregate principal amount of Euro-denominated senior notes, approximately €1.9 billion aggregate principal amount of Euro-denominated commercial paper and approximately £0.9 billion aggregate principal amount of GBP-denominated senior notes, or the combined equivalent of approximately $8.3 billion aggregate principal amount. We expect to reduce the aggregate principal amount of our Euro- and GBP-denominated debt in 2024 as we retire debt with a portion of the proceeds of the Worldpay Sale.
24

Table of Contents
Although we currently have substantial available cash flows in excess of the projected debt service requirements on our existing Euro and GBP-denominated debt, we cannot assure that we will always be able to continue generating earnings in Euros and GBP in amounts sufficient, taking into account the funding requirements and other needs of our business, to make payments of interest and/or repayment of principal on our Euro and GBP senior debt, or to permit us to economically borrow in those currencies if needed to refinance our existing Euro and GBP debt. If our cash flows in Euros or GBP are insufficient for such purposes, we may need to exchange U.S. Dollars or funds in other currencies to make such payments, which could result in increased costs to us in the event of adverse changes in currency exchange rates. We have utilized and expect to continue to utilize foreign currency forward contracts and other hedges on a limited basis in an effort to mitigate currency risk, but we cannot assure that such hedging arrangements will be effective or will remain available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, we cannot predict economic and market conditions (including prevailing interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates) at the applicable times when our various series of Euro and GBP senior debt are scheduled to mature, nor can there be any assurance that we would be able to refinance any series of our Euro and GBP senior debt in those currencies on acceptable terms at any such time, all of which could have an adverse financial impact on us.
Rising interest rates could increase our borrowing costs.
Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates to our short-term commercial paper borrowings and Revolving Credit Facility. In the future, we may have additional borrowings under existing or new variable-rate debt. Increases in interest rates on variable-rate debt would increase our interest expense. A rising interest rate environment could increase the cost of refinancing existing debt and incurring new debt, which could have an adverse effect on our financing costs.
Credit ratings, if lowered below investment grade, would adversely affect our cost of funds and liquidity.
The Company maintains investment grade credit ratings from the major U.S. rating agencies on its senior unsecured debt (S&P BBB, Moody's Baa2, Fitch BBB), as well as its commercial paper program (S&P A-2, Moody's P-2, Fitch F2). Failure to maintain investment grade rating levels could adversely affect the Company's cost of funds and liquidity and access to certain capital markets but would not have an adverse effect on the Company's ability to access its existing Revolving Credit Facility. Please note that a security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities, that it may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organization, and that each rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating.
Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information
The statements contained in this Form 10-K or in our other documents or in oral presentations or other management statements that are not purely historical are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the U.S. federal securities laws. Statements that are not historical facts, as well as other statements about our expectations, beliefs, intentions, or strategies regarding the future, or other characterizations of future events or circumstances, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include statements about anticipated financial outcomes, including any earnings outlook or projections, projected revenue or expense synergies or dis-synergies, business and market conditions, outlook, foreign currency exchange rates, deleveraging plans, expected dividends and share repurchases of the Company, the Company's sales pipeline and anticipated profitability and growth, plans, strategies and objectives for future operations, strategic value creation, risk profile and investment strategies, any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance and any statements with respect to the Worldpay Sale or any agreements or arrangements entered into in connection with such transaction, the expected financial and operational results of the Company, and expectations regarding the Company's business or organization after the separation of the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business. These statements may be identified by words such as "expect," "anticipate," "intend," "plan," "believe," "will," "should," "could," "would," "project," "continue," "likely," and similar expressions, and include statements reflecting future results or outlook, statements of outlook and various accruals and estimates. These statements relate to future events and our future results and involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are based on management's beliefs as well as assumptions made by, and information currently available to, management.
Actual results, performance or achievement could differ materially from these forward-looking statements. The risks and uncertainties to which forward-looking statements are subject include the following, without limitation:
•changes in general economic, business and political conditions, including those resulting from COVID-19 or other pandemics, a recession, intensified or expanded international hostilities, acts of terrorism, increased rates of inflation or interest, changes in either or both the United States and international lending, capital and financial markets or currency fluctuations;
25

Table of Contents
•the risk that acquired businesses will not be integrated successfully or that the integration will be more costly or more time-consuming and complex than anticipated;
•the risk that cost savings and synergies anticipated to be realized from acquisitions may not be fully realized or may take longer to realize than expected or that costs may be greater than anticipated;
•the risks of doing business internationally;
•the effect of legislative initiatives or proposals, statutory changes, governmental or applicable regulations and/or changes in industry requirements, including privacy and cybersecurity laws and regulations;
•the risks of reduction in revenue from the elimination of existing and potential customers due to consolidation in, or new laws or regulations affecting, the banking, retail and financial services industries or due to financial failures or other setbacks suffered by firms in those industries;
•changes in the growth rates of the markets for our solutions;
•the amount, declaration and payment of future dividends is at the discretion of our Board of Directors and depends on, among other things, our investment opportunities, results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, future prospects, and other factors that may be considered relevant by our Board of Directors, including legal and contractual restrictions;
•the amount and timing of any future share repurchases is subject to, among other things, our share price, our other investment opportunities and cash requirements, our results of operations and financial condition, our future prospects and other factors that may be considered relevant by our Board of Directors and management;
•failures to adapt our solutions to changes in technology or in the marketplace;
•internal or external security or privacy breaches of our systems, including those relating to unauthorized access, theft, corruption or loss of personal information and computer viruses and other malware affecting our software or platforms, and the reactions of customers, card associations, government regulators and others to any such events;
•the risk that implementation of software, including software updates, for customers or at customer locations or employee error in monitoring our software and platforms may result in the corruption or loss of data or customer information, interruption of business operations, outages, exposure to liability claims or loss of customers;
•the risk that partners and third parties may fail to satisfy their legal obligations to us;
•risks associated with managing pension cost, cybersecurity issues, IT outages and data privacy;
•the reaction of current and potential customers to communications from us or regulators regarding information security, risk management, internal audit or other matters;
•risks associated with the expected benefits and costs of the separation of the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business, including the risk that the expected benefits of the transaction or any contingent purchase price will not be realized within the expected timeframe, in full or at all, or that dis-synergies may be greater than anticipated;
•the risk that the costs of restructuring transactions and other costs incurred in connection with the separation of the Worldpay business will exceed our estimates or otherwise adversely affect our business or operations;
•the impact of the separation of Worldpay on our businesses, including the impact on relationships with customers, governmental authorities, suppliers, employees and other business counterparties;
•the risk that the earnings from our minority stake in the Worldpay business will be less than we anticipate;
•the risk that policies and resulting actions of the current administration in the U.S. may result in additional regulations and executive orders, as well as additional regulatory and tax costs;
•competitive pressures on pricing related to the decreasing number of community banks in the U.S., the development of new disruptive technologies competing with one or more of our solutions, increasing presence of international competitors in the U.S. market and the entry into the market by global banks and global companies with respect to certain competitive solutions, each of which may have the impact of unbundling individual solutions from a comprehensive suite of solutions we provide to many of our customers;
•the failure to innovate in order to keep up with new emerging technologies, which could impact our solutions and our ability to attract new, or retain existing, customers;
•an operational or natural disaster at one of our major operations centers;
•failure to comply with applicable requirements of payment networks or changes in those requirements;
•fraud by bad actors; and
•other risks detailed elsewhere in the "Risk Factors" section and other sections of this report and in our other filings with the SEC.
Other unknown or unpredictable factors also could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are inherently subject to uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict. Except as required by applicable law or regulation, we do not undertake (and expressly disclaim) any obligation and do not intend to publicly update or review any of these forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
26

Table of Contents
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 1C. Cybersecurity
Cybersecurity is fundamental to FIS' complex, global business. As part of our business, FIS, its vendors and technology partners electronically receive, process, store and transmit a wide range of confidential information, including sensitive customer information and consumer personal data. Our operations extend to managing payment systems, cash access and prepaid card systems. Cyberattacks on information technology systems and the vendors and technological supply chain they rely on continue to grow in frequency, complexity and sophistication. This is a trend we expect to continue. Cyberattacks have garnered significant attention from individuals, businesses, governmental entities and the media drawing the focus of a large ecosystem of criminal threat actors. The objectives of these cyberattacks include, among other things, gaining unauthorized access to systems to disrupt operations, steal information, seek ransom payments from victims, perpetrate financial fraud, or sell stolen information. Perpetrators of cyberattacks attempt to exploit technical, human, social, and organizational vulnerabilities to gain unauthorized access. There is a growing trend of identifying and exploiting vulnerabilities in widely used technologies or vendor systems, allowing a single compromise to extend unauthorized access to numerous systems.
FIS takes actions to assess, identify, and manage risks from cybersecurity threats to our information systems and those of our vendors and technology partners. A significant focus of our ongoing efforts is how we identify these vulnerabilities and prevent and respond to cyberattacks. Our processes include the activities of the FIS Cyber Fusion Center, which provides 24x7x365 cybersecurity monitoring and incident response. They also include structured defense-in-depth initiatives, such as perimeter security, remote access security, endpoint security, application security and identity management. In addition, we engage in extensive information security training of our employees who use and access our information systems. Our process for identification and management of risks from cybersecurity threats includes regular communication with cyber experts, engagement of cybersecurity partners to review our systems, regular audits of our information security by third-party assessors and consultants, and regular interactions with vendors and technology partners to oversee and identify material risks associated with the information systems utilized by such persons.
Our process of identifying and remediating cybersecurity risks has been integrated into our overall risk management system and processes. It is overseen by our Chief Information Security Officer and Chief Risk Officer, who report to our Board of Directors and its Risk and Technology Committee on a quarterly basis. The Chief Information Security Officer provides ongoing oversight for the management of cybersecurity risks across the firm leveraging a series of qualitative and quantitative risk assessment routines. Risk escalations are facilitated through the enterprise risk management framework, including the Company's Enterprise Risk Committee and the Board of Directors via the Risk and Technology Committee. Facilitated via regular updates on cybersecurity risk, our Board of Directors takes an active role in overseeing, managing, and setting risk tolerances for our cybersecurity program. Our Chief Information Security Officer has 15 years of technology and cybersecurity experience, including previous senior leadership roles at major financial institutions and possesses industry certifications such as the Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP). Additional leaders and key contributors composing the cybersecurity leadership team possess specific expertise, certifications, and previous work experience aligned to their assigned domains. Our Enterprise Risk Committee, responsible for providing oversight for cybersecurity risks, is a cross-functional representation of senior leadership with requisite experience and expertise to provide risk oversight, including the Chief Risk Officer, Chief Legal Officer, Chief Technology Officer, Chief Compliance Officer, Chief Privacy Officer, and FIS Business Presidents.
FIS remains focused on making additional strategic investments in information security to protect our clients and our information systems from risks from cybersecurity threats. This includes both capital expenditures and operating expenses on hardware, software, staff and consulting services. These investments in the past have been and are reasonably likely to continue to be material to our results of operations. Further, notwithstanding our investments and other processes and efforts described above and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we cannot guarantee that FIS will not be the subject of a cyberattack that would have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operations. See "Risk Factors."
The continued growth in the frequency, complexity and sophistication of cyberattacks presents both a threat and an opportunity for FIS. Using expertise we have gained from our ongoing focus and investment, we have developed and we offer fraud, security, risk management and compliance solutions to target this growth opportunity in the financial services industry. We also use certain of these solutions to manage our own risks.
27

Table of Contents
We have not identified any previous cybersecurity incidents that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. For a full discussion of risks from cybersecurity threats, see the section entitled "Risk Factors" in Item 1A.
Item 2. Properties
FIS' corporate headquarters is located at 347 Riverside Avenue, Jacksonville, Florida. In addition, FIS owns or leases support centers, data processing facilities and other facilities at approximately 80 locations. We believe our facilities and equipment are generally well maintained and are in good operating condition. We believe that the equipment we own and our various facilities are adequate for our present and foreseeable business needs.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
In the ordinary course of business, the Company is involved in various pending and threatened litigation matters related to its business and operations, some of which include claims for punitive or exemplary damages. The Company believes no such currently pending or threatened actions are likely to have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position. With respect to litigation in which the Company is involved generally, please note the following:
•These matters raise difficult and complicated factual and legal issues and are subject to many uncertainties and complexities.
•The Company reviews all of its litigation on an ongoing basis and follows the authoritative provision for accounting for contingencies when making accrual and disclosure decisions. A liability must be accrued if (a) it is probable that a liability has been incurred and (b) the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. If one of these criteria has not been met, disclosure is required when there is at least a reasonable possibility that a material loss may be incurred. When assessing reasonably possible and probable outcomes, the Company bases decisions on the assessment of the ultimate outcome following all appeals. Legal fees associated with defending litigation matters are expensed as incurred.
See Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements for information about certain legal matters and indemnifications and warranties.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol "FIS." As of January 31, 2024, there were approximately 9,580 shareholders of record of our common stock.
In February 2024, the Board of Directors approved a quarterly dividend of $0.36 per share beginning with the first quarter of 2024. A regular quarterly dividend of $0.36 per common share is payable on March 22, 2024, to shareholders of record as of the close of business on March 8, 2024. We currently expect to continue to pay quarterly dividends at a target payout ratio consistent with our capital allocation strategy (without regard to net earnings (loss) attributable to the non-controlling interest that the Company retained in Worldpay post-separation). However, the amount, declaration and payment of future dividends is at the discretion of the Board of Directors and depends on, among other things, our investment opportunities (including potential mergers and acquisitions), results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, future prospects, and other factors, including legal and contractual restrictions, that may be considered relevant by our Board of Directors. Additionally, the payment of cash dividends may be limited by covenants in certain debt agreements.
Item 12 of Part III contains information concerning securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans.
In January 2021, our Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program under which it authorized the Company to repurchase up to 100 million shares of our common stock at management's discretion from time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions and through Rule 10b5-1 plans. The share repurchase program has no expiration date and
28

Table of Contents
may be suspended for periods, amended or discontinued at any time. Under the share repurchase program, the Company repurchased approximately 9 million shares for an aggregate of $0.5 billion in 2023, approximately 21 million shares for an aggregate of $1.8 billion in 2022, and approximately 15 million shares for an aggregate of $2.0 billion during 2021. Approximately 55 million shares remain available for repurchase as of December 31, 2023.
The following table summarizes the shares repurchased by the Company during the three-month period ended December 31, 2023, and the number of shares remaining authorized for repurchase by the Company:

|  |  |  |  |  |  |  | Maximum number
|  |  |  |  |  |  |  | of shares that
|  |  |  |  |  | Total cost of shares |  | may yet be
|  |  |  |  |  | purchased as part of |  | purchased under
|  | Total number of |  |  |  | publicly announced |  | the plans or
|  | shares purchased |  | Average price |  | plans or programs |  | programs
Period |  | (in millions) |  | paid per share |  | (in millions) |  | (in millions)
October 1-31, 2023 |  | — |  |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |  |  | 64.5 |
November 1-30, 2023 |  | 6.4 |  |  | $ | 54.43 |  |  | 347.0 |  |  | 58.2 |
December 1-31, 2023 |  | 2.7 |  |  | $ | 59.40 |  |  | 162.9 |  |  | 55.4 |
|  | 9.1 |  |  |  |  | $ | 509.9 |  |  |

The graph below compares Fidelity National Information Services, Inc.'s cumulative 5-year total shareholder return on common stock with the cumulative total returns of the S&P 500 index and the S&P Supercap Data Processing & Outsourced Services index. The graph tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our common stock and in each index (with the reinvestment of all dividends) from 12/31/2018 to 12/31/2023.
29

Table of Contents

| 12/18 | 12/19 | 12/20 | 12/21 | 12/22 | 12/23
Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. | 100.00 |  | 137.17 | 140.96 | 110.09 | 69.96 | 64.24
S&P 500 | 100.00 |  | 131.49 | 155.68 | 200.37 | 164.08 | 207.21
S&P Supercap Data Processing & Outsourced Services | 100.00 |  | 144.59 | 180.16 | 173.78 | 144.99 | 171.36

The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
Item 6. Reserved
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following section discusses management's view of the financial condition and results of operations of FIS and its consolidated subsidiaries as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, unless otherwise noted.
This section should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements. See "Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information" and "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of this Annual Report for a discussion of the uncertainties, risks and assumptions associated with these forward-looking statements that could cause future results to differ materially from those reflected in this section.
Business Trends and Conditions
Our revenue from continuing operations is primarily derived from a combination of technology and processing solutions, transaction processing fees, professional services and software license fees. While we are a global company and do business around the world, the majority of our revenue is generated by clients in the U.S. The majority of our international revenue is generated by clients in the U.K., Germany, Canada, Brazil, Australia and Switzerland. In addition, the majority of our revenue has historically been recurring and has been provided under multi-year Banking and Capital Markets contracts that contribute relative stability to our revenue stream. These solutions, in general, are considered critical to our clients' operations. Professional services revenue is typically non-recurring, though recognition often occurs over time rather than at a point in time. Sales of software licenses are typically non-recurring with point-in-time recognition and are less predictable.
The U.S. and Europe, the two largest geographic areas for our businesses, are experiencing slower economic growth than in previous years. Lengthening sales cycles observed in 2022, particularly for large Banking transactions with a total contract value in excess of $50 million, persisted during most of 2023, which we believe resulted from economic uncertainty. We also experienced, and continue to experience, higher rates of inflation in these markets, including increasing wage and benefits rates, which management believes is in part due to inflation and in part due to competitive job markets for the skilled employees who support our businesses, as well as increasing non-labor-related costs. The magnitude of future effects of slower economic growth, including lengthy sales cycles and inflation, is difficult to predict, although these factors have had an adverse effect on our results of operations and, to the extent they persist, may continue to have a negative effect. Rising interest rates have had, and may continue to have, a negative impact on our interest expense; however, planned debt reduction is expected to decrease our total interest expense. In 2022, the strengthening of the U.S. dollar had a negative impact on our revenue and earnings, while in 2023, impacts of foreign currency fluctuations were slightly favorable. Given the volatility of exchange rates and the mix of currencies involved in both revenues and expenses, the direction and magnitude of future effects of currency fluctuations are uncertain. The combined effect of the factors noted above resulted in 2023 revenue growth being slower than in 2022, and 2023 net earnings declined compared to 2022. Over the longer term, we are targeting improvements in revenue growth and margins to the extent of improving economic conditions and in response to planned management actions, including our Future Forward program discussed below.
Slowing growth trends affecting our discontinued operations observed over the second half of 2022, reflecting both slower economic growth, particularly in the U.K., and competitive pressures, continued over the course of 2023. In 2022, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $17.6 billion related to the held-for-sale reporting unit, reflecting our intermediate-term growth expectations. In the second quarter of 2023, we recorded an additional $6.8 billion goodwill impairment, reflective of the price at which we agreed to sell a majority interest in the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business to Buyer as discussed further below. See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for further details on the goodwill impairments. Also as discussed in Note 3, the Company recorded a $1.9 billion valuation allowance against the assets held for sale in the disposal group, primarily as a result of the exclusion of certain deferred tax liabilities that were not transferring to the Joint Venture in the Worldpay Sale. As of January 31, 2024, the closing date of the Worldpay Sale, the assets held for sale, net of the valuation
30

Table of Contents
allowance, and the liabilities held for sale were derecognized, and any additional gain or loss on sale will be recorded in our discontinued operations for the first quarter of 2024.
On January 31, 2024, the Company completed the previously announced Worldpay Sale for cash consideration in a transaction valuing the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business at an enterprise value of $18.5 billion, including $1.0 billion of consideration contingent on the returns realized by Buyer exceeding certain thresholds. The net cash proceeds received by FIS at the closing were greater than $12 billion, net of estimated closing adjustments, debt restructuring fees, taxes and transaction costs. The closing adjustments relate to estimated closing levels of the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business' debt, working capital relative to an agreed target and available cash relative to an agreed minimum of not less than $1.5 billion and will be trued-up post-closing. We intend to use proceeds from the sale to retire debt and return additional capital to shareholders through our existing share repurchase authorization, as well as for general corporate purposes, including acquisitions, while maintaining an investment grade credit rating. As of the closing, we retained a non-controlling 45% ownership interest in a new standalone Joint Venture. In future reports, FIS' share of the net income of the Joint Venture will be reported as equity method investment earnings (loss). In connection with the sale, FIS and Worldpay have entered into commercial agreements, preserving a key value proposition for clients of both businesses and minimizing potential dis-synergies. FIS and Worldpay also entered into additional agreements as described in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
In November 2022, we launched an enterprise-wide efficiency program, Future Forward, with a focus on streamlining operations, accelerating time to market of new solutions and improving profitability and cash flow. As of December 31, 2023, on a continuing operations basis, we achieved annualized run-rate Future Forward cash savings of over $550 million exiting the quarter, including over $370 million of operational expense savings and approximately $180 million of capital expense savings. We continue to expect cash savings exiting 2024 of $1.0 billion, of which over 75 percent represents run-rate cash savings.
We continue to assist financial institutions and other businesses in migrating to outsourced integrated technology solutions to improve their profitability and address increasing and ongoing regulatory requirements. As a provider of outsourced solutions, we benefit from multi-year recurring revenue streams, which help moderate the effects of broader year-to-year economic and market changes that otherwise might have a larger impact on our results of operations. We believe our integrated solutions and outsourced services are well-positioned to address this outsourcing trend across the markets we serve.
We continue to invest in modernization, innovation and integrated solutions to meet the demands of the markets we serve and compete with global banks, financial and other technology providers, and emerging technology innovators. We invest both internally and through investment opportunities in companies building complementary technologies in the financial services space. Our internal development activities have related primarily to the modernization of our proprietary core systems in each of our segments, design and development of next-generation digital and innovative solutions and development of processing systems and related software applications and risk management platforms. We expect to continue to invest an appropriate level of resources to maintain, enhance and extend the functionality of our proprietary systems and existing software applications, to develop new and innovative software applications and systems to address emerging technology trends in response to the needs of our clients, and to enhance the capabilities of our outsourcing infrastructure.
Consumer preference continues to shift from traditional branch banking services to digital banking solutions, and our clients seek to provide a single integrated banking experience through their branch, mobile, internet and voice banking channels. We have been providing our large regional banking customers in the U.S. with Digital One, an integrated digital banking platform, and are now adding functionality and offering Digital One to our community bank clients to provide a consistent, omnichannel experience for consumers of banking services across self-service channels like mobile banking and online banking, as well as supporting channels for bank staff operating in bank branches and contact centers. The uniform customer experience extends to support a broad range of financial services including opening new accounts, servicing of existing accounts, money movement, and personal financial management, as well as other consumer, small business and commercial banking capabilities. Digital One is integrated into several of the core banking platforms offered by FIS and is also offered to customers of non-FIS core banking systems.
Consolidation within the banking industry has occurred and may continue, primarily in the form of merger and acquisition activity among financial institutions, which we believe would broadly be detrimental to the profitability of the financial technology industry. However, consolidation resulting from specific merger and acquisition transactions may be beneficial to our business. When consolidations of financial institutions occur, merger partners often operate systems obtained from competing service providers. The newly formed entity generally makes a determination to migrate its core and payments systems to a single platform. When a financial institution processing client is involved in a consolidation, we may benefit by their expanding the use of our solutions if such solutions are chosen to survive the consolidation and to support the newly combined entity. Conversely, we may lose revenue if we are providing solutions to both entities, or if a client of ours is
31

Table of Contents
involved in a consolidation and our solutions are not chosen to support the newly combined entity. It is also possible that larger financial institutions resulting from consolidation may have greater leverage in negotiating terms or could decide to perform in-house some or all of the solutions that we currently provide or could provide. We seek to mitigate the risks of consolidations by offering other competitive solutions to take advantage of specific opportunities at the surviving company.
Recent U.S. bank failures could negatively impact our results to the extent more of our customers become illiquid; however, our current exposure to recent closures is limited, and we may be a long-term beneficiary of these closures. As a leading provider of financial technology services to the top 100 U.S. banks by asset size as well as other global financial institutions, FIS boasts a highly diversified customer base, with no single customer accounting for more than approximately 2% of 2023 revenue from continuing operations. With respect to U.S. financial institution customers that closed during 2023, FIS expects to continue to provide services for the majority of these banks, and our revenue exposure from potential contract terminations related to these banks is not material. Further, FIS' core banking customer contracts are generally structured with fees that increase based on the number of active accounts or transactions rather than the amount of deposits. Thus, to the extent account volume increases, we are positioned to benefit from this growth as a leading core banking services provider to large financial institutions.
We continue to see demand in the payments market for innovative solutions that will deliver faster, more convenient payment options in mobile channels, internet applications, in-store cards, and digital currencies. The payment processing industry is adopting new technologies, developing new solutions, evolving new business models, and being affected by new market entrants and by an evolving regulatory environment. As financial institutions respond to these changes by seeking solutions to help them enhance their own offerings to consumers, including the ability to accept card-not-present payments in eCommerce and mobile environments as well as contactless cards and mobile wallets at the point of sale, FIS believes that payment processors will seek to develop additional capabilities in order to serve clients' evolving needs. To facilitate this expansion, we believe that payment processors will need to enhance their technology platforms so they can deliver these capabilities and differentiate their offerings from other providers.
We believe that these market changes present both an opportunity and a risk for us, and we cannot predict which emerging technologies or solutions will be successful. However, FIS believes that payment processors, like FIS, that have scalable, integrated business models, provide solutions across the payment processing value chain and utilize broad distribution capabilities will be best-positioned to enable emerging alternative electronic payment technologies in the long term. Further, FIS believes that its depth of capabilities and breadth of distribution will enhance its position as emerging payment technologies are adopted by merchants and other businesses. FIS' ability to partner with non-financial institution enterprises, such as mobile payment providers and internet, retail and social media companies, continues to create attractive growth opportunities as these new entrants seek to become more active participants in the development of alternative electronic payment technologies and to facilitate the convergence of retail, online, mobile and social commerce applications.
Cyberattacks on information technology systems and the vendors and technological supply chain they rely on continue to grow in frequency, complexity and sophistication. This is a trend we expect to continue. The continued growth in the frequency, complexity and sophistication of cyberattacks presents both a threat and an opportunity for FIS. Using expertise we have gained from our ongoing focus and investment, we have developed and we offer fraud, security, risk management and compliance solutions to target this growth opportunity in the financial services industry. We also use certain of these solutions to manage our own risks. See Item 1C for additional discussion of how the Company assesses, identifies, and manages cybersecurity risks.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The accounting policies and estimates described below are those we consider critical in preparing our consolidated financial statements. These policies require management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures with respect to contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates. See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for a more detailed description of the significant accounting policies that have been followed in preparing our consolidated financial statements.
Revenue Recognition
Application of GAAP related to the measurement and recognition of revenue requires us to make judgments and estimates. Specifically, complex arrangements with nonstandard terms and conditions may require significant contract interpretation in the
32

Table of Contents
determination of distinct performance obligations. Other judgments may include the evaluation of the standalone selling price for each performance obligation and whether separate contracts should be combined and considered part of one arrangement.
The determination as to whether individual promised solutions or services can be considered distinct or should instead be combined with other promised solutions or services in a contract may require judgment. We assess the solutions and services promised in our contracts with customers and identify a performance obligation for each promise to transfer to the customer a solution or service (or bundle of solutions or services) that is distinct - i.e., if a solution or service is separately identifiable from other items in the bundled package and if a customer can benefit from it on its own or with other resources that are readily available to the customer.
Due to the large number, broad nature and average size of our individual customer contracts, the impact of judgments and assumptions that we apply in recognizing revenue for any single contract is not likely to have a material effect on our consolidated operations or financial position. However, the accounting policies that we apply across similar contracts, products or classes of clients could significantly influence the timing and amount of revenue recognized in our historical and future results of operations or financial position.
Purchase Accounting
We allocate the purchase price of acquired businesses to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction at their estimated fair values. The estimates used to determine the fair value of long-lived assets, such as intangible assets and software, are complex and require a significant amount of management judgment. We typically engage third-party valuation specialists to assist us in making fair value determinations. The third-party valuation specialists generally use discounted cash flow models, which require internally-developed assumptions, to determine the acquisition fair value of customer relationship intangible assets and developed technology software assets. Assumptions for customer relationship asset valuations typically include forecasted revenue attributable to existing customer contracts and relationships, estimated annual attrition, forecasted margin, and estimated weighted average cost of capital and discount rates. Assumptions for software asset valuations typically include forecasted revenue attributable to the software assets, obsolescence rates, estimated royalty rates and estimated weighted average cost of capital and discount rates. The forecasted revenue and margins used in the discounted cash flow models are critical estimates in determining the fair value of customer relationships and developed technology software assets as these estimates are influenced by many factors including historical financial information and management’s expectation for future operating results as a combined company.
While we use our best estimates and assumptions to determine the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, our estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement. As a result, during the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, we record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to our consolidated statements of earnings.
We had no significant business combinations during 2023 and 2022.
Goodwill Impairment
The Company assesses goodwill for impairment by reporting unit on an annual basis during the fourth quarter or more frequently if circumstances indicate potential impairment. Our reporting units are the same as our primary operating segments, with additional reporting units for certain non-strategic businesses within the Corporate and Other segment. Goodwill impairment assessments require a significant amount of management judgment, and a meaningful change in one or more of the underlying forecasts, estimates, or assumptions used in testing goodwill for impairment could result in a material impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations. Based on the results of our assessments, goodwill of the reporting units in our continuing operations was not impaired in any of the periods presented.
Our annual impairment test may first consider qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's carrying amount exceeds its fair value. Qualitative factors include macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, cost factors, overall financial performance and events affecting the reporting unit or Company as a whole, including a sustained decrease in stock price. As a result of the qualitative assessment, if we conclude that it is more likely than not that the reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying amount as a result of the qualitative assessment, or we elect to bypass the qualitative assessment for a reporting unit, then we must perform a quantitative assessment for that reporting unit.
When a quantitative assessment is triggered or elected, we typically engage third-party valuation specialists to assist us in determining the fair value of the reporting unit based on the weighted average of two valuation techniques: an income approach
33

Table of Contents
(also known as the discounted cash flow method) and a market approach. The income approach calculates a value based upon the present value of estimated future cash flows, while the market approach uses earnings multiples of similarly situated guideline public companies. The income approach involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions regarding forecasted revenue, growth rates, operating margins, capital expenditures, and other factors used to calculate estimated future cash flows. In addition, risk-adjusted discount rates and future economic and market conditions and other assumptions are applied. The market approach involves the selection of guideline public companies and earnings multiples considering factors such as markets of operation, solutions offered, and risk profiles. The income approach used to assess goodwill for impairment is a critical estimate because the forecasted revenue growth rate and margin assumptions (including long-term growth assumptions) underlying the estimated future cash flows are subject to management’s judgment based upon the best available market information, internal forecasts and operating plans. A deterioration in these assumptions could adversely impact our results. The income approach is also particularly sensitive to the risk-adjusted discount rate selected.
For our Banking and Capital Markets reporting units, for which previous third-party valuations have historically indicated substantial excess of fair value over carrying amounts, our 2021 qualitative annual assessment concluded that it remained more likely than not that the fair value of each of the reporting units continued to exceed their respective carrying amounts. For 2022, we performed a quantitative annual assessment which again concluded that the fair values of these reporting units substantially exceeded their respective carrying amounts. For 2023, we performed a qualitative annual assessment of these reporting units and concluded that it remained more likely than not that the fair values of these reporting units continued to exceed their respective carrying amounts. Given the substantial excess of fair value over carrying amounts, we believe the likelihood of obtaining materially different results based on a change of assumptions to be low.
Related-Party Transactions
We are a party to certain historical related-party agreements as discussed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements. In connection with the closing of the Worldpay Sale, we entered into several agreements with certain Worldpay entities, as further described in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
Consolidated Results of Operations

| Year ended December 31, |  | $ Change |  | % Change
|  |  |  |  |  |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs
| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
| (In millions) |  |  |  |
Revenue | $ | 9,821 |  |  | $ | 9,719 |  |  | $ | 9,339 |  |  | $ | 102 |  |  | $ | 380 |  |  | 1 | % |  | 4 | %
Cost of revenue | (6,145) |  |  | (6,216) |  |  | (5,990) |  |  | 71 |  |  | (226) |  |  | (1) |  |  | 4 |
Gross profit | 3,676 |  |  | 3,503 |  |  | 3,349 |  |  | 173 |  |  | 154 |  |  | 5 |  |  | 5 |
Gross profit margin | 37 | % |  | 36 | % |  | 36 | % |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Selling, general and administrative expenses | (2,096) |  |  | (2,182) |  |  | (2,115) |  |  | 86 |  |  | (67) |  |  | (4) |  |  | 3 |
Asset impairments | (113) |  |  | (103) |  |  | (194) |  |  | (10) |  |  | 91 |  |  | NM |  | NM
Operating income | 1,467 |  |  | 1,218 |  |  | 1,040 |  |  | 249 |  |  | 178 |  |  | 20 |  |  | 17 |
Operating margin | 15 | % |  | 13 | % |  | 11 | % |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |

Revenue
Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased primarily due to strong recurring revenue growth in the Banking and Capital Markets segments.
Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022, increased primarily due to strong recurring revenue growth in the Banking and Capital Markets segments. Revenue was negatively impacted by unfavorable foreign currency movements, primarily related to a stronger U.S. Dollar versus the British Pound Sterling and Euro. See "Segment Results of Operations" below for more detailed explanation.
34

Table of Contents
Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin
Cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023, decreased due to lower intangible asset amortization resulting primarily from using accelerated amortization methods which apply a declining rate over time, contributing to higher gross profit and gross profit margin.
Cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022, increased due to the revenue variances noted above and cost inflation, partially offset by lower intangible asset amortization resulting primarily from foreign currency movements. Gross profit increased primarily due to revenue variances noted above. Gross profit margin was essentially flat when comparing 2022 to 2021.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023, decreased primarily due to lower acquisition, integration and other costs partially offset by inflation, which increased corporate expenses as compared to the prior year period.
Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022, increased primarily due to higher compensation and acquisition-related expenses. The 2021 period included accelerated stock compensation expense recorded associated with the establishment of the Qualified Retirement Equity Program that modified our existing stock compensation plans as described in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
Asset Impairments
The year ended December 31, 2023, included impairments primarily related to the termination of certain internally developed software projects. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company also recorded impairments related to real estate, a non-strategic business and certain software assets.
For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded impairments primarily related to real estate, a non-strategic business and certain software assets. During 2021, the Company recorded impairments primarily related to certain software and deferred contract cost assets driven by the Company's platform modernization.
Operating Income and Operating Margin
The annual change in operating income and operating margin for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 resulted from the revenue and cost variances noted above.
Total Other Income (Expense), Net

| Year ended December 31, |  | $ Change |  | % Change
|  |  |  |  |  |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs
| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Other income (expense): | (In millions) |  |  |  |
Interest expense, net | $ | (621) |  |  | $ | (281) |  |  | $ | (212) |  |  | $ | (340) |  |  | $ | (69) |  |  | (121) | % |  | (33) | %
Other income (expense), net | (183) |  |  | 4 |  |  | (109) |  |  | (187) |  |  | $ | 113 |  |  | NM |  | NM
Total other income (expense), net | $ | (804) |  |  | $ | (277) |  |  | $ | (321) |  |  | (527) |  |  | $ | 44 |  |  | NM |  | NM

The increase in interest expense, net during the year ended December 31, 2023, was primarily due to higher interest rates on our variable-rate debt, including the impact of our fixed-to-variable interest rate swaps discussed further in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, offset in part by increased interest income.
The increase in interest expense, net during the year ended December 31, 2022, was primarily due to increased interest expense on senior notes refinanced in 2022 and our variable-rate instruments.
Other income (expense), net for the periods presented consists of various income and expense items outside of the Company's operating activities, including foreign currency transaction remeasurement gains and losses; realized and unrealized gains and losses on equity security investments, including impairment losses on these investments; and fair value adjustments
35

Table of Contents
on certain non-operating assets and liabilities, including certain derivatives as further described in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
The $(187) million net change in Other income (expense), net during the year ended December 31, 2023, related primarily to foreign currency transaction remeasurement losses and the impact of the change in fair value of interest rate swaps accounted for as economic hedges during the year ended December 31, 2023. See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion of the interest rate swaps.
The $113 million net change in Other income (expense), net during the year ended December 31, 2022, related primarily to several events that were recorded in the results for the year ended December 31, 2021, and were not repeated in 2022, including a loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately $(528) million (as discussed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements), partially offset by a gain on the sale of our equity ownership interest in Cardinal Holdings of approximately $225 million (as discussed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements) and a gain of $174 million related to fair value adjustments on equity security investments.
Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

| Year ended December 31, |  | $ Change |  | % Change
|  |  |  |  |  |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs
| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
| (In millions) |  |  |  |
Provision (benefit) for income taxes | $ | 157 |  |  | $ | 325 |  |  | $ | 403 |  |  | $ | (168) |  |  | $ | (78) |  |  | NM |  | NM
Effective tax rate | 24 | % |  | 35 | % |  | 56 | % |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |

The decrease in the effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2023, was predominately driven by the decrease in GAAP pre-tax earnings.
The effective tax rate for 2021 includes the one-time net remeasurement of certain deferred tax liabilities due to the increase in the U.K. corporate statutory tax rate from 19% to 25% effective April 1, 2023, enacted on June 10, 2021.
Discontinued Operations

| Year ended December 31, |  | $ Change |  | % Change
|  |  |  |  |  |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs
| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
| (In millions) |  |  |  |
Revenue | $ | 4,859 |  |  | $ | 4,809 |  |  | $ | 4,538 |  |  | $ | 50 |  |  | $ | 271 |  |  | 1 | % |  | 6 | %
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations related to major classes of pre-tax earnings (loss) | $ | (5,549) |  |  | $ | (17,276) |  |  | $ | 65 |  |  | 11,727 |  |  | (17,341) |  |  | NM |  | NM
Loss on assets held for sale | $ | (1,909) |  |  | $ | — |  |  | $ | — |  |  | (1,909) |  |  | — |  |  | NM |  | NM
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax attributable to FIS | $ | (7,157) |  |  | $ | (17,328) |  |  | $ | 97 |  |  | 10,171 |  |  | (17,425) |  |  | NM |  | NM

Revenue from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased from the prior year primarily due to eCommerce volume growth.
Revenue from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2022, increased from the prior year primarily due to eCommerce volume growth, aided by the ongoing global economic recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic.
For the year ended December 31, 2023, earnings (loss) from discontinued operations related to major classes of pre-tax earnings (loss) was primarily a result of a $6.8 billion goodwill impairment recorded as discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
For the year ended December 31, 2022, earnings (loss) from discontinued operations related to major classes of pre-tax earnings (loss) was primarily a result of a $17.6 billion goodwill impairment recorded as discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
36

Table of Contents
For the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded a pre-tax loss on the disposal of discontinued operations of $1.9 billion, reflecting the establishment of a valuation allowance to reduce the Worldpay Merchant Solutions disposal group's carrying value down to fair value less cost to sell as discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
For the year ended December 31, 2023, loss from discontinued operations, net of tax decreased primarily due to a reduction in the goodwill impairment recorded during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the goodwill impairment recorded during the year ended December 31, 2022, partially offset by the valuation allowance recorded in the third and fourth quarters of 2023, as noted above.
For the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to 2021, the loss from discontinued operations, net of tax was driven primarily due to the goodwill impairment recorded during the year ended December 31, 2022, as discussed above.
Segment Results of Operations
FIS reports its financial performance based on the following segments: Banking Solutions, Capital Market Solutions, and Corporate and Other.
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net earnings (loss) before net interest expense, net other income (expense), income tax provision (benefit), depreciation and amortization, and excludes certain costs and other transactions that management deems non-operational in nature or that otherwise improve the comparability of operating results across reporting periods by their exclusion. This measure is reported to the chief operating decision maker for purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to the segments and assessing their performance. For this reason, Adjusted EBITDA, as it relates to our segments, is presented in conformity with FASB ASC Topic 280, Segment Reporting. The items affecting the segment profit measure generally include purchase price amortization of acquired intangible assets as well as acquisition, integration and certain other costs and asset impairments. These costs and adjustments are recorded in the Corporate and Other segment for the periods discussed below. Adjusted EBITDA for the respective segments excludes the foregoing costs and adjustments. Financial information, including details of Adjusted EBITDA, for each of our segments is set forth in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
Banking Solutions

| Years ended December 31, |  | $ Change |  | % Change
|  |  |  |  |  |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs
| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
| (In millions) |  |  |  |
Revenue | $ | 6,733 |  |  | $ | 6,624 |  |  | $ | 6,361 |  |  | $ | 109 |  |  | $ | 263 |  |  | 2 | % |  | 4 | %
Adjusted EBITDA | $ | 2,928 |  |  | $ | 2,882 |  |  | $ | 2,894 |  |  | 46 |  |  | (12) |  |  | 2 |  |  | — |
Adjusted EBITDA margin | 43.5 | % |  | 43.5 | % |  | 45.5 | % |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Adjusted EBITDA margin basis points change | — |  |  | (200) |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |

Year ended December 31, 2023, compared to 2022:
Revenue in our Banking segment increased 2% for the year ended December 31, 2023. Recurring revenue contributed 3% to total segment growth, as payments volumes increased year over year, including in our commercial services and value-added processing businesses. Non-recurring and professional services revenue contributed a combined (1%) to total segment growth.
Adjusted EBITDA increased year over year due to the revenue impacts noted above and savings generated from the Company's Future Forward initiatives. Adjusted EBITDA margin was flat year over year, as Future Forward cost savings offset unfavorable revenue mix year over year, including a reduction in high-margin license and termination fee revenue.
Year ended December 31, 2022, compared to 2021:
Revenue in our Banking segment increased 4% for the year ended December 31, 2022. Recurring revenue contributed 5% to total segment growth, primarily due to the ramp-up of several large contracts. Revenue was negatively impacted by foreign
37

Table of Contents
currency movements, which contributed (1%) to total segment growth primarily related to a stronger U.S. Dollar versus the Euro and the British Pound Sterling.
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin decreased as the revenue impacts noted above were offset by lower-margin revenue mix and cost inflation.
Capital Market Solutions

| Years ended December 31, |  | $ Change |  | % Change
|  |  |  |  |  |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs
| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
| (In millions) |  |  |  |
Revenue | $ | 2,766 |  |  | $ | 2,631 |  |  | $ | 2,495 |  |  | $ | 135 |  |  | $ | 136 |  |  | 5 | % |  | 5 | %
Adjusted EBITDA | $ | 1,390 |  |  | $ | 1,338 |  |  | $ | 1,235 |  |  | 52 |  |  | 103 |  |  | 4 |  |  | 8 |
Adjusted EBITDA margin | 50.3 | % |  | 50.9 | % |  | 49.5 | % |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Adjusted EBITDA margin basis points change | (60) |  |  | 140 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |

Year ended December 31, 2023, compared to 2022:
Revenue in our Capital Markets segment increased 5% for the year ended December 31, 2023. Recurring revenue contributed 6% to total segment growth due to strong new sales momentum and continued movement to a SaaS-based recurring revenue model. Professional services revenue contributed (1%) to total segment growth.
Adjusted EBITDA increased year over year due to the revenue impacts noted above. Adjusted EBITDA margin declined year over year due to revenue mix.
Year ended December 31, 2022, compared to 2021:
Revenue in our Capital Markets segment increased 5% for the year ended December 31, 2022. Recurring revenue contributed 7% to total segment growth due to strong new sales momentum and continued movement to a SaaS-based recurring revenue model. Revenue was also negatively impacted by unfavorable foreign currency movements, which contributed (2%) to total segment growth primarily related to a stronger U.S. Dollar versus the British Pound Sterling.
Adjusted EBITDA increased primarily due to the revenue impacts noted above. Adjusted EBITDA margin increased primarily due to continued expense management and operating leverage.
Corporate and Other

| Years ended December 31, |  | $ Change |  | % Change
|  |  |  |  |  |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs |  | 2023 vs |  | 2022 vs
| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
| (In millions) |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Revenue | $ | 322 |  |  | $ | 464 |  |  | $ | 483 |  |  | $ | (142) |  |  | $ | (19) |  |  | (31) | % |  | (4) | %
Adjusted EBITDA | $ | (346) |  |  | $ | (259) |  |  | $ | (360) |  |  | (87) |  |  | 101 |  |  | 34 |  |  | (28) |

Year ended December 31, 2023, compared to 2022:
Revenue in our Corporate and Other segment decreased 31% for the year ended December 31, 2023, due to the ramp down of non-strategic businesses, as well as prior year divestitures.
Adjusted EBITDA decreased as a result of the revenue impacts noted above, as well as higher corporate expenses as compared to the prior year period.
38

Table of Contents
Year ended December 31, 2022, compared to 2021:
Revenue in the Corporate and Other segment decreased 4% for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to divestitures of non-strategic businesses in 2022 as well as client attrition in our non-strategic businesses.
Adjusted EBITDA increased due to lower corporate costs as compared to prior year. Adjusted EBITDA was positively impacted by favorable foreign currency movements related to a stronger U.S. Dollar versus the British Pound Sterling and Indian Rupee.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Requirements
Our principal ongoing cash requirements include operating expenses, income taxes, mandatory debt service payments, capital expenditures, stockholder dividends, working capital and timing differences in settlement-related assets and liabilities and may include discretionary debt repayments, share repurchases and business acquisitions. Our principal sources of funds are cash generated by operations and borrowings, including the capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility, the U.S. commercial paper program and the Euro-commercial paper program discussed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements, in addition to the net proceeds from the Worldpay Sale which closed on January 31, 2024.
As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $3,053 million of available liquidity, including $440 million of cash and cash equivalents, exclusive of discontinued operations, and $2,613 million of capacity available under its Revolving Credit Facility and Incremental Revolving Credit Facility. Approximately $9 million of cash and cash equivalents is held by our foreign entities, including amounts related to regulatory requirements. The majority of our domestic cash and cash equivalents relates to settlement payables and net deposits-in-transit, which are typically settled within a few business days. Debt outstanding totaled $19.1 billion, with an effective weighted average interest rate of 3.5%. As of December 31, 2023, our assets held for sale included $1,380 million of cash and cash equivalents which the Company will not be able to access following the separation of the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business. Such amount of cash and cash equivalents in assets held for sale is inclusive of $1,190 million in cash and cash equivalents held by foreign entities, including amounts related to regulatory requirements.
Although we continue to evaluate the optimal capital structure for our business following the completion of the Worldpay Sale, we intend to maintain investment grade debt ratings for FIS.
We believe that our current level of cash and cash equivalents plus cash flows from operations will be sufficient to fund our operating cash requirements, capital expenditures and mandatory debt service payments for the next 12 months and the foreseeable future.
In February 2024, the Board of Directors approved a quarterly dividend of $0.36 per share beginning with the first quarter of 2024. A regular quarterly dividend of $0.36 per common share is payable on March 22, 2024, to shareholders of record as of the close of business on March 8, 2024. We currently expect to continue to pay quarterly dividends at a target payout ratio consistent with our capital allocation strategy, without regard to net earnings (loss) attributable to the non-controlling interest retained in Worldpay post-separation. However, the amount, declaration and payment of future dividends is at the discretion of the Board of Directors and depends on, among other things, our investment opportunities (including potential mergers and acquisitions), results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, future prospects, and other factors, including legal and contractual restrictions, that may be considered relevant by our Board of Directors. Additionally, the payment of cash dividends may be limited by covenants in certain debt agreements.
In January 2021, our Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program under which it authorized the Company to repurchase up to 100 million shares of our common stock at management's discretion from time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions and through Rule 10b5-1 plans. The share repurchase program has no expiration date and may be suspended for periods, amended or discontinued at any time. Under the share repurchase program, the Company repurchased approximately 9 million shares for an aggregate of $0.5 billion in 2023, 21 million shares for an aggregate of $1.8 billion in 2022 and approximately 15 million shares for an aggregate of $2.0 billion during 2021. Approximately 55 million shares remain available for repurchase as of December 31, 2023. We plan to continue to prioritize debt reduction and share repurchases under the current share repurchase authorization. We now intend to repurchase approximately at least $3.5 billion of our shares outstanding by year end 2024.
39

Table of Contents
Cash Flows from Operations
Our net cash provided by operating activities consists primarily of net earnings, adjusted to add back depreciation and amortization and other non-cash items including asset impairments. Cash flows from operations, inclusive of discontinued operations, were $4,335 million, $3,939 million and $4,810 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for cash provided by operating activities of discontinued operations). Cash flows from operations increased $396 million in 2023 and decreased $871 million in 2022. The 2023 increase in cash flows from operations is primarily due to working capital improvements, partially offset by settlement timing. The 2022 decrease in cash flows from operations is primarily due to a decrease in net earnings and settlement timing, partially offset by working capital.
Cash Flows from Investing
Our principal investing activity relates to capital expenditures for software (purchased and internally developed) and property and equipment. Inclusive of discontinued operations, we invested approximately $1,122 million, $1,390 million and $1,251 million in capital expenditures (excluding other financing obligations for certain hardware and software) during 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for capital expenditures from discontinued operations). We expect to continue investing in software and in property and equipment to support our business.
We also invest in acquisitions that complement and extend our existing solutions and capabilities and provide additional solutions to our portfolio, and we dispose of assets that are no longer considered strategic. In the fourth quarter of 2023, we paid $202 million related to new acquisitions. In 2021, we used approximately $767 million of cash (net of cash acquired, including restricted cash) for an acquisition within the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business, which is included in discontinued operations. In 2021, we received approximately $367 million of cash for the net proceeds from the sale of our equity ownership interest in Cardinal Holdings. We expect to continue to invest in acquisitions as part of our strategy to add solutions to help win new clients and cross-sell to existing clients.
Cash flows from investing also occasionally include cash received or paid relative to other activities that are not regularly recurring in nature. In 2023, we paid approximately $20 million, and in 2022, we received approximately $726 million, of net cash related to the settlement of cross-currency interest rate swaps.
Cash Flows from Financing
Cash flows from financing principally involve borrowing funds, repaying debt and the payment of dividends. For information regarding the Company's debt and financing activity, see "Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Indebtedness" in Item 1A and "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk—Interest Rate Risk" in Item 7A of this Annual Report and Notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
In 2023, we paid $173 million related to the 2020 Virtus acquisition to redeem a put option exercised by the founders as described in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. Cash flows from financing activities for 2023, 2022 and 2021 also included payments on contingent value rights and a tax receivable agreement, which are included in discontinued operations.
Contractual Obligations
FIS' long-term contractual obligations generally include its long-term debt, interest on long-term debt including the impact of accounting hedges, net coupon payments on undesignated interest rate swaps, lease payments on certain of its property and equipment and payments for certain purchase commitments and other obligations. See Notes 13, 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements for information on our long-term debt, financial instruments and operating leases, respectively. The following table summarizes FIS' other significant contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2023 (in millions):

|  |  |  | Payments Due in
|  |  |  | Less than |  | 1-3 |  | 3-5 |  | More than
|  | Total |  | 1 Year |  | Years |  | Years |  | 5 Years
Interest (1) |  | $ | 3,617 |  |  | $ | 558 |  |  | $ | 607 |  |  | $ | 502 |  |  | $ | 1,950 |
Purchase commitments (2) |  | 868 |  |  | 466 |  |  | 393 |  |  | 9 |  |  | — |
Interest rate swap net coupons (3) |  | 778 |  |  | 127 |  |  | 217 |  |  | 217 |  |  | 217 |
Total |  | $ | 5,263 |  |  | $ | 1,151 |  |  | $ | 1,217 |  |  | $ | 728 |  |  | $ | 2,167 |

40

Table of Contents
(1)The amounts above include the impact of accounting hedges and assume that (a) applicable margins and commitment fees remain constant; (b) variable-rates in effect as of December 31, 2023, remain constant; (c) no refinancing occurs at debt maturity; (d) only mandatory debt repayments are made; (e) no new hedging transactions are effected; and (f) there are no future currency effects.
(2)Includes obligations principally for software, maintenance, and consulting and outsourced services, including cloud hosting and data centers.
(3)The amounts above reflect the net coupon payments on the fixed-to-variable and offsetting variable-to-fixed interest rate swaps, as described in Note 14, that result in a net fixed coupon spread payable by the Company; the amounts also assume that there are no future currency effects.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance
No new accounting pronouncement adopted or effective during the fiscal year had or is expected to have material impact on our consolidated financial statements or disclosures.
Recent Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted
See Note 2 (u) to the consolidated financial statements for information on recent accounting guidance not yet adopted.
No other newly issued accounting pronouncements not yet effective during the fiscal year are expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements or disclosures.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks primarily from changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. We periodically use certain derivative financial instruments, including interest rate swaps, cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward contracts, to manage interest rate and foreign currency risk. We do not use derivatives for trading purposes, to generate income or to engage in speculative activity.
Interest Rate Risk
In addition to existing cash balances and cash provided by operating activities, we use fixed-rate and variable-rate debt to finance our operations. We are exposed to interest rate risk on these debt obligations.
Our fixed-rate senior notes (as included in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements) represent the majority of our fixed-rate long-term debt obligations as of December 31, 2023. The carrying value, excluding the fair value basis adjustments due to interest rate swaps described below and unamortized discounts, of our senior notes was $14.8 billion as of December 31, 2023. The fair value of our senior notes was approximately $13.7 billion as of December 31, 2023. The potential reduction in fair value of the senior notes from a hypothetical 10 percent increase in market interest rates would not be material to the overall fair value of the debt.
Our variable-rate risk principally relates to borrowings under our U.S. commercial paper program, Euro-commercial paper program, Revolving Credit Facility and Incremental Revolving Credit Facility (as included in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements) (collectively, "variable-rate debt"). As of December 31, 2023, the notional amounts of our fixed-to-variable interest rate swaps no longer contribute to interest rate risk, as described further below. At December 31, 2023, our weighted-average cost of debt was 3.5% with a weighted-average maturity of 5.2 years; 77% of our debt was fixed rate, and the remaining 23% was variable-rate debt, inclusive of fair value basis adjustments due to interest rate swaps. A 100 basis-point increase in the weighted-average interest rate on our variable-rate debt would have increased our 2023 annual interest expense by $49 million. We performed the foregoing sensitivity analysis based solely on the outstanding balance of our variable-rate debt as of December 31, 2023. This sensitivity analysis does not take into account any changes that occurred in the prior 12 months or that may take place in the next 12 months in the amount of our outstanding debt. Further, this sensitivity analysis assumes the change in interest rates is applicable for an entire year. For comparison purposes, based on the outstanding balance of our variable-rate debt as of December 31, 2022, and calculated in the same manner as set forth above, an increase of 100 basis points in the weighted-average interest rate would have increased our annual interest expense by approximately $75 million.
During the quarter ended September 30, 2023, the Company de-designated its fixed-to-variable interest rate swaps as fair value hedges for accounting purposes and entered into offsetting variable-to-fixed interest rate swaps. The Company accounts for the de-designated fixed-to-variable and offsetting variable-to-fixed interest rate swaps as economic hedges; as such,
41

Table of Contents
effective as of the de-designation dates, changes in interest rates associated with the variable leg of the interest rate swaps do not affect the interest expense that we recognize, eliminating our variable-rate risk on our fixed-to-variable interest rate swaps. The de-designation of the fixed-to-variable interest rate swaps resulted in final fair value basis adjustments that are amortized into interest expense over the remaining periods to maturity of the respective debt as described in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. The fair value basis adjustments recorded as a decrease of the long-term debt totaled $594 million, net of amortization, as of December 31, 2023, with $41 million amortized as interest expense for the year ending December 31, 2023.
Foreign Currency Risk
We are exposed to foreign currency risks that arise from normal business operations. These risks include the translation of local currency balances of foreign subsidiaries, transaction gains and losses associated with intercompany loans with foreign subsidiaries and transactions denominated in currencies other than a location's functional currency. We manage the exposure to these risks through a combination of normal operating activities and the use of foreign currency forward contracts and non-derivative and derivative investment hedges.
Our exposure to foreign currency exchange risks generally arises from our non-U.S. operations, to the extent they are conducted in local currency. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates affect translations of revenue denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we generated approximately $1,261 million, $1,288 million and $1,330 million, respectively, in revenue denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. The major currencies to which our revenue is exposed are the British Pound Sterling, Euro, Brazilian Real, Swedish Krona, Australian Dollar and Indian Rupee. A 10% movement in average exchange rates for these currencies (assuming a simultaneous and immediate 10% change in all of such rates for the relevant period) would have resulted in the following increase or decrease in our reported revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

Currency |  | 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Pound Sterling |  | $ | 43 |  |  | $ | 42 |  |  | $ | 41 |
Euro |  | 25 |  |  | 26 |  |  | 28 |
Real |  | 14 |  |  | 15 |  |  | 14 |
Swedish Krona |  | 10 |  |  | 7 |  |  | 7 |
Rupee |  | 6 |  |  | 9 |  |  | 11 |
Australian Dollar |  | 7 |  |  | 7 |  |  | 6 |
Total increase or decrease |  | $ | 105 |  |  | $ | 106 |  |  | $ | 107 |

While our results of operations have been impacted by the effects of currency fluctuations, our international operations' revenue and expenses are generally denominated in local currency, which reduces our economic exposure to foreign exchange risk in those jurisdictions.
Our foreign exchange risk management policy permits the use of derivative instruments, such as forward contracts and options, to reduce volatility in our results of operations and/or cash flows resulting from foreign exchange rate fluctuations. We do not enter into foreign currency derivative instruments for trading purposes or to engage in speculative activity. We do periodically enter into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge foreign currency exposure to intercompany loans, other balance sheet items or expected foreign currency cash flows resulting from forecasted transactions. The Company also utilizes foreign currency-denominated debt and cross-currency interest rate swaps designated as net investment hedges in order to reduce the volatility of the net investment value of certain of its Euro and Pound Sterling functional subsidiaries and utilizes cross-currency interest rate swaps designated as fair value hedges in order to mitigate the impact of foreign currency risk associated with our foreign currency-denominated debt (see Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements).
42

Table of Contents
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
INDEX TO FINANCIAL INFORMATION

| Page Number
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting KPMG LLP, Jacksonville, Florida, Auditor Firm ID: 185 | 44
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on the Consolidated Financial Statements KPMG LLP, Jacksonville, Florida, Auditor Firm ID: 185 | 45
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 202 3 and 202 2 | 48
Consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 202 3, 202 2 and 202 1 | 49
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 202 3, 202 2 and 202 1 | 50
Consolidated Statements of Equity for the years ended December 31, 202 3, 202 2 and 202 1 | 51
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 202 3, 202 2 and 202 1 | 52
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements | 53

43

Table of Contents
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Fidelity National Information Services, Inc.:
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have audited Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of earnings (loss), comprehensive earnings (loss), equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 26, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.
Basis for Opinion
The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Jacksonville, Florida
February 26, 2024
44

Table of Contents
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Fidelity National Information Services, Inc.:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of earnings (loss), comprehensive earnings (loss), equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 26, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
Sale of Worldpay Merchant Business
As discussed in Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company completed the sale of a 55% equity interest in their Worldpay Merchant Solutions business to private equity funds managed by GTCR, LLC on January 31, 2024.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
Sufficiency of audit evidence over revenue
As disclosed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company's revenue consists of the following types of revenue streams: i) transaction processing and services, ii) software maintenance, iii) software license, iv) professional services, and v) other recurring and non-recurring fees.
We identified the sufficiency of audit evidence over revenue as a critical audit matter. Evaluating the sufficiency of audit evidence required subjective auditor judgment because of the number of revenue streams, related revenue recognition
45

Table of Contents
processes, and the number of information technology (IT) applications utilized in the revenue recognition process to capture and aggregate the data.
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. Based on our knowledge of the Company, we applied auditor judgment to determine the nature and extent of procedures to be performed over revenue. Specifically, we:
•evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls within relevant revenue recognition processes, including general IT controls and IT application controls
• involved IT professionals, who assisted in the identification and testing of certain IT systems and related controls that are used by the Company in its revenue recognition process
•selected certain individual contracts and read the underlying contract and other documents that were part of the contract for each selection and evaluated the consistency of the revenue recognition determinations with the Company's accounting policies and revenue recognition requirements
•assessed the recorded revenue by selecting a sample of transactions and comparing the amounts recognized for consistency with the Company's accounting policies and underlying documentation, including contracts with customers and other relevant and reliable third-party data.
We evaluated the sufficiency of the audit evidence obtained by assessing the results of procedures performed over revenue.
Sufficiency of audit evidence over the reporting of discontinued operations
As discussed in Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, on January 31, 2024, the Company completed the previously announced sale of a 55% equity interest in its Worldpay Merchant Solutions business (the Disposal Group). During the third quarter of fiscal year 2023, management determined that the proposed sale met the criteria for the Disposal Group to be classified as held-for-sale and the associated results of operations were presented as discontinued operations for all periods presented in accordance with Accounting Standard Codification 205-20, Discontinued Operations (ASC 205-20). The Worldpay Merchant Solutions business includes the former Merchant Solutions segment in addition to an insignificant non-strategic business previously included in the Corporate and Other segment. The Company's presentation of discontinued operations excludes general corporate overhead costs which were historically allocated to the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business. The assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group were $27,220 million and $9,977 million as of December 31, 2023 and $34,754 million, and $8,737 million as of December 31, 2022, respectively. The Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax, were $(7,157) million, $(17,328) million, and $97 million, respectively, for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2023.
We identified the evaluation of the sufficiency of audit evidence over the reporting of discontinued operations as a critical audit matter. Evaluating the sufficiency of audit evidence required subjective auditor judgment due to the manual process and volume of financial information used to determine the assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group, and the related results of operations, cash flows, and disclosures.
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We applied auditor judgment to determine the nature and extent of procedures to be performed over the reporting of discontinued operations. Specifically, we:
•evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls within the Company's discontinued operations process, including controls over the amounts recorded and disclosed
•obtained and read the purchase and sale agreement for the proposed sale and compared the terms of that agreement to the identification of the assets and liabilities included in the Disposal Group
•assessed the Company's identification of assets and liabilities and the related results of operations and cash flows of the Disposal Group by testing the completeness and accuracy of the Company's accounting data and schedules that segregate the Disposal Group from the continuing operations of the Company
•assessed the completeness and accuracy of the presentation and disclosures related to the discontinued operations under ASC 205-20.
46

Table of Contents
We evaluated the sufficiency of audit evidence obtained by assessing the results of procedures performed, including the appropriateness of the nature and extent of audit effort.
/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2004.
Jacksonville, Florida
February 26, 2024
47

Table of Contents
FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2023 and 2022
(In millions, except per share amounts)

| 2023 |  | 2022
ASSETS |  |  |
Current assets: |  |  |
Cash and cash equivalents | $ | 440 |  |  | $ | 456 |
Settlement assets | 617 |  |  | 592 |
Trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses of $31 and $31, respectively | 1,730 |  |  | 1,834 |
Other receivables | 287 |  |  | 437 |
Prepaid expenses and other current assets | 603 |  |  | 509 |
Current assets held for sale | 10,111 |  |  | 8,990 |
Total current assets | 13,788 |  |  | 12,818 |
Property and equipment, net | 695 |  |  | 709 |
Goodwill | 16,971 |  |  | 16,816 |
Intangible assets, net | 1,823 |  |  | 2,468 |
Software, net | 2,115 |  |  | 2,055 |
Other noncurrent assets | 1,528 |  |  | 1,675 |
Deferred contract costs, net | 1,076 |  |  | 973 |
Noncurrent assets held for sale | 17,109 |  |  | 25,764 |
Total assets | $ | 55,105 |  |  | $ | 63,278 |
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST AND EQUITY |  |  |
Current liabilities: |  |  |
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities | $ | 1,859 |  |  | $ | 1,583 |
Settlement payables | 635 |  |  | 613 |
Deferred revenue | 832 |  |  | 777 |
Short-term borrowings | 4,760 |  |  | 3,755 |
Current portion of long-term debt | 1,348 |  |  | 2,130 |
Current liabilities held for sale | 8,884 |  |  | 7,366 |
Total current liabilities | 18,318 |  |  | 16,224 |
Long-term debt, excluding current portion | 12,970 |  |  | 14,206 |
Deferred income taxes | 2,179 |  |  | 2,689 |
Other noncurrent liabilities | 1,446 |  |  | 1,382 |
Noncurrent liabilities held for sale | 1,093 |  |  | 1,371 |
Total liabilities | 36,006 |  |  | 35,872 |
Redeemable noncontrolling interest | — |  |  | 180 |
Equity: |  |  |
FIS stockholders’ equity: |  |  |
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 200 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 | — |  |  | — |
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 750 shares authorized, 631 and 630 shares issued as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively | 6 |  |  | 6 |
Additional paid in capital | 46,935 |  |  | 46,735 |
(Accumulated deficit) retained earnings | (22,864) |  |  | (14,971) |
Accumulated other comprehensive earnings (loss) | (260) |  |  | (360) |
Treasury stock, $0.01 par value, 48 and 39 common shares as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, at cost | (4,724) |  |  | (4,192) |
Total FIS stockholders’ equity | 19,093 |  |  | 27,218 |
Noncontrolling interest | 6 |  |  | 8 |
Total equity | 19,099 |  |  | 27,226 |
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interest and equity | $ | 55,105 |  |  | $ | 63,278 |

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
48

Table of Contents
FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss)
Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
(In millions, except per share amounts)

| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Revenue | $ | 9,821 |  |  | $ | 9,719 |  |  | $ | 9,339 |
Cost of revenue | 6,145 |  |  | 6,216 |  |  | 5,990 |
Gross profit | 3,676 |  |  | 3,503 |  |  | 3,349 |
Selling, general and administrative expenses | 2,096 |  |  | 2,182 |  |  | 2,115 |
Asset impairments | 113 |  |  | 103 |  |  | 194 |
Operating income | 1,467 |  |  | 1,218 |  |  | 1,040 |
Other income (expense): |  |  |  |  |
Interest income | 92 |  |  | 17 |  |  | 2 |
Interest expense | (713) |  |  | (298) |  |  | (214) |
Other income (expense), net | (183) |  |  | 4 |  |  | (109) |
Total other income (expense), net | (804) |  |  | (277) |  |  | (321) |
Earnings (loss) before income taxes and equity method investment earnings (loss) | 663 |  |  | 941 |  |  | 719 |
Provision (benefit) for income taxes | 157 |  |  | 325 |  |  | 403 |
Equity method investment earnings (loss) | — |  |  | — |  |  | 6 |
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations | 506 |  |  | 616 |  |  | 322 |
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax | (7,153) |  |  | (17,324) |  |  | 102 |
Net earnings (loss) | (6,647) |  |  | (16,708) |  |  | 424 |
Net (earnings) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest from continuing operations | (3) |  |  | (8) |  |  | (2) |
Net (earnings) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest from discontinued operations | (4) |  |  | (4) |  |  | (5) |
Net earnings (loss) attributable to FIS | $ | (6,654) |  |  | $ | (16,720) |  |  | $ | 417 |
Net earnings (loss) attributable to FIS: |  |  |  |  |
Continuing operations | $ | 503 |  |  | $ | 608 |  |  | $ | 320 |
Discontinued operations | (7,157) |  |  | (17,328) |  |  | 97 |
Total | $ | (6,654) |  |  | $ | (16,720) |  |  | $ | 417 |
Basic earnings (loss) per common share attributable to FIS: |  |  |  |  |
Continuing operations | $ | 0.85 |  |  | $ | 1.01 |  |  | $ | 0.52 |
Discontinued operations | (12.11) |  |  | (28.69) |  |  | 0.16 |
Total | $ | (11.26) |  |  | $ | (27.68) |  |  | $ | 0.68 |
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share attributable to FIS: |  |  |  |  |
Continuing operations | $ | 0.85 |  |  | $ | 1.01 |  |  | $ | 0.52 |
Discontinued operations | (12.11) |  |  | (28.69) |  |  | 0.16 |
Total | $ | (11.26) |  |  | $ | (27.68) |  |  | $ | 0.67 |
Weighted average common shares outstanding: |  |  |  |  |
Basic | 591 |  |  | 604 |  |  | 616 |
Diluted | 591 |  |  | 604 |  |  | 621 |

Amounts in table may not sum or calculate due to rounding.
See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
49

Table of Contents
FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings (Loss)
Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
(In millions)

|  | 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Net earnings (loss) |  | $ | (6,647) |  |  | $ | (16,708) |  |  | $ | 424 |
Other comprehensive earnings (loss), before tax: |  |  |  |  |  |
Foreign currency translation adjustments |  | $ | 586 |  |  | $ | (2,042) |  |  | $ | (730) |
Change in fair value of net investment hedges |  | (677) |  |  | 1,395 |  |  | 1,195 |
Excluded components of fair value hedges |  | 74 |  |  | — |  |  | — |
Other adjustments |  | 1 |  |  | 39 |  |  | 14 |
Other comprehensive earnings (loss), before tax |  | (16) |  |  | (608) |  |  | 479 |
Provision for income tax (expense) benefit related to items of other comprehensive earnings (loss) |  | 116 |  |  | (4) |  |  | (284) |
Other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of tax |  | 100 |  |  | (612) |  |  | 195 |
Comprehensive earnings (loss) |  | (6,547) |  |  | (17,320) |  |  | 619 |
Net (earnings) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest |  | (7) |  |  | (12) |  |  | (7) |
Comprehensive earnings (loss) attributable to FIS common stockholders |  | $ | (6,554) |  |  | $ | (17,332) |  |  | $ | 612 |

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
50

Table of Contents
FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Equity
Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
(In millions, except per share amounts)

|  |  |  |  | Amount
|  |  |  |  | FIS Stockholders |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | Accumulated |  |  |  |  |  |
| Number of shares |  |  |  | Additional |  |  |  | other |  |  |  |  |  |
| Common |  | Treasury |  | Common |  | paid in |  | Retained |  | comprehensive |  | Treasury |  | Noncontrolling |  | Total
| shares |  | shares |  | stock |  | capital |  | earnings |  | earnings (loss) |  | stock |  | interest (1) |  | equity
Balances, December 31, 2020 | 621 |  |  | (1) |  |  | $ | 6 |  |  | $ | 45,947 |  |  | $ | 3,440 |  |  | $ | 57 |  |  | $ | (150) |  |  | $ | 13 |  |  | $ | 49,313 |
Issuance of restricted stock | 4 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 2 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 2 |
Exercise of stock options | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 128 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 128 |
Purchases of treasury stock | — |  |  | (15) |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (1,996) |  |  | — |  |  | (1,996) |
Treasury shares held for taxes due upon exercise of stock awards | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (120) |  |  | — |  |  | (120) |
Stock-based compensation | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 383 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 383 |
Cash dividends declared ($1.56 per share) and other distributions | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (968) |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (9) |  |  | (977) |
Other | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 6 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 6 |
Net earnings | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 417 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 7 |  |  | 424 |
Other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of tax | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 195 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 195 |
Balances, December 31, 2021 | 625 |  |  | (16) |  |  | $ | 6 |  |  | $ | 46,466 |  |  | $ | 2,889 |  |  | $ | 252 |  |  | $ | (2,266) |  |  | $ | 11 |  |  | $ | 47,358 |
Issuance of restricted stock | 5 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (7) |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 12 |  |  | — |  |  | 5 |
Exercise of stock options | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 61 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 61 |
Purchases of treasury stock | — |  |  | (21) |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (1,829) |  |  | — |  |  | (1,829) |
Treasury shares held for taxes due upon exercise of stock awards | — |  |  | (2) |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (109) |  |  | — |  |  | (109) |
Stock-based compensation | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 215 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 215 |
Cash dividends declared ($1.88 per share) and other distributions | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (1,140) |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (10) |  |  | (1,150) |
Net earnings (loss) | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (16,720) |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 7 |  |  | (16,713) |
Other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of tax | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (612) |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (612) |
Balances, December 31, 2022 | 630 |  |  | (39) |  |  | $ | 6 |  |  | $ | 46,735 |  |  | $ | (14,971) |  |  | $ | (360) |  |  | $ | (4,192) |  |  | $ | 8 |  |  | $ | 27,226 |
Issuance of restricted stock | 1 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |
Exercise of stock options | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 40 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 40 |
Purchases of treasury stock | — |  |  | (9) |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (510) |  |  | — |  |  | (510) |
Treasury shares held for taxes due upon exercise of stock awards | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (22) |  |  | — |  |  | (22) |
Stock-based compensation | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 153 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 153 |
Cash dividends declared ($2.08 per share) and other distributions | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (1,239) |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (9) |  |  | (1,248) |
Other | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 7 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 7 |
Net earnings (loss) | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | (6,654) |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 7 |  |  | (6,647) |
Other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of tax | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 100 |  |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 100 |
Balances, December 31, 2023 | 631 |  | (48) |  |  | 6 |  |  | 46,935 |  |  | (22,864) |  |  | (260) |  |  | (4,724) |  |  | 6 |  |  | 19,099 |

(1) Excludes redeemable noncontrolling interest that is not considered equity. See Note 4, Virtus Acquisition, for additional information.
See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
51

Table of Contents
FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
(In millions)

| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Cash flows from operating activities: |  |  |  |  |
Net earnings (loss) | $ | (6,647) |  |  | $ | (16,708) |  |  | $ | 424 |
Adjustment to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities: |  |  |  |  |
Depreciation and amortization | 2,675 |  |  | 3,846 |  |  | 4,015 |
Amortization of debt issuance costs | 29 |  |  | 31 |  |  | 30 |
Asset impairments | 6,957 |  |  | 17,709 |  |  | 202 |
Loss on assets held for sale | 1,909 |  |  | — |  |  | — |
Loss (gain) on sale of businesses, investments and other | 97 |  |  | (53) |  |  | (227) |
Loss on extinguishment of debt | — |  |  | — |  |  | 528 |
Stock-based compensation | 154 |  |  | 215 |  |  | 383 |
Deferred income taxes | (705) |  |  | (544) |  |  | (81) |
Net changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and foreign currency: |  |  |  |  |
Trade and other receivables | 124 |  |  | (155) |  |  | (552) |
Settlement activity | 151 |  |  | 287 |  |  | 653 |
Prepaid expenses and other assets | (198) |  |  | (319) |  |  | (526) |
Deferred contract costs | (480) |  |  | (479) |  |  | (453) |
Deferred revenue | 32 |  |  | 21 |  |  | 23 |
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and other liabilities | 237 |  |  | 88 |  |  | 391 |
Net cash provided by operating activities | 4,335 |  |  | 3,939 |  |  | 4,810 |
Cash flows from investing activities: |  |  |  |  |
Additions to property and equipment | (142) |  |  | (268) |  |  | (320) |
Additions to software | (980) |  |  | (1,122) |  |  | (931) |
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired | (202) |  |  | — |  |  | (767) |
Net proceeds from sale of businesses and investments | 45 |  |  | 50 |  |  | 370 |
Settlement of net investment hedge cross-currency interest rate swaps | (20) |  |  | 726 |  |  | (24) |
Proceeds from sale of Visa preferred stock | — |  |  | 269 |  |  | — |
Other investing activities, net | (53) |  |  | (28) |  |  | (99) |
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities | (1,352) |  |  | (373) |  |  | (1,771) |
Cash flows from financing activities: |  |  |  |  |
Borrowings | 93,119 |  |  | 75,335 |  |  | 54,073 |
Repayment of borrowings and other financing obligations | (94,513) |  |  | (74,410) |  |  | (53,440) |
Debt issuance costs | (3) |  |  | (23) |  |  | (74) |
Net proceeds from stock issued under stock-based compensation plans | 41 |  |  | 57 |  |  | 121 |
Treasury stock activity | (522) |  |  | (1,938) |  |  | (2,114) |
Dividends paid | (1,231) |  |  | (1,138) |  |  | (961) |
Payments on contingent value rights | — |  |  | (245) |  |  | — |
Payments on tax receivable agreement | (197) |  |  | (185) |  |  | (85) |
Purchase of noncontrolling interest | (173) |  |  | — |  |  | — |
Other financing activities, net | (14) |  |  | (26) |  |  | (58) |
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities | (3,493) |  |  | (2,573) |  |  | (2,538) |
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash | 111 |  |  | (463) |  |  | (248) |
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash | (399) |  |  | 530 |  |  | 253 |
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year | 4,813 |  |  | 4,283 |  |  | 4,030 |
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year | $ | 4,414 |  |  | $ | 4,813 |  |  | $ | 4,283 |
Supplemental cash flow information: |  |  |  |  |
Cash paid for interest | $ | 696 |  |  | $ | 417 |  |  | $ | 491 |
Cash paid for income taxes | $ | 402 |  |  | $ | 963 |  |  | $ | 440 |

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
52

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, all references to "FIS," "we," "our," "us," the "Company" or the "registrant" are to Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., a Georgia corporation, and its subsidiaries.
(1) Organization
FIS is a leading global provider of financial services technology solutions for financial institutions, businesses and developers. We improve the digital transformation of our financial economy, advancing the way the world pays, banks and invests.
On January 31, 2024, the Company completed the previously announced sale ("the Worldpay Sale") of a 55% equity interest in its Worldpay Merchant Solutions business to private equity funds managed by GTCR (such funds, the "Buyer"). As of closing, FIS retained a non-controlling 45% ownership interest in a new standalone joint venture ("the Joint Venture" or "Worldpay"). Following the closing of the Worldpay Sale, FIS' share of the net income of the Joint Venture is going to be reported as equity method investment earnings (loss).
During the third quarter of fiscal year 2023, the Company analyzed quantitative and qualitative factors relevant to the Worldpay Merchant Solutions disposal group in accordance with ASC 205-20 and determined that the accounting criteria to be classified as held for sale were met, when a definitive purchase agreement was signed. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the disposal group are presented separately on the consolidated balance sheets for all periods presented. In addition, the disposition represents a strategic shift that will have a major impact on the Company's operations and financial results. As a result, the operating results of the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business have been reflected as discontinued operations for all periods presented and as such, have been excluded from continuing operations and segment results. The Company's cash flows are presented inclusive of discontinued operations on the consolidated statement of cash flows for all periods presented. Total cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for discontinued operations are presented in Note 3.
The Worldpay Merchant Solutions business included the former Merchant Solutions segment in addition to a business previously included in the Corporate and Other segment, which have been recast as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Accordingly, the Company no longer reports the Merchant Solutions segment; it now reports its financial performance based on the following segments: Banking Solutions ("Banking"), Capital Market Solutions ("Capital Markets") and Corporate and Other. As a result of our ongoing portfolio assessments, the Company reclassified certain businesses from Capital Markets to Banking and to Corporate and Other during the quarter ended March 31, 2023, and reclassified certain non-strategic operations from Banking to Corporate and Other during the quarter ended December 31, 2023. The Company recast all prior-period segment information presented to reflect these reclassifications. See Note 22 for more information regarding our segments.
Amounts in tables in the financial statements and accompanying footnotes may not sum or calculate due to rounding.
2.Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The following describes the significant accounting policies of the Company used in preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
(a)Principles of Consolidation and Management Estimates
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of FIS, its wholly-owned subsidiaries and subsidiaries that are majority-owned. Noncontrolling interests represent the minority shareholders’ share of the net earnings or loss and equity in consolidated subsidiaries. The Company’s noncontrolling interests presented in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) include net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests and redeemable noncontrolling interests. Noncontrolling interests are presented as a component of equity in the consolidated balance sheets. Noncontrolling interests that are redeemable upon the occurrence of an event that is not solely within the Company’s control are presented outside of equity. All intercompany profits, transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with United States ("U.S") generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") and related rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission requires our management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates may change as new events occur and
53

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
additional information is obtained. Future actual results could differ materially from these estimates. To the extent that there are differences between these estimates, judgments and assumptions and actual results, our consolidated financial statements will be affected.
(b)Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers cash on hand, money market funds and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents. As part of the Company's electronic funds transfer and network business, the Company provides cash settlement services to financial institutions and state and local governments. These services involve the movement of funds among the various parties associated with automated teller machines ("ATM") and point-of-sale or electronic benefit transactions ("EBT"). This activity results in a balance due to the Company at the end of each business day that it recoups over the next few business days. The net in-transit balances due to the Company are included in Cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets. The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for these instruments approximate their fair value.
The Company records restricted cash in captions other than Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheets. The reconciliation between Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheets and Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash per the consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows (in millions):

| December 31.
| 2023 |  | 2022
Cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets | $ | 440 |  |  | $ | 456 |
Merchant float from discontinued operations included in current assets held for sale (1) | 2,594 |  |  | 2,625 |
Cash from discontinued operations included in current assets held for sale | 1,380 |  |  | 1,732 |
Total Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash per the consolidated statements of cash flows | $ | 4,414 |  |  | $ | 4,813 |

(1)Merchant float funds are considered restricted cash.
(c)Fair Value Measurements
Fair Value Hierarchy
The authoritative accounting literature defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and establishes a fair value hierarchy based on the quality of inputs used to measure fair value.
The fair value hierarchy includes three levels that are based on the priority of the inputs to the valuation technique. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). If the inputs used to measure the fair value fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the categorization is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement of the asset or liability. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below.
Level 1. Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
Level 2. Inputs to the valuation methodology include the following:
•Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;
•Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets;
•Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability;
•Inputs that are derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data by correlation or other means.
If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.
Level 3. Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the circumstances.
54

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Fair Value of Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in Business Combinations
In a business combination transaction, an acquirer recognizes, separately from goodwill, the identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and generally measures these items at their acquisition date fair values. Goodwill is recorded as the residual amount by which the purchase price exceeds the fair value of the net assets acquired. Fair values are determined using the framework outlined above under Fair Value Hierarchy and the methodologies addressed in the individual subheadings. If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, we report provisional amounts in the financial statements for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Adjustments to provisional amounts initially recorded that are identified during the measurement period are recognized in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined. This includes any effect on earnings of changes in depreciation, amortization, or other income effects as a result of the change to the provisional amounts, calculated as if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date. During the measurement period, we also recognize additional assets or liabilities if new information is obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have resulted in the recognition of those assets and liabilities as of that date. The measurement period ends the sooner of one year from the acquisition date or when we receive the information we were seeking about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date or learn that more information is not obtainable. Contingent consideration liabilities or receivables recorded in connection with business acquisitions are also adjusted for changes in fair value until settled.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for settlement assets and payables as well as short-term borrowings approximate their fair values because of their immediate or short-term maturities. The fair value of the Company's long-term debt is based on quoted prices of our senior notes and trades of our debt in close proximity to year end, which are considered Level 2-type measurements. The Company also holds, or has held, certain derivative instruments, specifically interest rate swaps, cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency exchange forward contracts, which are also valued using Level 2-type measurements. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and significant judgment in the interpretation of current market data. Therefore, the values presented are not necessarily indicative of amounts the Company could realize or settle currently.
(d)Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company enters into derivatives to manage foreign currency and interest rate risk; the Company does not use derivatives for trading purposes, to generate income or to engage in speculative activity.
During all periods presented, the Company used cross-currency interest rate swaps to engage in hedging activities relating to changes in foreign currency exchange rates impacting its investment in certain foreign-currency-denominated operations. The Company designated these cross-currency interest rate swaps as net investment hedges. The Company also utilized foreign-currency-denominated debt as non-derivative net investment hedges. During 2023, the Company also utilized cross-currency interest rate swaps to engage in hedging activities relating to its exposure to foreign currency risk associated with its foreign currency-denominated debt. The Company designated these cross-currency interest rate swaps as fair value hedges.
During all periods presented, the Company used fixed-to-variable interest rate swaps to engage in hedging activities relating to changes in interest rates impacting the fair value of its fixed-rate long-term debt. The Company designated these interest rate swaps as fair value hedges. During the quarter ended September 30, 2023, the Company de-designated these interest rate swaps as fair value hedges and entered into offsetting variable-to-fixed interest rate swaps. The de-designated and new interest rate swaps are accounted for as economic hedges.
During 2023, the Company used foreign currency forward contracts as economic hedges to reduce the foreign currency risk associated with foreign currency-denominated debt expected to be paid off with U.S. dollar proceeds received from the Worldpay Sale during the first quarter of 2024 (see Note 1). During 2022, the Company used foreign currency forward contracts as economic hedges to reduce the foreign currency risk associated with payments due at maturity of the Company's foreign currency-denominated debt and cross-currency interest rate swaps.
The Company records all derivatives, whether designated in accounting hedging relationships or not, on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The Company's derivative contracts are generally subject to master netting arrangements, which contain various netting and setoff provisions; however, the Company has elected to record derivative assets and liabilities on a
55

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
gross basis in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets in Prepaid expenses and other current assets; Other noncurrent assets; Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities; or Other noncurrent liabilities, as appropriate. See Notes 14 and 20 for additional details, including accounting policies.
(e)Allowance for Credit Losses
The Company monitors trade receivable balances and contract assets as well as other receivables and estimates the allowance for lifetime expected credit losses. Estimates of expected credit losses are based on historical collection experience and other factors, including those related to current market conditions and events, changes in client creditworthiness, client payment terms and collection trends. The allowance for credit losses is separate from the chargeback liability described in Note 3.
(f)Settlement Assets and Payables
The principal components of the Company's settlement assets and payables on the consolidated balance sheets are as follows (in millions):

|  | December 31,
|  | 2023 |  | 2022
Settlement assets |  |  |  |
Settlement deposits |  | $ | 463 |  |  | $ | 439 |
Settlement receivables |  | 154 |  |  | 153 |
Total Settlement assets |  | $ | 617 |  |  | $ | 592 |
Settlement payables |  | $ | 635 |  |  | $ | 613 |

The payment solutions that give rise to the settlement balances described below are separate and distinct from those settlement activities referred to under (b) Cash and Cash Equivalents, where the solutions we provide primarily facilitate the movement of funds.
We manage certain payment solutions and programs and wealth management processes for our clients that require us to hold and manage client cash balances used to fund their daily settlement activity. Settlement deposits represent funds we hold that were drawn from our clients to facilitate settlement activities. Settlement receivables represent amounts funded by us. Settlement payables consist of settlement deposits from clients, settlement payables to third parties or clients, and outstanding checks related to our settlement activities for which the right of offset does not exist or we do not intend to exercise our right of offset. Our accounting policy for such outstanding checks is to include them in Settlement payables on the consolidated balance sheets and operating cash flows on the consolidated statements of cash flows.
(g)Contract Related Balances
The payment terms and conditions in our customer contracts may vary. In some cases, customers pay in advance of our delivery of solutions or services; in other cases, payment is due as services are performed or in arrears following the delivery of the solutions or services. Differences in timing between revenue recognition and invoicing result in accrued trade receivables, contract assets, or deferred revenue on our consolidated balance sheets. Trade receivables are accrued when revenue is recognized prior to invoicing but the right to payment is unconditional (i.e., only the passage of time is required). This occurs most commonly when software term licenses recognized at a point in time are paid for periodically over the license term. Contract assets result when amounts allocated to distinct performance obligations are recognized when or as control of a solution or service is transferred to the customer but invoicing is contingent on performance of other performance obligations or on completion of contractual milestones. Contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional, typically upon invoicing of the related performance obligations in the contract or upon achieving the requisite project milestone. Deferred revenue results from customer payments in advance of our satisfaction of the associated performance obligation(s) and relates primarily to prepaid maintenance or other recurring services. Deferred revenue is relieved as revenue is recognized. Contract assets and deferred revenue are reported on a contract-by-contract basis at the end of each reporting period. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, contract assets of $227 million and $207 million, respectively, are included in Prepaid expenses and other current assets and $240 million and $122 million, respectively are included in Other noncurrent assets on the consolidated balance sheets. Noncurrent deferred revenue is included in Other noncurrent liabilities as detailed in
56

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Note 12. Changes in the contract assets and deferred revenue balances for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, were not materially impacted by any factors other than those described above. In some cases, signing bonuses are paid, or credits are offered, to customers in connection with the origination or renewal of customer contracts. These incentives are recorded as Other noncurrent assets on our consolidated balance sheets and amortized on a straight-line basis as a reduction of revenue over the lesser of the useful life of the solution or the expected customer relationship period for new contracts or over the contract period for renewal contracts.
(h)Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations. Goodwill is not amortized but is assessed for impairment by reporting unit. The Company assesses goodwill for impairment on an annual basis during the fourth quarter or more frequently if circumstances indicate potential impairment. An impairment charge is recognized when and to the extent a reporting unit's carrying amount is determined to exceed its estimated fair value. Our reporting units are the same as our primary operating segments, with additional reporting units for certain non-strategic businesses within the Corporate and Other segment.
The Company has the option to first assess qualitatively whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's carrying amount exceeds its estimated fair value. The option of whether to perform the qualitative assessment is made annually and may vary by reporting unit. Events and circumstances that are considered in performing the qualitative assessment include macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, cost factors, overall financial performance, events affecting the reporting unit or Company as a whole, including a sustained decrease in stock price. When performing the qualitative assessment, we examine those factors most likely to affect each reporting unit's fair value. If we conclude that it is more likely than not that the reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying amount (that is, a likelihood of more than 50 percent) as a result of the qualitative assessment, or we elect to bypass the qualitative assessment for a reporting unit, then we perform a quantitative assessment for that reporting unit.
In applying the quantitative assessment, we typically engage third-party valuation specialists to assist us in determining the fair value of a reporting unit based on a weighted average of valuation techniques, a combination of an income approach and a market approach, which are Level 3-type measurements. The income approach calculates a value based upon the present value of estimated future cash flows, while the market approach uses earnings multiples of similarly situated guideline public companies. If the fair value of the reporting unit determined using the quantitative analysis exceeds the carrying amount of the reporting unit's net assets, goodwill is not impaired.
Both qualitative and quantitative assessments require a significant amount of management judgment involving the use of forecasts, estimates, and assumptions.
(i)Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Intangible Assets with Finite Useful Lives
Long-lived assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset, which are Level 3-type measurements. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. There were no significant impairments of long-lived assets or intangible assets with finite useful lives during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized impairment losses totaling $71 million on certain long-lived assets, primarily related to reducing office space, including $43 million for operating lease right-of-use assets.
(j)Intangible Assets
The Company has intangible assets that consist primarily of customer relationships and trademarks (i.e., a collective term for trademarks, trade names, and related intellectual property rights) that are recorded in connection with acquisitions at their fair value based on the results of valuation analyses. Customer relationships and trademarks acquired in business combinations are generally valued using the multi-period excess earnings method and relief-from-royalty method, respectively, which are Level 3-type measurements. Customer relationships are amortized over their estimated useful lives using an accelerated method that takes into consideration expected customer attrition rates up to a 10-year period. Trademarks with finite lives are amortized
57

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
over periods ranging up to five years. Intangible assets with finite lives are reviewed for impairment following the same approach as long-lived assets.
(k)Software
Software includes software acquired in business combinations, purchased software and capitalized software development costs. Software acquired in business combinations is generally valued using the relief-from-royalty method, a Level 3-type measurement. Purchased software is recorded at cost and amortized using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life, and software acquired in business combinations is recorded at its fair value and amortized using straight-line or accelerated methods over its estimated useful life, typically ranging from one to 10 years.
The capitalization of software development costs is based on whether the software is to be sold, leased or otherwise marketed, or if the software is for internal use. After the technological feasibility of the software has been established (for software to be marketed) or at the beginning of application development (for internal-use software), software development costs, which primarily include salaries and related payroll costs and costs of independent contractors incurred during development, are capitalized. Research and development costs incurred prior to the establishment of technological feasibility (for software to be marketed) or prior to application development (for internal-use software) are expensed as incurred. Software development costs are amortized on a solution-by-solution basis commencing on the date of general release (for software to be marketed) or the date placed in service (for internal-use software). Software development costs for software to be marketed are amortized using the greater of (1) the straight-line method over its estimated useful life, which typically ranges from three to 10 years, or (2) the ratio of current revenue to total anticipated revenue over its useful life.
The Company reviews software assets for impairment at each reporting date. For software to be marketed, an impairment charge is recorded to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the net realizable value. Internal-use software is reviewed for impairment following the same approach as long-lived assets. Determining net realizable values and future cash flows involves judgments and the use of estimates and assumptions regarding future economic and market conditions. Adverse changes in these conditions could result in an impairment charge which could be material to our consolidated financial statements.
See Note 9 for software asset impairment losses and incremental software amortization expense recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.
(l)Deferred Contract Costs
The Company incurs costs as a result of both the origination and fulfillment of our contracts with customers. Origination costs relate primarily to the payment of sales commissions that are directly related to sales transactions. Fulfillment costs include the cost of implementation services related to software as a service ("SaaS") and other cloud-based arrangements when the implementation service is not distinct from the ongoing service. When origination costs and fulfillment costs that will be used to satisfy future performance obligations are directly related to the execution of our contracts with customers, and the costs are recoverable under the contract, the costs are capitalized as a deferred contract cost. Impairment losses are recognized if the carrying amounts of the deferred contract costs are not recoverable.
Origination costs for contracts that contain a distinct software license recognized at a point in time are allocated between the license and all other performance obligations of the contract and amortized according to the pattern of performance for the respective obligations. Otherwise, origination costs are capitalized as a single asset for each contract or portfolio of similar contracts and amortized using an appropriate single measure of performance considering all of the performance obligations in the contracts. The Company amortizes origination costs over the expected benefit period to which the deferred contract cost relates. Origination costs related to initial contracts with a customer are amortized over the lesser of the useful life of the solution or the expected customer relationship period. Commissions paid on renewals are amortized over the renewal period. Capitalized fulfillment costs are amortized over the lesser of the useful life of the solution or the expected customer relationship period.
See Note 10 for deferred contract cost asset impairment losses during 2021 and incremental amortization expense recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. There were no significant deferred contract cost asset impairment losses recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
58

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(m)Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are computed primarily using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the related assets typically as follows: 30 years for buildings and three to seven years for furniture, fixtures and computer equipment. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of the initial term of the applicable lease or the estimated useful lives of such assets.
(n)Income Taxes
The Company recognizes deferred income tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of the Company's assets and liabilities and expected benefits of using net operating loss and credit carryforwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The impact on deferred income taxes of changes in tax rates and laws, if any, is reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the period enacted. A valuation allowance is established for any portion of a deferred income tax asset for which management believes it is more likely than not that the Company will not be able to realize the benefits of all or a portion of that deferred income tax asset. Certain of the Company's earnings are indefinitely reinvested offshore and could be subject to additional income tax if repatriated. It is not practicable to determine the unrecognized deferred tax liability on a hypothetical distribution of those earnings.
(o)Operating Leases
The Company leases certain of its property, primarily real estate, under operating leases. Operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets are included in Other noncurrent assets, and operating lease liabilities are included in Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities and Other noncurrent liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. ROU assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, and lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of fixed lease payments over the lease term. Operating lease ROU assets also include any prepaid lease payments and exclude lease incentives received. The Company uses an incremental borrowing rate based on information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. Lease term for accounting purposes may include options to extend (generally ranging from one to five years) or to terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. For certain equipment leases, the Company applies a portfolio approach to effectively account for the operating lease ROU assets and liabilities. Lease agreements may include lease and related non-lease components, which are accounted for as a single lease component. Fixed costs included in the measurement of ROU assets are recognized as operating lease cost generally on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Certain leases require the Company to pay taxes, insurance, maintenance and other operating expenses associated with the leased asset. Such amounts are not included in the measurement of the ROU assets and lease liabilities to the extent they are variable in nature; instead, they are recognized as variable lease cost when incurred.
(p)Revenue Recognition
The Company generates revenue in a number of ways, including from the delivery of account- or transaction-based processing, SaaS, business process as a service ("BPaaS"), cloud offerings, software licensing, software-related services and professional services.
The Company enters into arrangements with customers to provide services, software and software-related services such as maintenance and implementation either individually or as part of an integrated offering. The Company assesses the solutions and services promised in its contracts with customers and identifies a performance obligation for each promise to transfer to the customer a solution or service (or bundle of solutions or services) that is distinct - i.e., if a solution or service is separately identifiable from other items in the bundled package and if a customer can benefit from it on its own or with other resources that are readily available to the customer. To identify its performance obligations, the Company considers all of the solutions or services promised in the contract regardless of whether they are explicitly stated or are implied by customary business practices. The Company recognizes revenue when or as it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of a solution or service to a customer.
59

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Revenue is measured based on the consideration that the Company expects to receive in a contract with a customer. The Company's contracts with its customers frequently contain variable consideration. Variable consideration exists when the amount which the Company expects to receive in a contract is based on the occurrence or non-occurrence of future events, such as processing services performed under usage-based pricing arrangements or professional services billed on a time-and-materials basis. Variable consideration is also present in certain transactions in the form of discounts, credits, price concessions, penalties, and similar items. If the amount of a discount or rebate in a contract is fixed and not contingent, that discount or rebate is not variable consideration. The Company estimates variable consideration in its contracts primarily using the expected value method. In some contracts, the Company applies the most likely amount method by considering the single most likely amount in a limited range of possible consideration amounts. The Company develops estimates of variable consideration on the basis of both historical information and current trends. Variable consideration included in the transaction price is constrained such that a significant revenue reversal is not probable.
Taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are not included in revenue. Postage costs associated with print and mail services are accounted for as a fulfillment cost and are included in cost of revenue.
Technology or service components from third parties are frequently embedded in or combined with our applications or service offerings. We are often responsible for billing the client in these arrangements and transmitting the applicable fees to the third party. The Company determines whether it is responsible for providing the third-party solution or service as a principal or for arranging for the solution or service to be provided by the third party as an agent. Judgment is applied to determine whether we are the principal or the agent by evaluating whether the Company has control of the solution or service prior to it being transferred to the customer. The principal versus agent assessment is performed at the performance obligation level. Indicators that the Company considers in determining if it has control include whether the Company is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified solution or service to the customer, the Company has inventory risk and the Company has discretion in establishing the price the customer ultimately pays for the solution or service. Depending upon the level of our contractual responsibilities and obligations for delivering solutions to end customers, we have arrangements where we are the principal and recognize the gross amount billed to the customer and other arrangements where we are the agent and recognize the net amount retained.
The total transaction price of a contract is allocated to each performance obligation in a manner depicting the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the solution(s) or service(s) to the customer (the "allocation objective"). If the allocation objective is met at contractual prices, no allocation adjustments from contract prices are made. Otherwise, the Company reallocates the transaction price to each performance obligation identified in the contract on a relative standalone selling price basis, except when the criteria are met for allocating variable consideration to one or more, but not all, performance obligations in the contract. The Company allocates variable consideration to one or more, but not all, performance obligations when the terms of the variable payment relate specifically to the Company's efforts to satisfy the performance obligation (or transfer the distinct solution or service) and when such allocation is consistent with the allocation objective when considering all performance obligations in the contract. Determining whether the criteria for allocating variable consideration to one or more, but not all, performance obligations in the contract requires judgment and may affect the timing and amount of revenue recognized.
To determine the standalone selling price of its promised solutions or services, the Company conducts a regular analysis to determine whether various solutions or services have an observable standalone selling price. If the Company does not have an observable standalone selling price for a particular solution or service, then the standalone selling price for that particular solution or service is estimated using all information that is reasonably available and maximizing observable inputs using approaches including historical pricing, cost plus a margin, adjusted market assessment, and a residual approach.
The following describes the nature of the Company's primary types of revenue and the revenue recognition policies and significant payment terms as they pertain to the types of transactions the Company enters into with its customers.
Transaction Processing and Services Revenue
Transaction processing and services revenue is primarily comprised of payment processing, data processing, application management, and outsourced services, including our SaaS, BPaaS and cloud offerings. Revenue from transaction processing and services is recurring and is typically volume or activity based depending on factors such as the number of payments, transactions, accounts or trades processed, number of users, number of hours of services or amount of computer resources used. Fees may include tiered pricing structures with the base tier representing a minimum monthly usage fee. Pricing within the tiers typically resets on a monthly basis, and minimum monthly volumes are generally met or exceeded. Contract lengths for
60

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
processing services typically span one or more years; however, when distinct hosting services are offered, they are often cancelable without a significant penalty with 30-days' notice. Payment is generally due in advance or in arrears on a monthly or quarterly basis and may include fixed or variable payment amounts depending on the specific payment terms and activity in the period.
For processing services revenue, the nature of the Company's promise to the customer is to stand ready to provide continuous access to the Company's processing platforms and perform an unspecified quantity of outsourced and transaction processing services for a specified term or terms. Accordingly, processing services are generally viewed as a stand-ready performance obligation comprised of a series of distinct daily services. The Company typically satisfies its processing services performance obligations over time as the services are provided. A time-elapsed output method is used to measure progress because the Company's efforts are expended evenly throughout the period given the nature of the promise is a stand-ready service. The Company has evaluated its variable payment terms related to its processing services revenue accounted for as a series of distinct days of service and concluded that they generally meet the criteria for allocating variable consideration entirely to one or more, but not all, performance obligations in a contract. Accordingly, when the criteria are met, variable amounts based on the number and type of services performed during a period are allocated to, and recognized on, the day in which the Company performs the related services. Fixed fees for processing services are generally recognized ratably over the contract period.
Processing revenue also includes network, interchange, and other pass-through fees. Pass-through fees generally represent variable consideration and are allocated to, and recognized on, the day on which the related services are performed. Pass-through fees are billed monthly. Network and interchange fees are presented on a net basis; other pass through fees may be recorded on either a gross or a net basis depending on whether the Company is acting as a principal or an agent.
Software Maintenance Revenue
Software maintenance is comprised of technical support services and unspecified software updates and upgrades provided on a when-and-if-available basis. Software maintenance revenue is generally based on fixed fees. Payment terms are typically annually, quarterly, or monthly in advance. Contract terms vary and can span multiple years. The Company generally satisfies its maintenance-related performance obligations evenly using a time-elapsed output method over the contract term given there is no discernible pattern of performance.
Other Recurring Revenue
Other recurring revenue is comprised primarily of services provided by dedicated personnel resources who work full time at client sites and under the client's direction. Revenue from dedicated resource agreements is generally based on fixed monthly fees per resource. Payment terms are typically annually, quarterly, or monthly in advance. Contract terms vary and can span multiple years. The Company generally satisfies its dedicated resource obligations evenly using a time-elapsed output method over the contract term given there is no discernible pattern of performance.
Software License Revenue
The Company's software licenses generally have significant stand-alone functionality to the customer upon delivery and are considered to be functional intellectual property. Additionally, the nature of the Company's promise in granting these software licenses to a customer is typically to provide the customer a right to use the Company's intellectual property. The Company's software licenses are generally considered distinct performance obligations. Revenue allocated to software licenses is typically recognized at a point in time upon delivery of the license and is non-recurring. Contracts that contain software licenses often have non-standard terms that require significant judgments that may affect the amount and timing of revenue recognized.
When a software license requires frequent updates that are integral to maintaining the utility of the license to the customer, the Company combines the software license and the maintenance into a single performance obligation, and revenue for the combined performance obligation is recognized in Other recurring revenue as the maintenance is provided, consistent with the treatment described for maintenance above. When a software license contract also includes professional services that provide significant modification or customization of the software license, the Company combines the software license and professional services into a single performance obligation, and revenue for the combined performance obligation is recognized as the professional services are provided, consistent with the methods described below for professional services revenue.
61

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
The Company has contracts where the licensed software is offered in conjunction with hosting services. The licensed software may be considered a separate performance obligation from the hosting services if the customer can take possession of the software during the contractual term without incurring a significant penalty and if it is feasible for the customer to run the software on its own infrastructure or hire a third party to host the software. If the licensed software and hosting services are separately identifiable, license revenue is recognized when the hosting services commence and it is within the customer's control to obtain a copy of the software. If the software license is not separately identifiable from the hosting service, then the related revenue for the combined performance obligation is recognized ratably over the hosting period and classified as processing revenue.
Occasionally, the Company offers extended payment terms on its license transactions and evaluates whether any potential significant financing components exist. For certain of its business units, the Company will provide a software license through a rental model wherein the customer generally pays for the software license and maintenance in monthly or quarterly installments as opposed to an upfront software license fee. Revenue recognition under these arrangements follows the same recognition pattern as the arrangements outlined above. Judgment is required to determine whether these arrangements contain a significant financing component. The Company evaluates whether there is a significant difference between the amount of promised consideration over the rental term and the cash selling price of the software license, the degree to which financing is the reason for any such difference, and the overall impact of the time value of money on the transaction. If we conclude a significant financing component exists, then the transaction price is adjusted for the time value of money at the Company's incremental borrowing rate by recording a contract asset and interest income. The Company does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the difference between the promised consideration and the cash selling price arises for reasons other than the provision of finance or it is expected, at contract inception, that the period between when the Company transfers a promised solution or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that solution or service will be one year or less.
Professional Services Revenue
Professional services revenue is comprised of implementation, conversion, and programming services associated with the Company's data processing and application management agreements and implementation or installation services related to licensed software. Although this revenue is non-recurring in nature, it is generally recognized over time, with service durations spanning from several weeks to several years, depending on the scope and complexity of the work. Payment terms for professional services may be based on an upfront fixed fee, fixed upon the achievement of milestones, or on a time-and-materials basis.
In assessing whether implementation services provided on data processing, application management or software agreements are a distinct performance obligation, the Company considers whether the services are both capable of being distinct (i.e., the customer can benefit from the services alone or in combination with other resources that are readily available to the customer) and distinct within the context of the contract (i.e., the services are separately identifiable from the other performance obligations in the contract). Implementation services and other professional services are typically considered distinct performance obligations. However, when these services involve significant customization or modification of an underlying solution or offering, or if the services are complex and not available from a third-party provider and must be completed prior to a customer having the ability to benefit from a solution or offering, then such services and the underlying solution or offering will be accounted for as a combined performance obligation.
The Company's professional services that are accounted for as distinct performance obligations and that are billed on a fixed fee basis are typically satisfied as services are rendered; thus, the Company uses a cost-based input method, such as cost-to-cost or efforts expended (labor hours), to provide a faithful depiction of the transfer of those services. For professional services that are distinct and billed on a time-and-materials basis, revenue is generally recognized using an output method that corresponds with the time and materials billed and delivered, which is reflective of the transfer of the services to the customer. Professional services that are not distinct from an associated solution or offering are recognized over the common measure of progress for the overall performance obligation (typically a time-elapsed output measure that corresponds to the period over which the solution or offering is made available to the customer).
62

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Other Non-recurring Revenue
Other non-recurring revenue is comprised primarily of hardware, one-time card production, and early termination fees. The Company typically does not stock in inventory the hardware solutions sold but arranges for delivery of hardware from third-party suppliers. The Company determines whether hardware delivered from third-party suppliers should be recognized on a gross or net basis by evaluating whether the Company has control of the solution or service prior to it being transferred to the customer. Equipment and one-time card production revenue is generally recognized at a point in time upon delivery. Early contract terminations are treated as contract modifications. Early termination fees are added to a contract's transaction price once it becomes likely that liquidated damages will be charged to a customer, typically upon notification of early termination. Early termination fees are recognized over the remaining period of the related performance obligation(s).
Material Rights
Some of the Company's contracts with customers include options for the customer to acquire additional, or renew existing, solutions or services in the future. Options may represent a material right to acquire solutions or services if the discount is incremental to the range of discounts typically given for those solutions or services to that class of customer in that geographical area or market and if the customer would not have obtained the option without entering into the contract. If deemed to be a material right, the Company will account for the material right as a separate performance obligation and determine the standalone selling price based on directly observable prices when available. If the standalone selling price is not directly observable, then the Company estimates the standalone selling price to be equal to the discount that the customer would obtain by exercising the option, as adjusted for any discount that the customer would receive without exercising the option and for the likelihood that the option will be exercised.
(q)Cost of Revenue and Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Cost of revenue consists of costs directly associated with providing solutions or services to clients and includes payroll, employee benefits and other costs associated with personnel employed in customer service and service delivery roles as well as third-party costs involved in fulfillment of performance obligations for which the Company is acting as a principal. Cost of revenue also includes data processing costs, amortization of software, customer relationship and trademark intangible assets, and depreciation on operating assets.
Selling, general and administrative expenses include payroll, employee benefits and other costs associated with personnel employed in sales, marketing, human resources, finance, risk management and other administrative roles, as well as acquisition, integration and certain other costs that are not considered when management evaluates revenue-generating segment performance. Selling, general and administrative expenses also include depreciation on non-operating corporate assets as well as advertising and other marketing-related program costs.
(r)Stock-Based Compensation Plans
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation plans using the fair value method. Thus, compensation cost is measured based on the fair value of the award at the grant date and is recognized over the service period. For our service-based stock awards, we recognize the compensation cost on a straight-line basis over the award's service period, which is generally three years. For our performance-based stock awards with market conditions which typically cliff vest on the third anniversary date of the grant, we recognize the compensation cost on a straight-line basis over the service period when it is probable the outcome of that performance condition will be achieved. The Company adjusts the compensation expense over the service period based upon the expected achievement level of the applicable performance condition. Certain of our stock awards contain only market conditions. In those circumstances, compensation cost is recognized over the service period and is not reversed even if the award does not become exercisable in the event the market condition is not achieved. The Company estimates future forfeitures at the time of grant and revises those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ significantly from those estimates.
(s)Foreign Currency Translation
Our functional currency is the U.S. dollar. The functional currency of each of our operating subsidiaries is generally the currency of the economic environment in which the subsidiary primarily does business. Our foreign subsidiaries with non-U.S. dollar functional currencies are translated into U.S. dollars for consolidation purposes using the foreign exchange rates applicable to the dates of the financial statements. Generally, these consist of the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet
63

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
date for balance sheet accounts and the average exchange rates in effect during the relevant period for revenue and expense accounts. The adjustments resulting from the translation are included in Accumulated other comprehensive earnings (loss) in the consolidated statements of equity and consolidated statements of comprehensive earnings and are excluded from net earnings.
Gains or losses resulting from measuring foreign currency transactions into the respective functional currency are included in Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of earnings.
(t)Net Earnings (Loss) per Share
The basic weighted average shares and common stock equivalents for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, are computed using the treasury stock method.
Net earnings (loss) and earnings (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, are as follows (in millions, except per share data):

| Year ended December 31,
| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to FIS common stockholders | $ | 503 |  |  | $ | 608 |  |  | $ | 320 |
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to FIS common stockholders | (7,157) |  |  | (17,328) |  |  | 97 |
Net earnings (loss) attributable to FIS common stockholders | $ | (6,654) |  |  | $ | (16,720) |  |  | $ | 417 |
Weighted average shares outstanding-basic | 591 |  |  | 604 |  |  | 616 |
Plus: Common stock equivalent shares | — |  |  | — |  |  | 5 |
Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted | 591 |  |  | 604 |  |  | 621 |
Net earnings (loss) per share-basic from continuing operations attributable to FIS common stockholders | $ | 0.85 |  |  | $ | 1.01 |  |  | $ | 0.52 |
Net earnings (loss) per share-basic from discontinued operations attributable to FIS common stockholders | (12.11) |  |  | (28.69) |  |  | 0.16 |
Net earnings (loss) per share-basic attributable to FIS common stockholders | $ | (11.26) |  |  | $ | (27.68) |  |  | $ | 0.68 |
Net earnings (loss) per share-diluted from continuing operations attributable to FIS common stockholders | $ | 0.85 |  |  | $ | 1.01 |  |  | $ | 0.52 |
Net earnings (loss) per share-diluted from discontinued operations attributable to FIS common stockholders | (12.11) |  |  | (28.69) |  |  | 0.16 |
Net earnings (loss) per share-diluted attributable to FIS common stockholders | $ | (11.26) |  |  | $ | (27.68) |  |  | $ | 0.67 |

The diluted net loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, did not include the effect of common stock equivalent shares of 2 million and 3 million, respectively.
Options to purchase approximately 8 million, 5 million and 2 million shares of our common stock for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share because they were anti-dilutive.
(u)Recent Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted
In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The ASU requires that an entity disclose specific categories in the effective tax rate reconciliation as well as provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold. Further, the ASU requires certain disclosures of state versus federal income tax expense and taxes paid. The amendments in this ASU are required to be adopted for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2024. Early adoption is permitted for annual financial statements that have not yet been issued. The amendments should be applied on a prospective basis although retrospective application is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of adoption on our financial disclosures.
In November 2023, the FASB used ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. The ASU requires that an entity disclose significant segment expenses impacting profit and loss that are regularly
64

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
provided to the chief operating decision maker. The update is required to be applied retrospectively to prior periods presented, based on the significant segment expense categories identified and disclosed in the period of adoption. The amendments in this ASU are required to be adopted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of adoption of our financial disclosures
(v)Certain Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made in the 2022 and 2021 consolidated financial statements to conform to the classifications used in 2023. As a result of our ongoing portfolio assessments, the Company reclassified certain businesses from Capital Markets to Banking and to Corporate and Other during the quarter ended March 31, 2023, and reclassified certain non-strategic operations from Banking to Corporate and Other during the quarter ended December 31, 2023. The Company recast all prior-period segment information presented to reflect these reclassifications. See Note 22 for more information regarding our segments. December 31, 2023, was the final deadline for states to complete all benefit issuance under federally funded pandemic relief programs. Accordingly, revenue associated with services the Company provided related to these programs has been classified within the Banking segment as Other non-recurring commencing during the quarter ended December 31, 2023, and related prior-period amounts have been reclassified from Transaction processing and services to Other non-recurring for comparability. See Note 5 for further information.
During January 2024, the Company agreed to include in the Worldpay Sale an equity security investment with a book value of $30 million. As of September 30, 2023, the value of this investment had been properly recorded as Other noncurrent assets within continuing operations on the consolidated balance sheets at September 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022. As a result of the subsequent decision to convey this asset in the Worldpay Sale, the amount of this asset has been reclassified and is now presented within these financial statements as Noncurrent assets held for sale at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and is reported within Other noncurrent assets within discontinued operations (see Note 3).
3.Discontinued Operations
Sale of Worldpay Merchant Solutions Business
The following table represents a reconciliation of the major components of discontinued operations, net of tax, presented in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) (in millions). The Company's presentation of discontinued operations excludes general corporate overhead costs which were historically allocated to the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business.

| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Major components of discontinued operations before income taxes: |  |  |  |  |
Revenue | $ | 4,859 |  |  | $ | 4,809 |  |  | $ | 4,538 |
Cost of revenue | (1,662) |  |  | (2,604) |  |  | (2,640) |
Selling, general, and administrative expenses | (1,992) |  |  | (1,936) |  |  | (1,876) |
Asset impairments | (6,844) |  |  | (17,606) |  |  | (8) |
Interest income (expense), net | 27 |  |  | 6 |  |  | (2) |
Other, net | 63 |  |  | 55 |  |  | 53 |
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations related to major classes of pre-tax earnings(loss) | (5,549) |  |  | (17,276) |  |  | 65 |
Loss on assets held for sale | (1,909) |  |  | — |  |  | — |
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations | (7,458) |  |  | (17,276) |  |  | 65 |
Provision (benefit) for income taxes | (301) |  |  | 52 |  |  | (32) |
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax attributable to FIS | $ | (7,157) |  |  | $ | (17,328) |  |  | $ | 97 |

The following table represents the major classes of assets and liabilities of the disposal group classified as held for sale presented in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022 (in millions). Assets held for sale are reported at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less cost to sell and are not depreciated or amortized.
65

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

| December 31, 2023 |  | December 31, 2022
Major classes of assets included in discontinued operations: |  |  |
Cash and cash equivalents | $ | 1,380 |  |  | $ | 1,732 |
Settlement assets | 6,727 |  |  | 5,264 |
Trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses of $52 and $44, respectively | 1,843 |  |  | 1,864 |
Prepaid expenses and other current assets | 161 |  |  | 130 |
Total current assets | 10,111 |  |  | 8,990 |
Property and equipment, net | 207 |  |  | 153 |
Goodwill | 10,906 |  |  | 17,460 |
Intangible assets, net | 5,971 |  |  | 6,488 |
Software, net | 1,321 |  |  | 1,183 |
Other noncurrent assets (1) | 613 |  |  | 480 |
Total noncurrent assets | 19,018 |  |  | 25,764 |
Less valuation allowance | (1,909) |  |  | — |
Total assets of the disposal group classified as held for sale | $ | 27,220 |  |  | $ | 34,754 |
Major classes of liabilities included in discontinued operations: |  |  |
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities | $ | 998 |  |  | $ | 1,171 |
Settlement payables | 7,821 |  |  | 6,140 |
Other current liabilities | 65 |  |  | 55 |
Total current liabilities | 8,884 |  |  | 7,366 |
Deferred income taxes | 599 |  |  | 861 |
Other noncurrent liabilities | 494 |  |  | 510 |
Total noncurrent liabilities | 1,093 |  |  | 1,371 |
Total liabilities of the disposal group classified as held for sale | $ | 9,977 |  |  | $ | 8,737 |

(1)During January 2024, the Company agreed to include in the Worldpay Sale an equity security investment with a book value of $30 million. As of September 30, 2023, the value of this investment had been properly recorded as Other noncurrent assets within continuing operations on the consolidated balance sheets at September 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022. As a result of the subsequent decision to convey this asset in the Worldpay Sale, the amount of this asset has been reclassified and is now presented within these financial statements as Noncurrent assets held for sale at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and is shown in the table above within Other noncurrent assets within discontinued operations.
The following table presents cash flows from operating and investing activities for discontinued operations (in millions).

|  | December 31,
|  | 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities - discontinued operations |  | $ | 2,257 |  |  | $ | 2,317 |  |  | $ | 2,539 |
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities - discontinued operations (1) |  | $ | (342) |  |  | $ | (147) |  |  | $ | (1,081) |
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities - discontinued operations (2) |  | $ | (240) |  |  | $ | (500) |  |  | $ | (144) |

(1)Our capital expenditures from discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, were $342 million, $395 million and $334 million, respectively. The year ended December 31, 2022, includes $269 million net proceeds from the sale of Visa preferred stock.
(2) Excludes the impact of intercompany cash transactions between the disposal group and other FIS entities, which are eliminated in consolidation.
66

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Settlement Assets
The principal components of the Company's settlement assets of the disposal group are as follows (in millions):

| December 31, 2023 |  | December 31, 2022
Settlement assets |  |  |
Settlement deposits | $ | 56 |  |  | $ | 55 |
Merchant float | 2,594 |  |  | 2,625 |
Settlement receivables | 4,077 |  |  | 2,584 |
Total Settlement assets | $ | 6,727 |  |  | $ | 5,264 |

Held-for-sale Disposal Group Measurement
In accordance with ASC 360, a held-for-sale disposal group is measured at the lower of its carrying value or fair value less cost to sell. Measuring the disposal group is a two-step process requiring the carrying amount of the disposal group's assets outside the scope of ASC 360, such as goodwill, which is tested for impairment under ASC 350, to be first adjusted by applying other relevant guidance before adjusting the carrying value of the overall disposal group.
The Company evaluated the goodwill of the disposal group for impairment as of September 30, 2023, by performing a quantitative assessment that estimated the fair value of the disposal group using a market approach based on the price at which the Company agreed to sell a majority interest in the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business. As of September 30, 2023, the estimated fair value of the disposal group approximated its carrying value, inclusive of related deferred tax liabilities assigned to the reporting unit for purposes of the goodwill impairment assessment in accordance with ASC 350 but not classified as liabilities held for sale in accordance with ASC 360 because these deferred tax liabilities would not be transferred in the Worldpay Sale. Based on the assessment, no goodwill impairment was recorded.
The carrying value of the overall disposal group was then assessed by comparing its value, inclusive of cumulative translation adjustment losses and exclusive of deferred tax liabilities not classified as part of the disposal group's assets held for sale, to the estimated fair value less estimated cost to sell. Based on this assessment, the carrying value of the disposal group was reduced by $1.9 billion as of December 31, 2023, primarily as a result of the exclusion of certain deferred tax liabilities that were not transferred in the Worldpay Sale. The reduction was recorded as a valuation allowance against the Company's assets held for sale. As of the closing date of the Worldpay Sale, the assets held for sale, net of the valuation allowance, and the liabilities held for sale will be derecognized and any additional gain or loss on sale will be recorded.
Asset Impairments
During the second quarter of 2023, the Company recorded a $6.8 billion goodwill impairment because the estimated fair value of the Worldpay Merchant Solutions reporting unit, now reported as assets held for sale, was less than its carrying value. To estimate the fair value of such reporting unit, we used a market approach based on the price, inclusive of estimated selling price adjustments and fair value of contingent consideration, at which the Company had subsequently agreed to sell a majority interest in the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business to Buyer, as discussed in Note 1.
During the fourth quarter of 2022, the Company recorded a $17.6 billion goodwill impairment of the Worldpay Merchant Solutions reporting unit, reflecting the projected impact of worsening macroeconomic conditions, including rising interest rates, inflation, and slowing growth in the U.S. and Europe, as well as a sustained decline in our market capitalization and the effects of changing market dynamics affecting the unit's growth.
Commitments and Contingencies of the Disposal Group
Chargeback Liability
Through services offered in the Worldpay Merchant Solutions disposal group, the Company is exposed to potential losses from merchant-related chargebacks. A chargeback occurs when a dispute between a cardholder and a merchant, including a claim for non-delivery of the product or service by the merchant, is not resolved in favor of the merchant and the transaction is
67

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
charged back to the merchant resulting in a refund of the purchase price to the cardholder. If the Company is unable to collect this chargeback amount from the merchant due to closure, bankruptcy or other reasons, the Company bears the loss for the refund paid to the cardholder. The risk of chargebacks is typically greater for those merchants that promise future delivery of goods and services rather than delivering goods or rendering services at the time of payment.
(4)Virtus Acquisition
On January 2, 2020, FIS acquired a majority interest in Virtus Partners ("Virtus"), previously a privately held company that provides high-value managed services and technology to the credit and loan market. The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. FIS acquired a 70% voting and financial interest in Virtus with 30% interest retained by the founders of Virtus ("Founders"). The agreement between FIS and the Founders provided FIS with a call option to purchase, and the Founders with a put option requiring FIS to purchase, all of the Founders' retained interest in Virtus at a redemption value determined pursuant to performance goals stated in the agreement, exercisable at any time after two years and three years, respectively, following the acquisition date. In January 2023, the Founders exercised their put option, and as a result, FIS paid the $173 million redemption value, recorded as a financing activity in the consolidated statement of cash flows, and now owns 100% of Virtus.
(5)Revenue
As a result of our ongoing portfolio assessments, the Company reclassified certain businesses from Capital Markets to Banking and to Corporate and Other during the quarter ended March 31, 2023, and reclassified certain non-strategic operations from Banking to Corporate and Other during the quarter ended December 31, 2023. The Company recast all prior-period segment information presented to reflect these reclassifications.
Disaggregation of Revenue
In the following tables, revenue is disaggregated by primary geographical market and type of revenue. The tables also include a reconciliation of the disaggregated revenue with the Company's reportable segments.
For the year ended December 31, 2023 (in millions):

|  | Banking Solutions |  | Capital Market Solutions |  | Corporate and Other |  | Total
Primary Geographical Markets: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
North America |  | $ | 5,802 |  |  | $ | 1,712 |  |  | $ | 167 |  |  | $ | 7,681 |
All others |  | 931 |  |  | 1,054 |  |  | 155 |  |  | 2,140 |
Total |  | $ | 6,733 |  |  | $ | 2,766 |  |  | $ | 322 |  |  | $ | 9,821 |
Type of Revenue: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Recurring revenue: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Transaction processing and services (1) |  | $ | 4,960 |  |  | $ | 1,381 |  |  | $ | 239 |  |  | $ | 6,580 |
Software maintenance |  | 364 |  |  | 531 |  |  | 2 |  |  | 897 |
Other recurring |  | 248 |  |  | 81 |  |  | 41 |  |  | 370 |
Total recurring |  | 5,572 |  |  | 1,993 |  |  | 282 |  |  | 7,847 |
Software license |  | 131 |  |  | 369 |  |  | 8 |  |  | 508 |
Professional services |  | 562 |  |  | 391 |  |  | 9 |  |  | 962 |
Other non-recurring (1) |  | 468 |  |  | 13 |  |  | 23 |  |  | 504 |
Total |  | $ | 6,733 |  |  | $ | 2,766 |  |  | $ | 322 |  |  | $ | 9,821 |

68

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2022 (in millions):

|  | Banking Solutions |  | Capital Market Solutions |  | Corporate and Other |  | Total
Primary Geographical Markets: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
North America |  | $ | 5,709 |  |  | $ | 1,566 |  |  | $ | 284 |  |  | $ | 7,559 |
All others |  | 915 |  |  | 1,065 |  |  | 180 |  |  | 2,160 |
Total |  | $ | 6,624 |  |  | $ | 2,631 |  |  | $ | 464 |  |  | $ | 9,719 |
Type of Revenue: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Recurring revenue: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Transaction processing and services (1) |  | $ | 4,785 |  |  | $ | 1,274 |  |  | $ | 384 |  |  | $ | 6,443 |
Software maintenance |  | 358 |  |  | 498 |  |  | 2 |  |  | 858 |
Other recurring |  | 210 |  |  | 58 |  |  | 38 |  |  | 306 |
Total recurring |  | 5,353 |  |  | 1,830 |  |  | 424 |  |  | 7,607 |
Software license |  | 160 |  |  | 377 |  |  | — |  |  | 537 |
Professional services |  | 632 |  |  | 419 |  |  | 8 |  |  | 1,059 |
Other non-recurring (1) |  | 479 |  |  | 5 |  |  | 32 |  |  | 516 |
Total |  | $ | 6,624 |  |  | $ | 2,631 |  |  | $ | 464 |  |  | $ | 9,719 |

For the year ended December 31, 2021 (in millions):

|  | Banking Solutions |  | Capital Market Solutions |  | Corporate and Other |  | Total
Primary Geographical Markets: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
North America |  | $ | 5,480 |  |  | $ | 1,445 |  |  | $ | 247 |  |  | $ | 7,172 |
All others |  | 881 |  |  | 1,050 |  |  | 236 |  |  | 2,167 |
Total |  | $ | 6,361 |  |  | $ | 2,495 |  |  | $ | 483 |  |  | $ | 9,339 |
Type of Revenue: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Recurring revenue: |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Transaction processing and services (1) |  | $ | 4,545 |  |  | $ | 1,136 |  |  | $ | 389 |  |  | $ | 6,070 |
Software maintenance |  | 376 |  |  | 489 |  |  | 4 |  |  | 869 |
Other recurring |  | 172 |  |  | 52 |  |  | 53 |  |  | 277 |
Total recurring |  | 5,093 |  |  | 1,677 |  |  | 446 |  |  | 7,216 |
Software license |  | 131 |  |  | 371 |  |  | — |  |  | 502 |
Professional services |  | 600 |  |  | 437 |  |  | 10 |  |  | 1,047 |
Other non-recurring (1) |  | 537 |  |  | 10 |  |  | 27 |  |  | 574 |
Total |  | $ | 6,361 |  |  | $ | 2,495 |  |  | $ | 483 |  |  | $ | 9,339 |

(1) December 31, 2023, was the final deadline for states to complete all benefit issuance under federally funded pandemic relief programs. Accordingly, revenue associated with services the Company provided related to these programs has been classified as Other non-recurring commencing in the fourth quarter of 2023, and related prior-period amounts have been reclassified from Transaction processing and services to Other non-recurring for comparability. Revenue associated with services the Company provided related to these programs was $151 million, $112 million and $168 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
69

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Contract Balances
The Company recognized revenue of approximately $677 million, $696 million and $668 million, during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, that was included in the corresponding deferred revenue balance at the beginning of the periods.
Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligations
As of December 31, 2023, approximately $23.5 billion of revenue is estimated to be recognized in the future primarily from the Banking Solutions and Capital Market Solutions segments' remaining unfulfilled performance obligations, which are primarily comprised of recurring account- and volume-based processing services. This excludes the amount of anticipated recurring renewals not yet contractually obligated. The Company expects to recognize approximately 30% of the Banking Solutions and Capital Market Solutions segments' remaining performance obligations over the next 12 months, approximately another 23% over the next 13 to 24 months, and the balance thereafter.
(6)Property and Equipment
Property and equipment as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, consist of the following (in millions):

| 2023 |  | 2022
Land | $ | 33 |  |  | $ | 33 |
Buildings | 435 |  |  | 422 |
Leasehold improvements | 105 |  |  | 113 |
Computer equipment | 1,387 |  |  | 1,298 |
Furniture, fixtures, and other equipment | 114 |  |  | 107 |
| 2,074 |  |  | 1,973 |
Accumulated depreciation and amortization | (1,379) |  |  | (1,264) |
Total Property and equipment, net | $ | 695 |  |  | $ | 709 |

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company entered into other financing obligations of $53 million and $63 million, respectively, for certain hardware and software. The assets are included in property and equipment and software and the other financing obligations are classified as long-term debt on our consolidated balance sheets. Periodic payments are included in repayment of borrowings on the consolidated statements of cash flows.
Depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment totaled $165 million, $186 million and $178 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
(7)Goodwill
Changes in goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, are summarized below (in millions).

| Banking Solutions |  | Capital Market Solutions |  | Corporate and Other |  | Total
Balance, December 31, 2021 | $ | 12,566 |  |  | $ | 4,341 |  |  | $ | 20 |  |  | $ | 16,927 |
Foreign currency adjustments | (30) |  |  | (81) |  |  | — |  |  | (111) |
Balance, December 31, 2022 | 12,536 |  |  | 4,260 |  |  | 20 |  |  | 16,816 |
Goodwill attributable to acquisitions | 37 |  |  | 64 |  |  | — |  |  | 101 |
Foreign currency adjustments | 15 |  |  | 39 |  |  | — |  |  | 54 |
Balance, December 31, 2023 | $ | 12,588 |  |  | $ | 4,363 |  |  | $ | 20 |  |  | $ | 16,971 |

For our Banking and Capital Markets reporting units, for which previous third-party valuations have historically indicated substantial excess of fair value over carrying amounts, our 2021 qualitative annual assessment concluded that it remained more likely than not that the fair value of each of the reporting units continued to exceed their respective carrying amounts. For 2022, we performed a quantitative annual assessment which again concluded that the fair values of these reporting units substantially
70

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
exceeded their respective carrying amounts. For 2023, we performed a qualitative annual assessment of these reporting units and concluded that it remained more likely than not that the fair values of these reporting units continued to exceed their respective carrying amounts. Given the substantial excess of fair value over carrying amounts, we believe the likelihood of obtaining materially different results based on a change of assumptions to be low.
The total carrying amount of goodwill as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, is net of accumulated impairment charges of $94 million which relates to non-strategic businesses within Corporate and Other.
(8)Intangible Assets
Intangible assets as of December 31, 2023, consist of the following (in millions):

| Cost |  | Accumulated Amortization |  | Net
Customer relationships | $ | 6,326 |  |  | $ | (4,583) |  |  | $ | 1,743 |
Trademarks and other | 142 |  |  | (62) |  |  | 80 |
Total Intangible assets, net | $ | 6,468 |  |  | $ | (4,645) |  |  | $ | 1,823 |

Intangible assets as of December 31, 2022, consist of the following (in millions):

| Cost |  | Accumulated Amortization |  | Net
Customer relationships | $ | 6,281 |  |  | $ | (3,953) |  |  | $ | 2,328 |
Trademarks and other | 193 |  |  | (53) |  |  | 140 |
Total Intangible assets, net | $ | 6,474 |  |  | $ | (4,006) |  |  | $ | 2,468 |

Amortization expense for intangible assets with finite lives was $467 million, $486 million and $484 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Estimated amortization of intangible assets for the next five years is as follows (in millions):

2024 | $ | 634 |
2025 | 560 |
2026 | 192 |
2027 | 161 |
2028 | 143 |

(9)Software
Software as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, consists of the following (in millions):

| 2023 |  | 2022
Software from acquisitions | $ | 754 |  |  | $ | 702 |
Capitalized software development costs | 2,775 |  |  | 2,946 |
Purchased software | 633 |  |  | 693 |
| 4,162 |  |  | 4,341 |
Accumulated amortization | (2,047) |  |  | (2,286) |
Total Software, net | $ | 2,115 |  |  | $ | 2,055 |

During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded $81 million, $31 million and $136 million, respectively, of software asset impairments and $18 million, $75 million and $76 million, respectively, of incremental software amortization expense driven by the Company's platform modernization. Platform modernization includes sunsetting certain technology platforms, which resulted in shortened estimated useful lives and accelerated amortization methods primarily impacting the associated assets over an approximate three-year period, beginning in the third quarter of 2021.
71

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Amortization expense for software was $588 million, $640 million and $637 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
(10)Deferred Contract Costs
Origination and fulfillment costs from contracts with customers capitalized as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, consist of the following (in millions):

| 2023 |  | 2022
Contract costs on implementations in progress | $ | 291 |  |  | $ | 240 |
Contract origination costs on completed implementations, net | 542 |  |  | 516 |
Contract fulfillment costs on completed implementations, net | 243 |  |  | 217 |
Total Deferred contract costs, net | $ | 1,076 |  |  | $ | 973 |

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, amortization of deferred contract costs on completed implementations was $310 million, $324 million and $312 million, respectively.
During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded $6 million, $34 million, and $33 million respectively, of incremental amortization expense related to deferred contract costs driven by the Company's platform modernization. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company also recorded $58 million of impairments related to the platform modernization. The Company's platform modernization is also discussed in Note 9.
(11)Accounts Payable, Accrued and Other Liabilities
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, consists of the following (in millions):

| 2023 |  | 2022
Trade accounts payable and other accrued liabilities | $ | 733 |  |  | $ | 623 |
Salaries and incentives | 472 |  |  | 361 |
Taxes other than income tax | 301 |  |  | 299 |
Accrued benefits and payroll taxes | 106 |  |  | 88 |
Operating lease liabilities | 85 |  |  | 99 |
Accrued interest payable | 162 |  |  | 113 |
Total Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities | $ | 1,859 |  |  | $ | 1,583 |

(12)Other Noncurrent Assets and Liabilities
Other noncurrent assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, consist of the following (in millions):

| 2023 |  | 2022
Operating lease ROU assets (1) | $ | 214 |  |  | $ | 251 |
Equity security investments | 195 |  |  | 281 |
Derivatives | 172 |  |  | 330 |
Other | 947 |  |  | 813 |
Total Other noncurrent assets | $ | 1,528 |  |  | $ | 1,675 |

72

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Other noncurrent liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, consist of the following (in millions):

| 2023 |  | 2022
Operating lease liabilities (1) | $ | 178 |  |  | $ | 219 |
Deferred revenue | 149 |  |  | 165 |
Derivatives | 789 |  |  | 641 |
Other | 330 |  |  | 357 |
Total Other noncurrent liabilities | $ | 1,446 |  |  | $ | 1,382 |

(1)See Note 15, Operating Leases
Equity Security Investments
The Company holds various equity securities without readily determinable fair values that primarily represent strategic investments made by the Company as well as investments obtained through acquisitions. Such investments totaled $195 million and $281 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are included within Other noncurrent assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company accounts for these investments at cost, less impairment, and adjusts the carrying values for observable price changes from orderly transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer. These adjustments are generally considered Level 2-type fair value measurements. The Company records realized and unrealized gains and losses on these investments as well as impairment losses, as Other income (expense), net on the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) and recorded net (losses) gains of $(48) million, $(31) million and $161 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, related to these investments. The net loss recorded for the 2023 period primarily relates to impairments. The net loss recorded during 2022 included a $78 million impairment loss.
(13)Debt
Long-term debt as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, consisted of the following (in millions):

|  | December 31, 2023 |  |  |  |
|  |  |  | Weighted |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | Stated |  | Average |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | Interest |  | Interest |  |  |  | December 31,
|  | Rates |  | Rate (1) |  | Maturities |  | 2023 |  | 2022
Fixed Rate Notes |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Senior USD Notes |  | 0.6% - 5.6% |  | 3.6% |  | 2024 - 2052 |  | $ | 8,659 |  |  | $ | 9,409 |
Senior Euro Notes |  | 0.6% - 3.0% |  | 2.9% |  | 2024 - 2039 |  | 4,968 |  |  | 6,154 |
Senior GBP Notes |  | 2.3% - 3.4% |  | 7.0% |  | 2029 - 2031 |  | 1,178 |  |  | 1,119 |
Revolving Credit Facility (2) |  |  |  | 6.6% |  | 2026 |  | 127 |  |  | 280 |
Incremental Revolving Credit Facility (3) |  |  |  |  |  | 2024 |  | — |  |  | — |
Other (4) |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | (614) |  |  | (626) |
Total long-term debt, including current portion |  |  |  |  |  | 14,318 |  |  | 16,336 |
Current portion of long-term debt |  |  |  |  |  |  |  | (1,348) |  |  | (2,130) |
Long-term debt, excluding current portion |  |  |  |  |  | $ | 12,970 |  |  | $ | 14,206 |

(1)The weighted average interest rate includes the impact of the fair value basis adjustments due to interest rate swaps and the impact of cross-currency interest rate swaps designated as fair value hedges and excludes the impact of cross-currency interest rate swaps designated as net investment hedges (see Note 14). The impact of the included fair value basis adjustments and cross-currency interest rate swaps in certain cases results in an effective weighted average interest rate being outside the stated interest rate range on the fixed rate notes.
(2)Interest on the Revolving Credit Facility is generally payable at Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") plus a margin of up to 0.428% dependent on tenor, plus an applicable margin of up to 1.625% and an unused commitment fee of up to 0.225%, each based upon the Company's corporate credit ratings. The weighted average interest rate on the Revolving Credit Facility excludes fees.
(3)Interest on the Incremental Revolving Credit Facility is generally payable at a rate, at the option of the Company, equal to the Term SOFR Rate plus 0.10% plus a margin of up to 1.625% or equal to the Base Rate plus a margin of up to 0.625%, in either case plus an unused commitment fee of up to 0.225%.
(4)Other includes the amount of fair value basis adjustments due to interest rate swaps (see further discussion below and in Note 14), unamortized debt issuance costs, unamortized non-cash bond discounts, and other financing obligations for certain hardware and software.
73

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Short-term borrowings as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, consisted of the following (in millions):

| December 31, 2023 |  |  |  |
| Weighted |  |  |  |  |  |
| Average |  |  |  |  |  |
| Interest |  |  |  | December 31,
| Rate |  | Maturities |  | 2023 |  | 2022
Euro-commercial paper notes ("ECP Notes") | 4.1 | % |  | Up to 183 days |  | $ | 2,118 |  |  | $ | 2,054 |
U.S. commercial paper notes ("USCP Notes") | 5.7 | % |  | Up to 397 days |  | 2,642 |  |  | 1,701 |
Total Short-term borrowings |  |  |  |  | $ | 4,760 |  |  | $ | 3,755 |

The Company is a party to interest rate swaps that, prior to de-designation as fair value hedges, converted a portion of its fixed-rate debt to variable-rate debt. These interest rate swaps were de-designated as fair value hedges of its fixed-rate debt during the quarter ended September 30, 2023. As a result of the de-designations, the final fair value basis adjustments recorded through the dates of de-designation as a decrease of the long-term debt are now amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method over the remaining periods to maturity of the respective long-term debt. The fair value basis adjustments reflected in Other in the long-term debt table above totaled $(594) million and $(578) million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
The Company is also party to fixed-for-fixed cross-currency interest rate swaps under which it agrees to receive interest in foreign currency in exchange for paying interest in U.S. dollars. These are designated as fair value hedges.
The Company has also entered into cross-currency interest rate swaps under which it agrees to receive interest in U.S. dollars in exchange for paying interest in a foreign currency. These are designated as net investment hedges. Although these cross-currency interest rate swaps are entered into as net investment hedges of its investments in certain of its non-U.S. subsidiaries, and not for the purpose of hedging interest rates, the benefit or cost of such hedges is reflected in interest expense in the consolidated statement of earnings. As of December 31, 2023, the weighted average interest rate of the Company's outstanding debt was 4.2%, including the impact of fair value basis adjustments due to interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps designated as fair value hedges but excluding the impact of cross-currency interest rate swaps designated as net investment hedges. Including the impact of the net investment hedge cross-currency interest rate swaps on interest expense, the weighted average interest rate of the Company's outstanding debt was 3.5%.
See Note 14 for further discussion of the Company's interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps and related hedge designations.
The obligations of FIS under the Revolving Credit Facility, ECP Notes and USCP Notes, and all of its outstanding senior notes rank equal in priority and are unsecured.
The following table summarizes the amount of our long-term debt based on maturity date.

| Total
2024 | $ | 1,359 |
2025 | 1,463 |
2026 | 1,393 |
2027 | 1,880 |
2028 | 1,669 |
Thereafter | 7,264 |
Total principal payments | 15,028 |
Other debt per the long-term debt table | (614) |
Financing obligations for certain hardware and software (1) | (96) |
Total long-term debt, including current portion | $ | 14,318 |

(1)Financing obligations for certain hardware and software included in the Other debt per the long-term debt table are also included in the total principal amounts summarized by maturity date above.
74

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
There are no mandatory principal payments on the Revolving Credit Facility or the Incremental Revolving Credit Facility, and any balance outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility or the Incremental Revolving Credit facility will be due and payable at each such facility's scheduled maturity date, which occur on March 2, 2026, and June 15, 2024, respectively.
Senior Notes
FIS may redeem the Senior USD Notes, Senior Euro Notes and Senior GBP Notes (collectively, the "Senior Notes") at its option in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time, at a redemption price equal to the greater of 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed and a make-whole amount calculated as described in the related indenture in each case plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the date of redemption, provided no make-whole amount will be paid for redemptions of the Senior Notes during the period described in the related indenture (ranging from one to six months) prior to their maturity.
On May 21, 2023, FIS repaid an aggregate principal amount of €1.3 billion in Senior Euro Notes, on their due date, pursuant to the related indenture. On March 1, 2023, FIS repaid an aggregate principal amount of $750 million in Senior USD Notes, on their due date, pursuant to the related indenture. On December 3, 2022, FIS repaid an aggregate principal amount of €1.0 billion in Senior Euro Notes, on their due date, pursuant to the related indenture.
On July 13, 2022, FIS completed the issuance and sale of Senior USD Notes with an aggregate principal amount of $2.5 billion with interest rates ranging from 4.5% to 5.6% and maturities ranging from 2025 to 2052. The proceeds from the debt issuance were used for the repayment of debt under our commercial paper programs in the third quarter of 2022.
In March 2021, pursuant to cash tender offers and make-whole redemptions, FIS purchased and redeemed an aggregate principal amount of $5.1 billion in Senior Notes, comprised of $3,529 million in Senior USD Notes, $600 million in Senior Euro Notes, $871 million in Senior GBP Notes, and $66 million in Senior Euro Floating Rate Notes, with interest rates ranging from 0.0% to 5.0% and maturities ranging from 2021 to 2029, resulting in a loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately $528 million, recorded in Other income (expense), net on the consolidated statement of earnings (loss), relating to tender premiums, make-whole amounts, and fees; the write-off of unamortized bond discounts and debt issuance costs; and losses on related derivative instruments. The Company funded the purchase and redemption of the Senior Notes with proceeds on borrowings from the issuance and sale of Senior USD Notes on March 2, 2021.
On March 2, 2021, FIS completed the issuance and sale of Senior USD Notes with an aggregate principal amount of $5.5 billion with interest rates ranging from 0.4% to 3.1% and maturities ranging from 2023 to 2041. A portion of the proceeds from the debt issuance was used to purchase and redeem certain Senior Notes as discussed above, with the remaining proceeds used to repay a portion of our commercial paper notes.
The Senior Notes are subject to customary covenants, including, among others, customary events of default.
Commercial Paper
The Company has a Euro-commercial paper ("ECP") program for the issuance and sale of senior, unsecured commercial paper notes, up to a maximum aggregate amount outstanding at any time of $4.7 billion (or its equivalent in other currencies). The ECP program is generally used for general corporate purposes.
The Company has a U.S. commercial paper ("USCP") program for the issuance and sale of senior, unsecured commercial paper notes, up to a maximum aggregate amount outstanding at any time of $5.5 billion. The USCP program is generally used for general corporate purposes.
Revolving Credit Facilities
On March 2, 2021, FIS entered into an amendment to the Revolving Credit Facility agreement to amend certain covenant provisions, revise lender commitments for certain counterparties, and extend the scheduled maturity date to March 2, 2026. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility will generally be used for general corporate purposes, including backstopping any notes that FIS may issue under the USCP and ECP programs described above.
On February 28, 2023, FIS entered into an Incremental Revolving Credit Facility which provides credit commitments outstanding of $2.0 billion, with a scheduled maturity date of December 15, 2023. In November 2023, the Company amended the Incremental Revolving Credit Facility to extend the maturity date to the earlier of (i) June 15, 2024, and (ii) ten business
75

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
days after the consummation of the Worldpay Sale, which closed on January 31, 2024. On February 14, 2024, following the closing of the Worldpay Sale, the Incremental Revolving Credit Facility expired in accordance with its terms.
As of December 31, 2023, the borrowing capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility and Incremental Revolving Credit Facility was $2,613 million (net of $4,760 million of capacity backstopping our commercial paper notes).
The revolving credit facilities are subject to customary covenants restricting, among other things, the incurrence of indebtedness, certain restricted payments and use of proceeds as well as requiring us to maintain certain financial ratios.
We monitor the financial stability of our counterparties on an ongoing basis. The lender commitments under the undrawn portions of the Revolving Credit Facility and Incremental Revolving Credit Facility are comprised of a diversified set of financial institutions, both domestic and international. The failure of any single lender to perform its obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility and Incremental Revolving Credit Facility would not adversely impact our ability to fund our operations.
Fair Value of Debt
The fair value of the Company's long-term debt is estimated to be approximately $1,086 million and $1,873 million lower than the carrying value, excluding the fair value basis adjustment of the interest rate swaps and unamortized discounts, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
(14)Financial Instruments
Fair Value Hedges
The Company held fixed-to-variable interest rate swaps with aggregate notional amounts of $1,854 million, £925 million and €500 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Prior to the quarter ended September 30, 2023, these swaps were designated as fair value hedges for accounting purposes, converting the interest rate exposure on certain of the Company's Senior USD Notes, Senior GBP Notes and Senior Euro Notes, as applicable, from fixed to variable. While designated as fair value hedges, changes in fair value of these interest rate swaps were recorded as an adjustment to long-term debt. During the quarter ended September 30, 2023, the Company de-designated these swaps as fair value hedges. As a result of the de-designations, the final fair value basis adjustments recorded through the dates of de-designation as a decrease of the long-term debt are now amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method over the remaining periods to maturity of the respective long-term debt. The fair value basis adjustments recorded as a decrease of the long-term debt totaled $594 million, net of amortization, as of December 31, 2023, with $41 million amortized as Interest expense for the year ending December 31, 2023 (see Note 13). At December 31, 2022, the fair value basis adjustments recorded as a decrease of the long-term debt totaled $578 million with a corresponding liability of $578 million recorded for the fair value of the interest rate swaps.
Concurrently with the de-designations described above, the Company entered into new offsetting variable-to-fixed interest rate swaps with aggregate notional amounts of $1,854 million, £925 million and €500 million. The Company accounts for the de-designated fixed-to-variable and offsetting variable-to-fixed interest rate swaps as economic hedges; as such, effective as of the de-designation dates, changes in interest rates associated with the variable leg of the interest rate swaps do not affect the interest expense recognized, eliminating variable-rate risk on the fixed-to-variable interest rate swaps. The terms of the new interest rate swaps when matched against the terms of the existing fixed-to-variable interest rate swaps result in a net fixed coupon spread payable by the Company. The impact of the go-forward changes in fair values of the new and existing interest rate swaps, including the impact of the coupons, is recorded as Other income (expense), net pursuant to accounting for economic hedges and totaled $(52) million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The coupon payments are recorded within Other investing activities, net on the consolidated statements of cash flows and totaled $28 million cash outflows for the year ended December 31, 2023. The new and existing interest rate swaps are recorded at fair value, totaling $12 million assets and $675 million liabilities at December 31, 2023.
During the quarter ended September 30, 2023, the Company entered into an aggregate notional amount of €3,375 million fixed-for-fixed cross-currency interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk associated with its Senior Euro Notes. During the quarter ended June 30, 2023, the Company entered into an aggregate notional amount of £925 million fixed-for-fixed cross-currency interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk associated with its Senior GBP Notes. These swaps are designated as fair value hedges for accounting purposes with an asset fair value of $134 million recorded at December 31, 2023. Changes in the swap fair values attributable to changes in spot foreign currency exchange rates are
76

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
recorded in Other income (expense), net and totaled $61 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. This amount offset the impact of changes in spot foreign currency exchange rates on the Senior GBP Notes and Senior Euro Notes also recorded to Other income (expense), net during the hedge period. Changes in swap fair values attributable to excluded components, such as changes in fair value due to forward foreign currency exchange rates and cross-currency basis spreads, are recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive earnings (loss) and totaled $74 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The amounts recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive earnings (loss) impact net earnings (loss) through Interest expense using the amortization approach. For the year ended December 31, 2023, $20 million was recognized as Interest expense using the amortization approach.
Net Investment Hedges
The purpose of the Company's net investment hedges, as discussed below, is to reduce the volatility of FIS' net investment value in its Euro- and Pound Sterling-denominated operations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Changes in fair value due to remeasurement of the effective portion are recorded as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive earnings (loss) ("AOCI"), net of tax, for net investment hedges. The amounts included in AOCI for the net investment hedges will remain in AOCI until the complete or substantially complete liquidation of our investment in the underlying foreign operations. Any ineffective portion of these hedging instruments impacts net earnings when the ineffectiveness occurs. The Company assesses effectiveness of cross-currency interest rate swap hedging instruments using the spot method. Under this method, the periodic interest settlements are recorded directly in earnings through Interest expense (see Note 13).
The Company recorded net investment hedge aggregate gain (loss) for the change in fair value and related income tax (expense) benefit within Other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of tax, on the consolidated statements of comprehensive earnings (loss) for its designated net investments hedges as follows (in millions). No ineffectiveness has been recorded on the net investment hedges.

|  | Years ended December 31,
|  | 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Foreign currency-denominated debt designations |  | $ | (138) |  |  | $ | 534 |  |  | $ | 486 |
Cross-currency interest rate swap designations |  | (363) |  |  | 500 |  |  | 392 |
Total |  | $ | (501) |  |  | $ | 1,034 |  |  | $ | 878 |

Foreign Currency-Denominated Debt Designations
The Company has designated certain foreign currency-denominated debt as net investment hedges of its investment in Euro- and Pound Sterling-denominated operations. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, an aggregate €1,534 million and €7,646 million, respectively was designated as a net investment hedge of the Company's investment in Euro-denominated operations related to Senior Euro Notes with maturities ranging from 2024 to 2025 and ECP Notes. As of December 31, 2023, no GBP-denominated debt was designated as a net investment hedge. As of December 31, 2022, an aggregate £726 million was designated as a net investment hedge of the Company's Pound Sterling-denominated operations related to the Senior GBP Notes.
During the quarters ended September 30, 2023, and June 30, 2023, the Company de-designated certain Senior Euro Notes and Senior GBP Notes as net investment hedges due to the new fair value hedges noted above. During the quarter ended September 30, 2023, the Company also de-designated €1,500 million of ECP Notes as a net investment hedge and entered into foreign currency forward contracts with a corresponding €1,500 million aggregate notional amount to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk associated with ECP Notes that are expected to be paid off with U.S. dollar proceeds received from the Worldpay Sale during the first quarter of 2024 (see Note 1). The change in fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts is recorded as Other income (expense), net pursuant to accounting for economic hedges and offsets the impact of the change in spot foreign currency exchange rates on the de-designated ECP Notes, which is also recorded as Other income (expense), net. The foreign currency forward contract fair values totaled a net asset of $41 million at December 31, 2023.
Cross-Currency Interest Rate Swap Designations
The Company holds cross-currency interest rate swaps designated as net investment hedges of its investment in Euro- and Pound Sterling-denominated operations.
77

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, aggregate notional amounts of €6,143 million and €6,343 million, respectively, were designated as net investment hedges of the Company's investment in Euro-denominated operations, and aggregate notional amounts of £2,180 million and £2,580 million, respectively, were designated as net investment hedges of the Company's Pound Sterling-denominated operations. The cross-currency interest rate swap fair values totaled assets of $38 million and $336 million and liabilities of $240 million and $72 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company (paid) received net proceeds of approximately $(20) million and $726 million, respectively, for the fair values of the cross-currency interest rate swaps as of the settlement dates. The proceeds were recorded within investing activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows. Following the settlement of the existing cross-currency interest rate swaps during 2022, the Company entered into new cross-currency interest rate swaps at current market terms with similar notional amounts and maturity dates as the settled cross-currency interest rate swaps.
(15)Operating Leases
The classification of the Company's operating lease ROU assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, is as follows (in millions):

|  |  |  | December 31,
|  | Classification |  | 2023 |  | 2022
Operating lease ROU assets |  | Other noncurrent assets |  | $ | 214 |  |  | $ | 251 |
Operating lease liabilities |  | Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities |  | $ | 85 |  |  | $ | 99 |
|  | Other noncurrent liabilities |  | 178 |  |  | 219 |
Total operating lease liabilities |  |  |  | $ | 263 |  |  | $ | 318 |

Operating lease cost was $90 million, $157 million and $137 million, and variable lease cost was $27 million, $29 million and $33 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Operating lease cost for the year ended December 31, 2022, included $43 million, in ROU asset impairment charges. There were no significant ROU asset impairment losses recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2021. Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities included in operating cash flows was $106 million, $124 million and $135 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Operating lease ROU assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities was $47 million and $36 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The weighted average remaining operating lease term was 4.4 years and 4.7 years and the weighted average operating lease discount rate was 2.8% and 2.6% as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Maturities of operating lease liabilities, as of December 31, 2023, are as follows (in millions):

2024 |  | $ | 92 |
2025 |  | 63 |
2026 |  | 49 |
2027 |  | 30 |
2028 |  | 23 |
Thereafter |  | 25 |
Total lease payments |  | 282 |
Less: Imputed interest |  | (19) |
Total operating lease liabilities |  | $ | 263 |

78

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(16)Income Taxes
Income tax expense (benefit) attributable to continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, consists of the following (in millions):

| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Current provision (benefit): |  |  |  |  |
Federal | $ | 235 |  |  | $ | 467 |  |  | $ | 196 |
State | 96 |  |  | 132 |  |  | 54 |
Foreign | 96 |  |  | 84 |  |  | 87 |
Total current provision | $ | 427 |  |  | $ | 683 |  |  | $ | 337 |
Deferred provision (benefit): |  |  |  |  |
Federal | $ | (193) |  |  | $ | (319) |  |  | $ | (113) |
State | (73) |  |  | (54) |  |  | (12) |
Foreign | (4) |  |  | 15 |  |  | 191 |
Total deferred provision | (270) |  |  | (358) |  |  | 66 |
Total provision for income taxes | $ | 157 |  |  | $ | 325 |  |  | $ | 403 |

The provision for income taxes is based on pre-tax income from continuing operations, which is as follows for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
United States | $ | 331 |  |  | $ | 761 |  |  | $ | 537 |
Foreign | 332 |  |  | 180 |  |  | 182 |
Total | $ | 663 |  |  | $ | 941 |  |  | $ | 719 |

Total income tax expense (benefit) attributable to continuing and discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, is allocated as follows (in millions):

| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Tax expense (benefit) per statements of earnings (loss) | $ | 157 |  |  | $ | 325 |  |  | $ | 403 |
Tax expense (benefit) on income from discontinued operations | (301) |  |  | 52 |  |  | (32) |
Change in fair value of net investment hedges | (176) |  |  | 361 |  |  | 317 |
Foreign currency translation adjustments | 40 |  |  | (360) |  |  | (33) |
Other components of other comprehensive earnings (loss) | 20 |  |  | 3 |  |  | — |
Total income tax expense (benefit) allocated to other comprehensive earnings | (116) |  |  | 4 |  |  | 284 |
Total income tax expense (benefit) | $ | (260) |  |  | $ | 381 |  |  | $ | 655 |

79

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the Company's effective income tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, is as follows:

| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Federal statutory income tax rate | 21.0 | % |  | 21.0 | % |  | 21.0 | %
State income taxes | 5.7 |  |  | 6.0 |  |  | 5.4 |
Federal benefit of state taxes | (1.0) |  |  | (1.3) |  |  | (1.1) |
Foreign rate differential | 0.8 |  |  | 2.0 |  |  | 1.2 |
Withholding on actual and estimated remittances | 2.4 |  |  | 1.2 |  |  | 3.2 |
Tax loss (benefit) from stock-based compensation | 2.3 |  |  | 4.0 |  |  | (2.4) |
U.K. tax rate adjustment | (0.1) |  |  | 0.3 |  |  | 25.8 |
Non-deductible executive compensation | 0.6 |  |  | 0.3 |  |  | 3.7 |
Foreign-derived intangible income deduction | (3.4) |  |  | (1.1) |  |  | 0.4 |
Research and development credit | (1.8) |  |  | — |  |  | (1.2) |
Unrecognized tax benefits | (0.4) |  |  | (0.4) |  |  | 1.1 |
Return to provision | (1.7) |  |  | — |  |  | (0.3) |
Other | (0.6) |  |  | 2.5 |  |  | (0.8) |
Effective income tax rate | 23.8 | % |  | 34.5 | % |  | 56.0 | %

The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, consist of the following (in millions):

| 2023 |  | 2022
Deferred income tax assets: |  |  |
Net operating loss carryforwards | $ | 219 |  |  | $ | 196 |
Employee benefit accruals | 105 |  |  | 103 |
Outside basis difference | 919 |  |  | 38 |
Other deferred tax assets | 95 |  |  | 105 |
Total gross deferred income tax assets | 1,338 |  |  | 442 |
Less valuation allowance | (1,055) |  |  | (218) |
Total deferred income tax assets | 283 |  |  | 224 |
Deferred income tax liabilities: |  |  |
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets | (2,066) |  |  | (2,363) |
Deferred contract costs | (245) |  |  | (209) |
Other deferred tax liabilities | (121) |  |  | (308) |
Total deferred income tax liabilities | (2,432) |  |  | (2,880) |
Net deferred income tax liability | $ | (2,149) |  |  | $ | (2,656) |

Deferred income taxes are classified in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, as follows (in millions):

| 2023 |  | 2022
Noncurrent deferred income tax assets (included in Other noncurrent assets) | $ | 30 |  |  | $ | 33 |
Noncurrent deferred income tax liabilities | (2,179) |  |  | (2,689) |
Net deferred income tax liability | $ | (2,149) |  |  | $ | (2,656) |

We believe that based on our historical pattern of taxable income, projections of future income, tax planning strategies as necessary and other relevant evidence, the Company will produce sufficient income in the future to realize its deferred income tax assets (net of valuation allowance). A valuation allowance is established for any portion of a deferred income tax asset for which we believe it is more likely than not that the Company will not be able to realize the benefits of all or a portion of that deferred income tax asset. We also receive periodic assessments from taxing authorities challenging our positions; these
80

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
assessments must be taken into consideration in determining our tax accruals. Resolving these assessments, which may or may not result in additional taxes due, may require an extended period of time. Adjustments to the valuation allowance will be made if there is a change in our assessment of the amount of deferred income tax asset that is realizable.
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had, respectively, net income taxes payable of $17 million included in Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet and net income taxes receivable of $169 million included in Other receivables in the consolidated balance sheet.
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had federal, state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards resulting in deferred tax assets of $219 million and $196 million, respectively. The federal and state net operating losses result in deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, of $72 million and $67 million, respectively, which expire between 2024 and 2042. The Company has a valuation allowance related to these deferred tax assets for net operating loss carryforwards in the amounts of $46 million and $41 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The Company has foreign net operating loss carryforwards resulting in deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, of $147 million and $129 million, respectively. The Company has a full valuation allowance against the foreign net operating losses as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.
As a result of classifying the Worldpay Merchant Solutions disposal group as held for sale in the third quarter of 2023, in accordance with ASC 740, the Company recognized in Deferred income taxes on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023, a deferred tax asset of $919 million related to the excess tax-over-book outside basis difference for Worldpay Merchant Solutions' investment in foreign subsidiaries, net of a valuation allowance of $829 million for the portion of the outside basis difference for which it is not more likely than not to recognize a tax benefit. The net deferred tax asset of $90 million represents the portion of future capital loss for which we have an available capital gain against which the loss can be utilized. The corresponding net tax benefit was recorded in discontinued operations. In accordance with the provisions of ASC 740, the net deferred tax asset at December 31, 2023, does not include the final estimated tax expense related to the closing of the Worldpay Sale, which will be computed by comparing the proceeds allocated to our investments in both U.S. and foreign subsidiaries against their respective tax bases.
The Company participates in the IRS' Compliance Assurance Process ("CAP"), which is a real-time continuous audit. The IRS has completed its review for years through 2021. Currently, we believe the ultimate resolution of the IRS examinations will not result in a material adverse effect to the Company's financial position or results of operations. Tax years that remain subject to examination by major foreign and state tax jurisdictions are 2017 and forward.
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $41 million and $48 million of which $38 million and $42 million, respectively, would favorably impact our income tax rate in the event that the unrecognized tax benefits are recognized.
The following table reconciles the gross amounts of unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning and end of the period (in millions):

| Gross Amount
Amounts of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2021 | $ | 54 |
Amount of decreases due to lapse of the applicable statute of limitations | (1) |
Amount of decreases due to settlements | (13) |
Increases as a result of tax positions taken in the prior period | 5 |
Increases as a result of tax positions taken in the current period | 4 |
Foreign currency translation | (1) |
Amount of unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2022 | 48 |
Amount of decreases due to lapse of the applicable statute of limitations | (5) |
Amount of decreases due to settlements | (8) |
Increases as a result of tax positions taken in prior period | 4 |
Increases as a result of tax positions taken in the current period | 2 |
Amount of unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2023 | $ | 41 |

81

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
The total amount of interest expense recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) for unpaid taxes is $2 million, $3 million and $3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The total amount of interest and penalties included in the consolidated balance sheets is $11 million and $14 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Interest and penalties are recorded as a component of income tax expense in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss).
(17)Commitments and Contingencies
Securities and Shareholder Matters
On March 6, 2023, a putative class action was filed in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida by a shareholder of the Company. The action was consolidated with another action and the consolidated case is now captioned In re Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. Securities Litigation. A lead plaintiff has been appointed, and a consolidated amended complaint was filed on August 2, 2023. The consolidated amended complaint names the Company and certain of its current and former officers as defendants and seeks damages for alleged violations of federal securities laws in connection with our disclosures relating to our former Merchant Solutions segment, including with respect to its valuation, integration, and synergies. Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint with prejudice on September 22, 2023. We intend to vigorously defend this case, but no assurance can be given as to the ultimate outcome.
On April 27, 2023, a shareholder derivative action captioned Portia McCollum, derivatively on behalf of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. v. Gary Norcross et al., was filed in the same court by a stockholder of the Company. Plaintiff dismissed the suit without prejudice and sent a demand pursuant to Georgia Code § 14-2-742. Another stockholder, City of Hialeah Employees' Retirement System, sent a similar demand. The demands claim that FIS officers and directors violated federal securities laws and breached fiduciary duties, including with respect to the valuation, integration, and synergies of our former Merchant Solutions segment, and they demand that the Board investigate and commence legal proceedings against officers and directors in connection with the purported wrongdoing. On August 25, 2023, the Board established a Demand Review Committee to consider the demands and make recommendations to the Board with respect to the demands, and the Demand Review Committee has hired independent counsel. The Board has made no final decision with respect to the demands and has not rejected the demands.
On October 18, 2023, a shareholder derivative action captioned City of Hialeah Employees' Retirement System v. Stephanie L. Ferris et al. was filed in the same court by one of the stockholders that previously had sent a demand. The complaint, which names certain of the Company's current and former officers and directors as defendants, seeks to assert claims on behalf of the Company for violations of federal securities laws, breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, and contribution and indemnification, including with respect to the valuation, integration, and synergies of our former Merchant Solutions segment. The Board has instructed the Company to move to stay or dismiss the action without prejudice pending the completion of the Board's consideration of the demands.
Brazilian Tax Authorities Claims
In 2004, Proservvi Empreendimentos e Servicos, Ltda., the predecessor to Fidelity National Servicos de Tratamento de Documentos e Informatica Ltda. ("Servicos"), a subsidiary of Fidelity National Participacoes Ltda., our former item processing and remittance services operation in Brazil, acquired certain assets and employees and leased certain facilities from the Transpev Group ("Transpev") in Brazil. Transpev's remaining assets were later acquired by Prosegur, an unrelated third party. When Transpev discontinued its operations after the asset sale to Prosegur, it had unpaid federal taxes and social contributions owing to the Brazilian tax authorities. The Brazilian tax authorities brought a claim against Transpev and, beginning in 2012, brought claims against Prosegur and Servicos on the grounds that Prosegur and Servicos were successors in interest to Transpev. To date, the Brazilian tax authorities have filed 18 claims against Servicos, of which 16 are still active, asserting potential tax liabilities of approximately $13 million. There are potentially 20 additional claims against Transpev/Prosegur for which Servicos is named as a co-defendant or may be named but for which Servicos has not yet been served. These additional claims amount to approximately $32 million, making the total potential exposure for all 36 claims approximately $45 million. We do not believe a liability for these 36 total claims is probable and, therefore, have not recorded a liability for any of these claims.
82

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Indemnifications and Warranties
The Company generally indemnifies its clients, subject to certain limitations and exceptions, against damages and costs resulting from claims of patent, copyright, or trademark infringement associated solely with its customers' use of the Company's solutions. Historically, the Company has not made any material payments under such indemnifications but continues to monitor the conditions that are subject to the indemnifications to identify whether it is probable that a loss has occurred, in which case it would recognize any such losses when they are estimable. In addition, the Company warrants to customers that its software operates substantially in accordance with the software specifications. Historically, no material costs have been incurred related to software warranties, and no accruals for warranty costs have been made.
Purchase Commitments
The Company has agreements with various vendors, generally with one- to five-year terms, principally for software, maintenance, and consulting and outsourced services, including cloud hosting and data centers. The Company's estimated aggregate contractual obligation remaining under these agreements is approximately $868 million as of December 31, 2023. However, this amount could be more or less depending on various factors such as the inflation rate, foreign exchange rates, the introduction of significant new technologies, or changes in the Company's processing needs. The foregoing amounts do not include obligations of the Company under operating leases.
(18)Employee Benefit Plans
Stock Purchase Plan
FIS employees participate in an Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP"). Eligible employees may voluntarily purchase, at current market prices, shares of FIS' common stock through payroll deductions. Pursuant to the ESPP, employees may contribute an amount between 3% and 15% of their base salary and certain commissions. Shares purchased are allocated to employees based upon their contributions. The Company contributes a matching amount as specified in the ESPP of 20% of the employee's contribution. The Company recorded expense in continuing operations of $11 million, $17 million, and $18 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, relating to the participation of FIS employees in the ESPP. The Company recorded expense in discontinued operations of $1 million, $2 million and $2 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, relating to the participation of FIS employees in the ESPP.
401(k) Profit Sharing Plan and Non-U.S. Defined Contribution Plans
The Company's U.S. employees are covered by a qualified 401(k) plan. Eligible employees may contribute up to 40% of their eligible compensation, up to the annual amount allowed pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code. The Company generally matches 50% of each dollar of employee contribution up to 6% of the employee's total eligible compensation. The Company's non-U.S. employees are also covered by various defined contribution plans. The Company recorded expense in continuing operations of $106 million, $109 million and $97 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, relating to the participation of FIS employees in the 401(k) plan and the Company's contributions to non-U.S. defined contribution plans. The Company recorded expense in discontinued operations of $29 million, $25 million and $21 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, relating to the participation of FIS employees in the 401(k) plan and the Company’s contributions to non-U.S. defined contribution plans.
Stock Compensation Plans
The Company grants to certain employees equity awards pursuant to shares authorized under the FIS 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan established in 2022 ("FIS Plan"). The number of shares available for future grants under the FIS Plan is 24 million as of December 31, 2023.
On January 1, 2021, the Company established a Qualified Retirement Equity Program that modified our existing stock compensation plans. The modification implemented a new retirement policy that permits retirees that meet certain eligibility criteria to continue vesting in unvested equity awards in accordance with the terms of the respective grant agreements, resulting in accelerated stock compensation expense for those employees meeting the definition of retirement eligible. The Company recorded in continuing operations $69 million in accelerated stock compensation expense included in Selling, general, and administrative expenses and recorded in discontinued operations $35 million in accelerated stock compensation expense
83

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
included in earnings (loss) from discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of earnings (loss) to reflect the impact of the modification on unvested equity awards outstanding at January 1, 2021.
Stock Options
The Company grants stock options which typically vest annually over three years. All stock options are non-qualified stock options, the stock options granted by the Company expire on the seventh anniversary of the grant date, and the stock options converted through the Company's 2019 acquisition of Worldpay expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.
The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023, which includes both continuing and discontinued operations (in millions except for per share amounts):

| Options |  | Weighted Average Exercise Price |  | Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term (Years) |  | Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Balance, December 31, 2022 | 8 |  |  | $ | 101.60 |  |  | 3.1 |  | $ | 6 |
Granted | 2 |  |  | 78.42 |  |  |  |  |
Exercised | (1) |  |  | 61.70 |  |  |  |  | $ | 8 |
Cancelled | (1) |  |  | 92.78 |  |  |  |  |
Balance, December 31, 2023 | 8 |  |  | $ | 100.19 |  |  | 3.3 |  | $ | — |
Options exercisable at December 31, 2023 | 6 |  |  | $ | 105.64 |  |  | 2.1 |  | $ | — |

The intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, was $8 million, $20 million and $107 million, respectively. The intrinsic value of the outstanding options and options exercisable is based on a closing stock price as of December 31, 2023, of $60.07. The Company issues authorized but unissued shares or shares from treasury stock to settle stock options exercised.
The number of options granted for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, was 2 million, 1 million and 2 million, respectively. The weighted average exercise price was $78.42, $95.06 and $142.92 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, was $12.91, $20.89 and $29.01, respectively, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the assumptions below:

| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Risk free interest rate | 4.2 | % |  | 1.7 | % |  | 0.6 | %
Volatility | 37.6 | % |  | 30.5 | % |  | 27.6 | %
Dividend yield | 3.3 | % |  | 2.0 | % |  | 1.1 | %
Weighted average expected life (years) | 4.1 |  | 4.1 |  | 4.1

The Company estimates future forfeitures at the time of grant and revises those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ significantly from those estimates. The Company bases the risk-free interest rate that is used in the Black-Scholes model on U.S. Treasury securities issued with maturities similar to the expected term of the options. The expected stock volatility factor is determined using historical daily price of the common stock and the impact of any expected trends. The dividend yield assumption is based on the current dividend yield at the grant date or management's forecasted expectations. The expected life assumption is determined by calculating the average term from the Company's historical stock option activity and considering the impact of future trends.
Restricted Stock Units and Performance Stock Units
The Company issues restricted stock units, which typically vest annually over three years. The grant date fair value of the restricted stock units is based on the fair market value of our common stock on the grant date. The number of restricted stock units granted during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, was 3 million, 1 million and 1 million, respectively.
84

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
The weighted average grant date fair value of these awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, was $61.34, $92.07 and $138.76, respectively. The total fair value of restricted stock units that vested was $40 million, $261 million and $241 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
The Company grants performance-based stock units that typically cliff vest on the third anniversary date of the grant. The ultimate number of units to be earned depends on the achievement of performance conditions. Some performance-based stock units also include market conditions. The performance conditions are typically based on a measure of the Company’s annual revenue growth and Adjusted EBITDA margin expansion (see Note 22 for a definition of Adjusted EBITDA). The market conditions are based on the Company’s total shareholder return ranked against that of other companies that are included in the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index. The fair value of each performance-based stock unit with only performance conditions is based on the fair value of our common stock on the grant date. The fair value of each performance-based stock unit with a market condition is estimated on the date of grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

| 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Risk free interest rate | 4.6 | % |  | 1.6 | % |  | 0.3 | %
Volatility | 37.2 | % |  | 34.2 | % |  | 32.1 | %
Dividend yield | 3.3 | % |  | 2.0 | % |  | 1.1 | %

The number of performance-based stock units granted during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, was less than 1 million, 2 million and 1 million, respectively. The weighted average grant date fair value of these awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, was $65.43, $99.27 and $130.04, respectively. The total fair value of the performance-based stock units that vested was $10 million, $35 million and $57 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
The following table summarizes the restricted stock units and performance stock units activity for the year ended December 31, 2023, which includes both continuing and discontinued operations (in millions except for per share amounts):

| Restricted Stock Units |  | Performance Stock Units
| (In millions) |  |  |  | (In millions) |  |
| Shares |  | Weighted Average Fair Value |  | Shares |  | Weighted Average Fair Value
Balance December 31, 2022 | 2 |  |  | $ | 103.63 |  |  | 2 |  |  | $ | 104.52 |
Granted | 3 |  |  | $ | 61.34 |  |  | — |  |  | $ | 65.43 |
Vested | (1) |  |  | $ | 107.05 |  |  | — |  |  | $ | 110.02 |
Forfeited | — |  |  | $ | 81.39 |  |  | — |  |  | $ | 112.38 |
Balance December 31, 2023 | 4 |  |  | $ | 70.24 |  |  | 2 |  |  | $ | 96.33 |

Stock Compensation Cost
The Company recorded total stock compensation expense in continuing operations of $120 million, $189 million and $283 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, included in Selling, general, and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss). The Company recorded total stock compensation expense in discontinued operations of $34 million, $26 million and $100 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Stock compensation expense related to grants with performance conditions is recorded based on management's expected level of achievement of the financial performance measures during the performance period and is adjusted as appropriate throughout the performance period based on the shares expected to be earned. The 2021 stock compensation expense includes $69 million in continuing operations and $35 million in discontinued operations in accelerated stock compensation expense resulting from the Qualified Retirement Equity Program modification, described further above.
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the total unrecognized compensation cost including continuing and discontinued operations related to non-vested stock awards is $219 million and $179 million, respectively. The total unrecognized compensation cost as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, includes $166 million and $136 million, respectively, related to continuing operations, which is expected to be recognized in pre-tax income over a weighted average period of 1.4 years and 1.5 years, respectively.
85

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(19)Related-Party Transactions
The Company held a noncontrolling ownership stake in Cardinal Holdings ("Cardinal"), which operated the Capco consulting business, through April 29, 2021, when we sold our ownership stake due to an acquisition transaction of the Capco consulting business by Wipro Ltd. As a result of the transaction, we received net cash proceeds of approximately $367 million and recorded an approximate $225 million gain in Other income (expense), net on the consolidated statement of earnings (loss).
The Company also purchases services and software licenses from Cardinal from time to time. Cardinal was a related party through April 29, 2021. Amounts transacted through these agreements were not significant to the 2021 period presented when Cardinal was a related party.
In connection with the closing of the Worldpay Sale, we entered into several agreements with certain Worldpay entities, as further described in Note 24.
(20)Components of Other Comprehensive Earnings (Loss)
The following table shows Accumulated other comprehensive earnings (loss) attributable to FIS by component, net of tax, for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

|  | Change in Fair Value of Net Investment Hedges |  | Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments |  | Other |  | Total
Balances, December 31, 2020 |  | $ | (1,183) |  |  | $ | 1,326 |  |  | $ | (86) |  |  | $ | 57 |
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) before reclassifications |  | 878 |  |  | (697) |  |  | 4 |  |  | 185 |
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive earnings |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 10 |  |  | 10 |
Balances, December 31, 2021 |  | (305) |  |  | 629 |  |  | (72) |  |  | 252 |
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) before reclassifications |  | 1,034 |  |  | (1,682) |  |  | 36 |  |  | (612) |
Balances, December 31, 2022 |  | 729 |  |  | (1,053) |  |  | (36) |  |  | (360) |
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) before reclassifications |  | (501) |  |  | 548 |  |  | 53 |  |  | 100 |
Balances, December 31, 2023 |  | $ | 228 |  |  | $ | (505) |  |  | $ | 17 |  |  | $ | (260) |

See Note 16 for the tax provision associated with each component of other comprehensive earning (loss).
(21)Concentration of Risk
The Company generates a significant amount of revenue from large clients; however, no individual client accounted for 10% or more of total revenue in the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents and trade receivables, as well as derivatives in a net asset position. The Company places its cash equivalents with high credit-quality financial institutions and, by policy, limits the amount of credit exposure with any one financial institution. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited because a large number of geographically diverse clients make up the Company's client base, thus spreading the trade receivables credit risk. The Company seeks to minimize credit risk for derivatives by selecting counterparties with investment grade credit ratings. The Company also manages credit risk exposure through monitoring procedures.
(22)Segment Information
As described in Note 1, effective as of the third quarter of 2023, the Company no longer reports the Merchant Solutions segment; it now reports its financial performance based on the following segments: Banking Solutions, Capital Market Solutions and Corporate and Other. Below is a summary of each segment.
86

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Banking Solutions ("Banking")
The Banking segment is focused on serving financial institutions of all sizes with core processing software, transaction processing software and complementary applications and services, many of which interact directly with core processing software. We sell these solutions on either a bundled or stand-alone basis. Clients in this segment include global financial institutions, U.S. regional and community banks, credit unions and commercial lenders, as well as government institutions and other commercial organizations. We provide our clients integrated solutions characterized by multi-year processing contracts that generate recurring revenue. The predictable nature of cash flows generated from the Banking segment provides opportunities for further investments in innovation, integration, information and security, and compliance in a cost-effective manner.
Capital Market Solutions ("Capital Markets")
The Capital Markets segment is focused on serving global financial services clients with a broad array of buy- and sell-side solutions. Clients in this segment include asset managers, buy- and sell-side securities brokerage and trading firms, insurers, private equity firms, and other commercial organizations. Our buy- and sell-side solutions include a variety of mission-critical applications for recordkeeping, data and analytics, trading, financing and risk management. Capital Markets clients purchase our solutions in various ways including licensing and managing technology "in-house," using consulting and third-party service providers, as well as procuring fully outsourced end-to-end solutions. Our long-established relationships with many of these financial and commercial institutions generate significant recurring revenue. We have made, and continue to make, investments in modern platforms, advanced technologies, open APIs, machine learning and artificial intelligence, and regulatory technology to support our Capital Markets clients.
Corporate and Other
The Corporate and Other segment consists of corporate overhead expense, certain leveraged functions and miscellaneous expenses that are not included in the operating segments, as well as certain non-strategic businesses that we plan to wind down or sell. The overhead and leveraged costs relate to corporate marketing, finance, accounting, human resources, legal, compliance and internal audit functions as well as other costs, such as acquisition, integration and transformation-related expenses and amortization of acquisition-related intangibles, that are not considered when management evaluates revenue-generating segment performance.
In the Corporate and Other segment, the Company recorded acquisition, integration and other costs for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, comprised of the following (in millions):

|  | 2023 |  | 2022 |  | 2021
Acquisition and integration |  | $ | 48 |  |  | $ | 50 |  |  | $ | 79 |
Enterprise transformation, including Future Forward and platform modernization |  | 312 |  |  | 279 |  |  | 107 |
Severance and other termination expenses, including those associated with enterprise cost control initiatives and changes in senior management |  | 70 |  |  | 89 |  |  | 10 |
Pending separation of the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business |  | 17 |  |  | — |  |  | — |
Stock-based compensation, primarily from certain performance-based awards |  | 15 |  |  | 83 |  |  | — |
Accelerated stock compensation expense - qualified equity retirement program |  | — |  |  | — |  |  | 155 |
Other, including divestiture-related expenses and enterprise cost control and other initiatives |  | 20 |  |  | 80 |  |  | 160 |
Total acquisition, integration and other costs |  | $ | 482 |  |  | $ | 581 |  |  | $ | 511 |

Amounts in table may not sum due to rounding.
Other costs in Corporate and Other also include incremental amortization expense associated with shortened estimated useful lives and accelerated amortization methods for certain software and deferred contract cost assets resulting from the Company's platform modernization, as described in Notes 9 and 10, impairment charges described in Notes 9 and 10 and costs that were previously incurred in support of the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business but are not directly attributable to it and thus were not recorded in discontinued operations.
87

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA is a measure of segment profit or loss that is reported to the chief operating decision maker for purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to the segments and assessing their performance. For this reason, Adjusted EBITDA, as it relates to our segments, is presented in conformity with FASB ASC Topic 280, Segment Reporting. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net earnings (loss) before net interest expense, net other income (expense), income tax provision (benefit), equity method investment earnings (loss), and depreciation and amortization, and excludes certain costs and other transactions that management deems non-operational in nature or that otherwise improve the comparability of operating results across reporting periods by their exclusion. This measure is reported to the chief operating decision maker for purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to the segments and assessing their performance. The items affecting the segment profit measure generally include the purchase price amortization of acquired intangible assets as well as acquisition, integration and certain other costs and asset impairments. These costs and adjustments are recorded in the Corporate and Other segment for the periods discussed below. Adjusted EBITDA for the respective segments excludes the foregoing costs and adjustments.
Summarized financial information for the Company's segments is shown in the following tables. The Company does not evaluate performance or allocate resources based on segment asset data; therefore, such information is not presented.
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 (in millions):

| Banking Solutions |  | Capital Market Solutions |  | Corporate and Other |  | Total
Revenue | $ | 6,733 |  |  | $ | 2,766 |  |  | $ | 322 |  |  | $ | 9,821 |
Operating expenses | (4,403) |  |  | (1,730) |  |  | (2,221) |  |  | (8,354) |
Depreciation and amortization (including purchase accounting amortization) | 598 |  |  | 354 |  |  | 791 |  |  | 1,743 |
Acquisition, integration and other costs | — |  |  | — |  |  | 482 |  |  | 482 |
Asset impairments | — |  |  | — |  |  | 113 |  |  | 113 |
Indirect Worldpay business support costs | — |  |  | — |  |  | 167 |  |  | 167 |
Adjusted EBITDA | $ | 2,928 |  |  | $ | 1,390 |  |  | $ | (346) |  |  | $ | 3,972 |
Adjusted EBITDA |  |  |  |  |  |  | $ | 3,972 |
Depreciation and amortization |  |  |  |  |  |  | (1,047) |
Purchase accounting amortization |  |  |  |  |  |  | (696) |
Acquisition, integration and other costs |  |  |  |  |  |  | (482) |
Asset impairments |  |  |  |  |  |  | (113) |
Indirect Worldpay business support costs |  |  |  |  |  |  | (167) |
Interest expense, net |  |  |  |  |  |  | (621) |
Other income (expense), net |  |  |  |  |  |  | (183) |
(Provision) benefit for income taxes |  |  |  |  |  |  | (157) |
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax |  |  |  |  |  |  | (7,153) |
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest |  |  |  |  |  |  | (7) |
Net earnings (loss) attributable to FIS common stockholders |  |  |  |  |  |  | $ | (6,654) |
Capital expenditures (1) | $ | 433 |  |  | $ | 269 |  |  | $ | 131 |  |  | $ | 833 |

(1) Capital expenditures include $53 million in other financing obligations for certain hardware and software.
88

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 (in millions):

| Banking Solutions |  | Capital Market Solutions |  | Corporate and Other |  | Total
Revenue | $ | 6,624 |  |  | $ | 2,631 |  |  | $ | 464 |  |  | $ | 9,719 |
Operating expenses | (4,339) |  |  | (1,624) |  |  | (2,538) |  |  | (8,501) |
Depreciation and amortization (including purchase accounting amortization) | 597 |  |  | 331 |  |  | 951 |  |  | 1,879 |
Acquisition, integration and other costs | — |  |  | — |  |  | 581 |  |  | 581 |
Asset impairments | — |  |  | — |  |  | 103 |  |  | 103 |
Indirect Worldpay business support costs | — |  |  | — |  |  | 180 |  |  | 180 |
Adjusted EBITDA | $ | 2,882 |  |  | $ | 1,338 |  |  | $ | (259) |  |  | $ | 3,961 |
Adjusted EBITDA |  |  |  |  |  |  | $ | 3,961 |
Depreciation and amortization |  |  |  |  |  |  | (1,101) |
Purchase accounting amortization |  |  |  |  |  |  | (778) |
Acquisition, integration and other costs |  |  |  |  |  |  | (581) |
Asset impairments |  |  |  |  |  |  | (103) |
Indirect Worldpay business support costs |  |  |  |  |  |  | (180) |
Interest expense, net |  |  |  |  |  |  | (281) |
Other income (expense), net |  |  |  |  |  |  | 4 |
(Provision) benefit for income taxes |  |  |  |  |  |  | (325) |
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax |  |  |  |  |  |  | (17,324) |
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest |  |  |  |  |  |  | (12) |
Net earnings attributable to FIS common stockholders |  |  |  |  |  |  | $ | (16,720) |
Capital expenditures (1) | $ | 502 |  |  | $ | 271 |  |  | $ | 286 |  |  | $ | 1,059 |

(1) Capital expenditures include $63 million in other financing obligations for certain hardware and software.
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2021 (in millions):

| Banking Solutions |  | Capital Market Solutions |  | Corporate and Other |  | Total
Revenue | $ | 6,361 |  |  | $ | 2,495 |  |  | $ | 483 |  |  | $ | 9,339 |
Operating expenses | (4,051) |  |  | (1,577) |  |  | (2,671) |  |  | (8,299) |
Depreciation and amortization (including purchase accounting amortization) | 584 |  |  | 317 |  |  | 970 |  |  | 1,871 |
Acquisition, integration and other costs | — |  |  | — |  |  | 511 |  |  | 511 |
Asset impairments | — |  |  | — |  |  | 194 |  |  | 194 |
Indirect Worldpay business support costs | — |  |  | — |  |  | 153 |  |  | 153 |
Adjusted EBITDA | $ | 2,894 |  |  | $ | 1,235 |  |  | $ | (360) |  |  | 3,769 |
Adjusted EBITDA |  |  |  |  |  |  | $ | 3,769 |
Depreciation and amortization |  |  |  |  |  |  | (1,035) |
Purchase accounting amortization |  |  |  |  |  |  | (836) |
Acquisition, integration and other costs |  |  |  |  |  |  | (511) |
Asset impairments |  |  |  |  |  |  | (194) |
Indirect Worldpay business support costs |  |  |  |  |  |  | (153) |
Interest expense, net |  |  |  |  |  |  | (212) |
Other income (expense), net |  |  |  |  |  |  | (109) |
(Provision) benefit for income taxes |  |  |  |  |  |  | (403) |
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations |  |  |  |  |  |  | 102 |
Equity method investment earnings (loss) |  |  |  |  |  |  | 6 |
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest |  |  |  |  |  |  | (7) |
Net earnings attributable to FIS common stockholders |  |  |  |  |  |  | $ | 417 |
Capital expenditures (1) | $ | 446 |  |  | $ | 221 |  |  | $ | 286 |  |  | $ | 953 |

(1) Capital expenditures include $35 million in other financing obligations for certain hardware and software.
Clients in the U.K., Germany, Brazil, Australia and Switzerland accounted for the majority of the revenue from clients based outside of North America for all periods presented. No individual country outside of North America accounted for more than 10% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.
89

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Long-term assets, excluding goodwill and other intangible assets, located outside of the United States totaled $651 million and $632 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. These assets are predominantly located in the United Kingdom, Germany, India, France, Australia, and Switzerland..
(23) Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

2023 | First Quarter |  | Second Quarter |  | Third Quarter |  | Fourth Quarter
Revenue | $ | 2,397 |  |  | $ | 2,424 |  |  | $ | 2,489 |  |  | $ | 2,510 |
Gross profit | 828 |  |  | 906 |  |  | 966 |  |  | 975 |
Operating income | 311 |  |  | 351 |  |  | 475 |  |  | 331 |
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations | 96 |  |  | 85 |  |  | 261 |  |  | 65 |
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax | 45 |  |  | (6,679) |  |  | (708) |  |  | 188 |
Net earnings (loss) | 141 |  |  | (6,594) |  |  | (447) |  |  | 253 |
Net (earnings) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest from continuing operations | — |  |  | (1) |  |  | (1) |  |  | (1) |
Net (earnings) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest from discontinued operations | (1) |  |  | (1) |  |  | (1) |  |  | (1) |
Net earnings (loss) attributable to FIS | 140 |  |  | (6,596) |  |  | (449) |  |  | 251 |
Net earnings (loss) attributable to FIS: |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Continuing operations | $ | 96 |  |  | $ | 84 |  |  | $ | 260 |  |  | $ | 64 |
Discontinued operations | 44 |  |  | (6,680) |  |  | (709) |  |  | 187 |
Total | $ | 140 |  |  | $ | (6,596) |  |  | $ | (449) |  |  | $ | 251 |
Net earnings (loss) per common share attributable to FIS from continuing operations: |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Basic | $ | 0.16 |  |  | $ | 0.14 |  |  | $ | 0.44 |  |  | $ | 0.11 |
Diluted | $ | 0.16 |  |  | $ | 0.14 |  |  | $ | 0.44 |  |  | $ | 0.11 |
Weighted average common shares outstanding: |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Basic | 592 |  |  | 592 |  |  | 592 |  |  | 589 |
Diluted | 593 |  |  | 592 |  |  | 592 |  |  | 591 |

Amounts in tables in the financial statements and accompanying footnotes may not sum or calculate due to rounding.
90

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

2022 | First Quarter |  | Second Quarter |  | Third Quarter |  | Fourth Quarter
Revenue | $ | 2,370 |  |  | $ | 2,408 |  |  | $ | 2,415 |  |  | $ | 2,526 |
Gross profit | 799 |  |  | 867 |  |  | 881 |  |  | 956 |
Operating income | 202 |  |  | 254 |  |  | 384 |  |  | 379 |
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations | 121 |  |  | 161 |  |  | 222 |  |  | 111 |
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax | — |  |  | 119 |  |  | 32 |  |  | (17,473) |
Net earnings (loss) | 121 |  |  | 280 |  |  | 254 |  |  | (17,362) |
Net (earnings) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest from continuing operations | — |  |  | (2) |  |  | (4) |  |  | (2) |
Net (earnings) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest from discontinued operations | (1) |  |  | (1) |  |  | (1) |  |  | (1) |
Net earnings (loss) attributable to FIS | 120 |  |  | 277 |  |  | 249 |  |  | (17,365) |
Net earnings (loss) attributable to FIS: |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Continuing operations | $ | 121 |  |  | $ | 159 |  |  | $ | 218 |  |  | $ | 109 |
Discontinued operations | (1) |  |  | 118 |  |  | 31 |  |  | (17,474) |
Total | $ | 120 |  |  | $ | 277 |  |  | $ | 249 |  |  | $ | (17,365) |
Net earnings (loss) per common share attributable to FIS from continuing operations: |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Basic | $ | 0.20 |  |  | $ | 0.26 |  |  | $ | 0.36 |  |  | $ | 0.18 |
Diluted | $ | 0.20 |  |  | $ | 0.26 |  |  | $ | 0.36 |  |  | $ | 0.18 |
Weighted average common shares outstanding: |  |  |  |  |  |  |
Basic | 610 |  |  | 608 |  |  | 605 |  |  | 593 |
Diluted | 614 |  |  | 611 |  |  | 607 |  |  | 593 |

Amounts in tables in the financial statements and accompanying footnotes may not sum or calculate due to rounding.
(24)Subsequent Event
As discussed in Note 1, on January 31, 2024, FIS completed the previously announced Worldpay Sale in a transaction valuing the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business at an enterprise value of $18.5 billion, including $1.0 billion of consideration contingent on the returns realized by Buyer exceeding certain thresholds. The net cash proceeds received by FIS at the closing were greater than $12 billion, net of estimated closing adjustments, debt restructuring fees, taxes and transaction costs. The closing adjustments relate to estimated closing levels of the Worldpay Merchant Solutions business' debt, working capital relative to an agreed target and available cash relative to an agreed minimum of not less than $1.5 billion and will be trued-up post-closing. We intend to use proceeds from the sale to retire debt and return additional capital to shareholders through our existing share repurchase authorization, as well as for general corporate purposes, while maintaining an investment grade credit rating. As of the closing, we retained a non-controlling 45% ownership interest in a new standalone Joint Venture with GTCR. In future reports, FIS' share of the net income of the Joint Venture will be reported as equity method investment earnings (loss).
In connection with the closing of the Worldpay Sale, the Company entered into a limited liability company operating agreement (the "LLCA") with respect to the Joint Venture, and a registration rights agreement with respect to the Company’s retained equity interest in the Joint Venture. The LLCA provides that FIS has the right to appoint a minority of the board of managers of the Joint Venture and that FIS has customary consent and consultation rights with respect to certain material actions of the Joint Venture, in each case, subject to ownership stepdown thresholds. The LLCA contains, among other things, covenants and restrictions relating to other governance, liquidity and tax matters, including non-solicitation and non-competition covenants, distribution mechanics, preemptive rights and follow-on equity funding commitments of GTCR, and restrictions on transfer and associated tag-along and drag-along rights. Each of FIS and GTCR will have the right to require the
91

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
Joint Venture to consummate an initial public offering ("IPO") or sale transaction after the fourth anniversary of the closing, subject to certain return hurdle and (in the case of an IPO) public float requirements, which requirements will fall away following the sixth anniversary of the closing.
Also in connection with the closing of the Worldpay Sale, the Company entered into additional agreements with certain Worldpay entities, including:
•commercial arrangements whereby each party would provide (i) referrals in connection with certain products and services provided by the other party, which are generally structured as revenue shares, and (ii) certain commercial services to the other party;
•a transition services agreement whereby the Company will continue to provide services in support of Worldpay and provide support for migration of the services for up to 24 months (subject to a six-month extension). In addition, the Joint Venture will provide reverse services so that the Company may maintain access to certain resources and services transferred to the Joint Venture in the Worldpay Sale;
•an employee leasing agreement pursuant to which FIS will lease certain employees to Worldpay in the United States, China, Colombia and South Korea for up to five months after the closing and in the Netherlands for up to two months after closing; and
•a data sharing agreement governing the sharing of data, including across the post-closing services agreements.
92

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
As of the end of the year covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15 (e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (a) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission's rules and forms and (b) accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Management has adopted the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO"). Based on our evaluation under this framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023. KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting as set forth in Item 8.
Item 9B. Other Information
During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, Mr. Jeffrey Goldstein, Independent Chair of the Company’s Board of Directors, adopted a trading plan intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 10b5-1(c). Under the plan, which was adopted on November 16, 2023, Mr. Goldstein instructed his broker to purchase shares of FIS common stock each quarter in an amount approximately equal to his cash director fees, which are paid quarterly in equal installments. The aggregate purchase price for shares to be purchased under the plan is $220,000. The trading plan will expire on the earlier of January 31, 2025 or the date on which all purchases under the plan have been completed. Mr. Goldstein has informed the Company that he intends to continue to use the full amount of his cash director fees to purchase FIS common stock for so long as he remains a Director of the Company.
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections
Not applicable.
PART III
Items 10-14.
Within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year, the Company intends to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission a definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which will include the matters required by these items and is incorporated herein by reference.
PART IV
93

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(1)Financial Statement Schedules: All schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not material or the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
(2)Exhibits: The following is a complete list of exhibits included as part of this report, including those incorporated by reference. A list of those documents filed with this report is set forth on the Exhibit Index appearing elsewhere in this report and is incorporated by reference.

|  | Incorporated by Reference |
Exhibit |  |  | SEC File |  |  | Filed/ Furnished
No. | Exhibit Description | Form | Number | Exhibit | Filing Date | Herewith
2.1 | Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of July 5, 2023, by and among Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., New Boost Holdco, LLC, GTCR W Aggregator LP, GTCR W Merger Sub LLC and GTCR W-2 Merger Sub LLC. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 2.1 | 7/11/2023 |
2.2 | Amendment No. 1 to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of January 30, 2024, by and among Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., New Boost Holdco, LLC, GTCR W Aggregator LP, GTCR W Merger Sub LLC, and GTCR W-2 Merger Sub LLC. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 2.2 | 2/1/2024 |
3.1 | Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 3.1 | 2/6/2006 |
3.2 | Amendment To Articles of Incorporation of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. | 10-K | 001-16427 | 3.2 | 2/26/2013 |
3.3 | Amendment To Articles of Incorporation of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. | 10-Q | 001-16427 | 3.1 | 8/7/2014 |
3.4 | Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., Effective as of July 31, 2019. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 3.1 | 7/31/2019 |
3.5 | Fifth Amended and Restated Bylaws of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 3.1 | 4/22/2022 |
4.1 | Form of certificate representing Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. Common Stock. | S-3ASR | 333-131593 | 4.3 | 2/6/2006 |
4.2 | Indenture, dated as of April 15, 2013, among FIS, the Guarantors and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.1 | 4/15/2013 |
4.3 | Eleventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 16, 2016 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.3 | 8/16/2016 |
4.4 | Thirteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 10, 2017 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.2 | 7/11/2017 |

94

|  | Incorporated by Reference |
Exhibit |  |  | SEC File |  |  | Filed/ Furnished
No. | Exhibit Description | Form | Number | Exhibit | Filing Date | Herewith
4.5 | Fifteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 16, 2018 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.1 | 5/16/2018 |
4.6 | Sixteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 16, 2018 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.2 | 5/16/2018 |
4.7 | Nineteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 21, 2019 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.3 | 5/21/2019 |
4.8 | Twentieth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 21, 2019 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.4 | 5/21/2019 |
4.9 | Twenty-First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 21, 2019 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.5 | 5/21/2019 |
4.10 | Twenty-Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 21, 2019 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.8 | 5/21/2019 |
4.11 | Twenty-Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 21, 2019 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.9 | 5/21/2019 |
4.12 | Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 3, 2019 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.2 | 12/3/2019 |
4.13 | Twenty-Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 3, 2019 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.3 | 12/3/2019 |
4.14 | Twenty-Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 3, 2019 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.4 | 12/3/2019 |

95

|  | Incorporated by Reference |
Exhibit |  |  | SEC File |  |  | Filed/ Furnished
No. | Exhibit Description | Form | Number | Exhibit | Filing Date | Herewith
4.15 | Thirty-First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 2, 2021 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.2 | 3/2/2021 |
4.16 | Thirty-Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 2, 2021 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.3 | 3/2/2021 |
4.17 | Thirty-Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 2, 2021 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.4 | 3/2/2021 |
4.18 | Thirty-Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 2, 2021 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.5 | 3/2/2021 |
4.19 | Thirty-Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 2, 2021 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.6 | 3/2/2021 |
4.20 | Thirty-Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 13, 2022 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.1 | 7/13/2022 |
4.21 | Thirty-Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 13, 2022 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.2 | 7/13/2022 |
4.22 | Thirty-Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 13, 2022 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.3 | 7/13/2022 |
4.23 | Thirty-Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 13, 2022 between FIS and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association as trustee. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 4.4 | 7/13/2022 |
4.24 | Description of the Company's Common Stock registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. | 10-K | 001-16427 | 4.25 | 2/20/2020 |
4.25 | Description of the Company's 1.100% Senior Notes due 2024 registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. | 10-K | 001-16427 | 4.27 | 2/27/2023 |

96

|  | Incorporated by Reference |
Exhibit |  |  | SEC File |  |  | Filed/ Furnished
No. | Exhibit Description | Form | Number | Exhibit | Filing Date | Herewith
4.26 | Description of the Company's 1.500% Senior Notes Due 2027, 2.000% Senior Notes Due 2030, 2.950% Senior Notes Due 2039 and 3.360% Senior Notes Due 2031 registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. |  |  |  |  | *
4.27 | Description of the Company's 0.625% Senior Notes Due 2025, 1.000% Senior Notes Due 2028 and 2.250% Senior Notes Due 2029, registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. | 10-K | 001-16427 | 4.29 | 2/27/2023 |
10.1 | Certegy Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan, effective as of June 15, 2001. (1) | 10-K405 | 001-16427 | 10.25 | 3/25/2002 |
10.2 | Grantor Trust Agreement, dated as of July 8, 2001, between Certegy Inc. and Wachovia Bank, N.A. (1) | 10-K405 | 001-16427 | 10.15 | 3/25/2002 |
10.3 | Grantor Trust Agreement, dated as of July 8, 2001 and amended and restated as of December 5, 2003, between Certegy Inc. and Wachovia Bank, N.A. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.15(a) | 2/17/2004 |
10.4 | Second Amendment Agreement, dated as of April 5, 2019, by and among Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., the financial institutions party thereto as lenders and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 10.1 | 4/11/2019 |
10.5 | Third Amendment and Joinder Agreement, dated as of May 29, 2019, by and among Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., the financial institutions party thereto as lenders and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 10.1 | 6/4/2019 |
10.6 | Fourth Amendment Agreement dated as of March 2, 2021 by and among Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., and JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A., as administrative agent. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 10.1 | 3/4/2021 |
10.7 | Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan, effective as of March 16, 2006. (1) | S-4/A | 333-135845 | Annex C | 9/19/2006 |
10.8 | Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. Annual Incentive Plan, effective as of October 23, 2006. (1) | S-4/A | 333-135845 | Annex D | 9/19/2006 |
10.9 |  | Employment Agreement, effective as of April 16, 2012, by and among Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., and Gregory G. Montana. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.81 | 2/26/2013 |
10.10 | Amendment to Employment Agreement, effective as of February 23, 2016 by and among Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., and Gregory G. Montana. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.43 | 2/26/2016 |

97

|  | Incorporated by Reference |
Exhibit |  |  | SEC File |  |  | Filed/ Furnished
No. | Exhibit Description | Form | Number | Exhibit | Filing Date | Herewith
10.11 | Employment Agreement, effective as of February 1, 2018 by and between Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. and Denise Williams. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.36 | 2/22/2018 |
10.12 | Terms and Conditions of Employment, effective as of April 2, 2018, by and among FIS Systems (U.K.) Limited. and Martin Boyd. (1) | 10-Q | 001-16427 | 10.4 | 8/6/2019 |
10.13 | Amendment to Terms and Conditions of Employment Agreement effective January 31, 2022 by and among FIS Capital Markets UK Limited, and Martin Boyd. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.29 | 2/23/2022 |
10.14 | Employment Agreement effective as of February 7, 2022, between Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., and Caroline Tsai. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.26 | 2/27/2023 |
10.15 | Employment Agreement effective as of December 16, 2013, between Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., and Ido Gileadi. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.27 | 2/27/2023 |
10.16 | Amendment to Employment Agreement effective as of January 31, 2022, between Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., and Ido Gileadi. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.28 | 2/27/2023 |
10.17 | Employment Agreement effective as of June 1, 2015, between Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. and Erik Hoag. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.29 | 2/27/2023 |
10.18 | Amendment to Employment Agreement effective as of January 31, 2022, between Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., and Erik Hoag. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.30 | 2/27/2023 |
10.19 | Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Award under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made in 2016. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.62 | 2/23/2017 |
10.20 | Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Grant for Directors under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made in 2017. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.47 | 2/21/2019 |
10.21 | Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Grant for Employees under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made in 2017. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.49 | 2/21/2019 |
10.22 | Form of Stock Option Grant for Employees under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made in 2018. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.51 | 2/21/2019 |

98

|  | Incorporated by Reference |
Exhibit |  |  | SEC File |  |  | Filed/ Furnished
No. | Exhibit Description | Form | Number | Exhibit | Filing Date | Herewith
10.23 | Seventh Amendment and Restatement Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2018, by and among Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., each lender party thereto and JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 10.1 | 9/24/2018 |
10.24 | Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective May 30, 2018. (1) | DEF 14A | 001-16427 | Annex A | 4/20/2018 |
10.25 | Amendment to Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan. (1) | 10-Q | 001-16427 | 10.2 | 10/29/2020 |
10.26 | Form of Stock Option Grant under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made in March 2019. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.43 | 2/20/2020 |
10.27 | Form of Stock Option Grant for United States Employees under Worldpay, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for grants made in 2019. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.51 | 2/20/2020 |
10.28 | Form of Stock Option Grant for United Kingdom Employees under Worldpay, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for grants made in 2019. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.52 | 2/20/2020 |
10.29 | Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award for United Kingdom Employees under Worldpay, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for grants made in 2019. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.53 | 2/20/2020 |
10.30 | Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Option Agreement under the Worldpay, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for grants made in 2013 through 2017. (1) | 10-Q | 001-35462 | 10.1 | 5/6/2013 |
10.31 | Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Award Agreement for U.S. Employees under the Worldpay, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for grants made in 2018 and 2019. (1) | 10-K | 001-35462 | 10.16.14 | 2/28/2018 |
10.32 | Worldpay, Inc.2012 Equity Incentive Plan. (1) | 10-K | 001-35462 | 10.40 | 2/28/2018 |
10.33 | Form of Deferred Restricted Stock Unit Grant to Director under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made in May 2020. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.63 | 2/18/2021 |
10.34 | Form of Performance Stock Unit Grant under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made in March 2020. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.64 | 2/18/2021 |

99

|  | Incorporated by Reference |
Exhibit |  |  | SEC File |  |  | Filed/ Furnished
No. | Exhibit Description | Form | Number | Exhibit | Filing Date | Herewith
10.35 | Form of Stock Option Grant under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made in March 2020. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.65 | 2/18/2021 |
10.36 | Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made in March 2020. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.66 | 2/18/2021 |
10.37 | Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant to Director under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made in May 2020. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.67 | 2/18/2021 |
10.38 | Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. Qualified Retirement Equity Program effective January 1, 2021. (1) | 10-Q | 001-16427 | 10.1 | 5/6/2021 |
10.39 | Form of Stock Option Grant under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made beginning in March 2021. (1) | 10-Q | 001-16427 | 10.2 | 5/6/2021 |
10.40 | Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made beginning in March 2021. (1) | 10-Q | 001-16427 | 10.3 | 5/6/2021 |
10.41 | Form of Performance Stock Unit Grant under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. amended and restated 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made beginning in March 2021. (1) | 10-Q | 001-16427 | 10.4 | 5/6/2021 |
10.42 | Employment Agreement, effective as of June 1, 2021, by and between Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., and Thomas K. Warren.(1) | 10-Q | 001-16427 | 10.1 | 8/3/2021 |
10.43 | Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of October 17, 2022 between Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., and Stephanie Ferris.(1) | 10-Q | 001-16427 | 10.2 | 11/4/2022 |
10.44 | Cooperation Agreement dated as of December 14, 2022, between Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. and D.E. Shaw. | 8-K | 001-16427 | 10.1 | 12/15/2022 |
10.45 | Amendment to Employment Agreement effective as of January 31, 2022, between Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., and Denise Williams. (1) | 10-K | 001-16427 | 10.78 | 2/27/2023 |

100

|  | Incorporated by Reference |
Exhibit |  |  | SEC File |  |  | Filed/ Furnished
No. | Exhibit Description | Form | Number | Exhibit | Filing Date | Herewith
10.46 | Employment Agreement, by and between Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. and James Kehoe. (1) | 8-K | 001-16427 | 10.1 | 8/22/2023 |
10.47 | Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan, effective May 25, 2022. (1) | DEF 14A | 001-16427 | Annex B | 4/15/2022 |
10.48 | Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan. (1) | DEF 14A | 001-16427 | Annex A | 4/15/2022 |
10.49 | Form of Stock Option Grant under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made beginning in March 2023. (1) | 10-Q | 001-16427 | 10.1 | 5/2/2023 |
10.50 | Form of Performance Stock Unit Grant under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made beginning in March 2023. (1) | 10-Q | 001-16427 | 10.2 | 5/2/2023 |
10.51 | Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant under Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan for grants made beginning in March 2023. (1) | 10-Q | 001-16427 | 10.3 | 5/2/2023 |
10.52 | Limited Consulting Services Engagement Agreement between Lucido Advisory Services, LLC and Fidelity Information Services, LLC, effective March 1, 2024. (1) | 8-K | 001-16427 | 10.2 | 2/23/2024 |
10.53 | Second Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Fidelity National Information Services, Inc, and Erik Hoag, effective as of January 1, 2024. (1) | 8-K | 001-16427 | 10.1 | 2/23/2024 |
21.1 | Subsidiaries of the Registrant. |  |  |  |  | *
23.1 | Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG LLP). |  |  |  |  | *
31.1 | Certification of Stephanie Ferris, Chief Executive Officer of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. |  |  |  |  | *
31.2 | Certification of James Kehoe, Chief Financial Officer of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. |  |  |  |  | *

101

|  | Incorporated by Reference |
Exhibit |  |  | SEC File |  |  | Filed/ Furnished
No. | Exhibit Description | Form | Number | Exhibit | Filing Date | Herewith
32.1 | Certification of Stephanie Ferris, Chief Executive Officer of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. |  |  |  |  | *
32.2 | Certification of James Kehoe, Chief Financial Officer of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. |  |  |  |  | *
97 | Excess Incentive Compensation Clawback Policy. |  |  |  |  | *
101.INS | XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tages are embedded within the Inline XBRL document. |  |  |  |  | *
101.SCH | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. |  |  |  |  | *
101.CAL | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. |  |  |  |  | *
101.DEF | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. |  |  |  |  | *
101.LAB | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. |  |  |  |  | *
101.PRE | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. |  |  |  |  | *
104 |  | Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit (101). |  |  |  |  | *

(1) Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
*Filed or furnished herewith
+ Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
102

Table of Contents
SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

|  | FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION SERVICES, INC.
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Stephanie Ferris
|  |  | Stephanie Ferris
|  |  | President and Chief Executive Officer

103

Table of Contents
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ James Kehoe
|  |  | James Kehoe
|  |  | Chief Financial Officer
|  |  | (Principal Financial Officer)
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Christopher Thompson
|  |  | Christopher Thompson
|  |  | Chief Accounting Officer
|  |  | (Principal Accounting Officer)
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Stephanie Ferris
|  |  | Stephanie Ferris
|  |  | President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Jeffrey A. Goldstein
|  |  | Jeffrey A. Goldstein
|  |  | Chairman of the Board
|  |  | Director
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Lee Adrean
|  |  | Lee Adrean
|  |  | Director
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Ellen R. Alemany
|  |  | Ellen R. Alemany
|  |  | Director
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Mark D. Benjamin
|  |  | Mark D. Benjamin
|  |  | Director
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Vijay D'Silva
|  |  | Vijay D'Silva
|  |  | Director
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Lisa A. Hook
|  |  | Lisa A. Hook
|  |  | Director
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Kenneth T. Lamneck
|  |  | Kenneth T. Lamneck
|  |  | Director

104

Table of Contents

Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Gary L. Lauer
|  |  | Gary L. Lauer
|  |  | Director
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Louise M. Parent
|  |  | Louise M. Parent
|  |  | Director
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ Brian T. Shea
|  |  | Brian T. Shea
|  |  | Director
Date: | February 26, 2024 | By: | /s/ James B. Stallings, Jr.
|  |  | James B. Stallings, Jr.
|  |  | Director

105